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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Ariba, Inc. (the "Company") refiled this Form 10-K as a Form 10-K/A for EDGAR purposes on
December 31, 2001 solely to correct a clerical error in which the Company's financial printer inadvertently filed
an incorrect version of the Company's Form 10-K on December 21, 2001.

PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The information in this report contains forward looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such
statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained
herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward looking statements. For example,
words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,”
“anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed
in the forward looking statement. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not
limited to, those discussed elsewhere in this report in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed
in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings including our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2001 filed with the SEC on August 14, 2001.

Overview

Ariba is a leading spend management software solutions provider. Ariba provides software, services and
network access to enable corporations to evaluate and manage the cash costs associated with running their
business (their “spend”). The Ariba Enterprise Spend Management solution is an integrated suite of applications
and services which provides customers with a single solution to analyze and manage their spend on items such as
commodities, raw materials, operating resources, services, temporary labor, travel, and maintenance, repair and
operations equipment. Our solution is designed to allow companies to streamline their existing procurement
processes and expand control over their spend by better leveraging their existing in-house domain expertise while
retaining their existing supplier relationships. Our products are designed to integrate with our customers’ existing
applications and infrastructure to enable them to more quickly realize savings.

The Ariba Enterprise Spend Management solution is designed to address three primary business needs: the
identification of savings opportunities, the realization of such savings, and the ability to sustain such savings
through ongoing purchasing compliance. The Ariba Enterprise Spend Management solution addresses these
needs through three component solutions: Ariba Analysis, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, and Ariba Procurement.

Ariba Analysis consists of services designed to allow our customers to analyze their aggregated spend
across all of their suppliers and purchase areas and to identify their greatest savings opportunities. Ariba
Enterprise Sourcing is a comprehensive product and services solution that enables companies to manage their
broad supplier interactions, from their initial “requests for information” or “requests for quotes” through their
final supplier selection. Ariba Procurement is a suite of applications, including our market Jeading Ariba Buyer
application, that enables compantes to manage their internal purchasing processes, supplier relationships and
supplier catalogs, and to ensure purchasing compliance across their entire organizations. Qur Ariba Supplier
Network provides scalable infrastructure to allow our customers to connect to and transact with their suppliers.
Ariba also offers a number of services to our customers, providing them with domain expertise to complement
their implementations of Ariba products. We sell our products and related services and currently market them in
25 countries in North America, Latin America, Europe, Australia and Asia, primarily through our direct sales

force and indirect sales channels.
Ariba was incorporated in Delaware in September 1996 and from that date through March 1997 was in the

development stage, conducting research and developing our initial products. Our principal executive offices are
located at 807 11th Ave., Sunnyvale, California 94089.




The Ariba Enterprise Spend Management Platform

The Ariba Enterprise Spend Management platform is a solution designed to help organizations manage their
spending activities, Qur targeted customers are large corporations and public sector institutions, whose large
spending power and distributed organization make them the most likely beneficiaries of our solutions. We
believe our solutions provide the following benefits to our customers:

Significantly Reduced Processing Costs and Increased Productivity. By automating the spend
management process, including the procurement and sourcing processes, our Ariba Procurement and Ariba
Enterprise Sourcing solutions allow organizations to achieve significant cost savings and productivity
enhancements. Ariba Procurement and Ariba Enterprise Sourcing enable an organization to streamline and
automate complex business processes. The Ariba Supplier Network allows customers to connect once to a
network with pre-integrated suppliers, supplier profiles and supplier content. These solutions also take advantage
of existing investments in financial, human resource and enterprise resource planning systems, thereby reducing
or eliminating the need to manually enter data into these systems. We believe this increased productivity allows
organizations to focus on other strategic activities, such as negotiating better discounts with preferred suppliers.

Substantially Reduced Costs of Goods and Services. The Ariba solution enables organizations to maximize
procurement economies of scale, lowering the overall costs of goods and services. Ariba Analysis enables our
customers to identify opportunities for cost savings. Ariba Procurement provides company-wide data analysis
and reporting tools on buying patterns. Ariba Enterprise Sourcing enables organizations to identify preferred
suppliers and negotiate more favorable contracts with them, and through integration with Ariba Buyer, enables
transactions to be automatically routed to these preferred suppliers. Moreover, our solutions are accessible on
every desktop, are easy to use and streamline the sourcing and procurement processes. These benefits typically
minimize unauthorized or noncompliant purchasing, further enabling organizations to take advantage of

negotiated discounts with suppliers.

Simultaneous Interaction with Multiple Enterprise Systems. Ariba’s solutions connect to, and work with,
leading finance, human resource management and enterprise resource planning systems from vendors such as
PeopleSoft, SAP and Oracle. In addition, they connect to and work with other legacy systems through adapters
that are sold as separate products. A single Ariba Buyer installation can connect with multiple enterprise
applications simultaneously through real-time or scheduled interfaces.

Increased Adoption as a Result of User-Friendly, Web-based Interfaces. Our products’ browser-based user
interfaces enable users throughout an organization to take full advantage of Ariba solutions from their desktops,
with minimal training. Wizards, sofiware that provides automated assistance, guide less-experienced users
through the business process, while an advanced user interface makes the system more productive for

experienced users.

Automation of Electronic Business Processes. Ariba’s solutions provide flexible workflow capabilities to
streamline and automate even the most complex or unusual business processes of large, multinational
organizations. This flexible workflow can be customized by the user for the unique processes of an organization
and can be tailored to respond to end-user input, system events or any extrinsic or intrinsic data in the

procurement cycle.

Integration with the Ariba Supplier Network. Ariba’s solutions allow organizations to automate commerce
transactions with suppliers over the Internet and through the Ariba Supplier Network. By adhering to open
standards, Ariba’s solutions provide a variety of methods for buyers to communicate electronically with supplier
organizations through the Ariba Supplier Network. Ariba Buyer also allows suppliers to take advantage of their
existing web-based catalogs to provide product information to buyers, while Ariba Enterprise Sourcing allows
suppliers to publish their capabilities in a database containing detailed descriptions of supplier capabilities,

products, and operations.




Ariba Products and Services

Our Ariba Enterprise Spend Management platform consists of three component solutions: Ariba Analysis,
Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, and Ariba Procurement. We provide our customers with access to the Ariba Supplier
Network, allowing them to connect to and transact with their suppliers. Through our Global Services Division,
we provide our customers implementation services using our Aribalive methodology, whereby our products are
installed, customized and integrated at our customer locations.

Ariba Analysis

Ariba Analysis currently consists of Ariba Benchmarking and Performance Management Services, a service
offering designed to enable our customers to maximize the value of their spend management strategy. In
addition, we are currently developing Ariba Analysis, a product designed to capture and analyze an
organization’s spending data. We currently expect to introduce the Ariba Analysis product during the first half of
calendar 2002. We may not be able to successfully introduce this application on a timely or cost-effective basis.

Ariba Analysis helps a company’s procurement manager analyze spend across the entire organization. With
visibility into historical spend, procurement managers are able to discover savings opportunities, new spending
patterns, and uncategorized or unauthorized spend. Savings opportunities are frequently identified through
supplier fragmentation and comparison against industry benchmark analysis.

Ariba Benchmarking and Performance Management services include pre-implementation, implementation,
and post-implementation services designed to increase our customers’ potential savings using Ariba products.
During the pre-sales process, Ariba Value Assessments are conducted to identify specific savings opportunities
based on each customer’s historical spending patterns. These assessments can enhance the value of each Ariba
product implementation by providing a baseline for recommended implementation and spend management
strategies. Finally, we conduct post-implementation reviews designed to provide our customers with a general or
industry-specific comparative ranking of the success of their spend management strategies and efforts, creating
the opportunity for changes in strategy to increase their realized savings.

Using Ariba Analysis, a company’s procurement group can focus on strategic activities such as creating
category plans and identifying savings opportunities. By providing clear data and analysis, Ariba Analysis helps
management identify and implement spend reduction programs.

Ariba Enterprise Sourcing

Ariba Enterprise Sourcing is designed to handle the typical business interactions between our customers and
their suppliers. The Ariba Enterprise Sourcing solution consists of Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, our enterprise-
based sourcing and supplier management product, and Ariba Event Support and Consulting services. The Ariba
Enterprise Sourcing product works in conjunction with Ariba Buyer to establish contracts based on sourcing
results. This integration helps to ensure ongoing compliance with favorable contract terms negotiated during the
sourcing process. In addition, the Ariba Contracts product, which is expected to be made generally available
during the first half of calendar 2002, is designed to handle the creation and management of supplier contracts
and the management of purchases against the terms of those contracts. We may not be able to successfully

introduce this application on a timely or cost-effective basis.

We believe Ariba Enterprise Sourcing is the first solution on the market specifically designed to be
deployed on an enterprise-wide basis to help businesses better manage spend through more effective sourcing.
The Ariba Enterprise Sourcing solution helps streamline and automate the entire sourcing process, from a
customer’s definition and aggregation of spending requirements to supplier management, negotiation, and
establishment of optimal contracts with suppliers. Ariba Sourcing supports the sharing of documents between a
buyer and its suppliers, public or private question and answer sessions between a buyer and its suppliers, and




online negotiation. These features reduce the sourcing workload, reduce sourcing cycle time and provide an audit
trail. Ariba Enterprise Sourcing can be deployed as a hosted or an installed application.

Ariba Enterprise Sourcing helps our customers to:

Define and Aggregate their Buying Needs. Our customers can define their buying needs using our step-by-
step RFxBuilder™. RFx is a term that describes all of the sourcing processes supported by Ariba Enterprise
Sourcing, including requests for information, requests for proposals, requests for quotes, and negotiation-based
events. The RFx processes provide our customers with the ability to obtain competitive quotes while complying
with their internal procurement policies.

Manage their Supplier Relationships and Interactions. Our customers can search for and capture the
information they need about their suppliers. Suppliers can in turn collaborate with our customers to communicate
their capabilities through the multi-stage RFx process and addmonal messaging functionality within the Ariba

Enterprise Sourcing product.

Improve their Sourcing Processes. Our customers can automate and manage all the stages of the sourcing
process, from requests for information through final negotiations. Our customers use the customizable RFx
templates to communicate detailed requirements to suppliers. Ariba Sourcing’s bid-scoring and optimization
features help our customers establish a supplier base optimally suited to their needs, while reducing their

purchasing costs.

Establish and Execute Supplier Contracts. The integration of Ariba Enterprise Sourcing with Ariba Buyer
enables our customers to more easily transfer data into systems that drive procurement execution and
compliance, so that our customers’ purchases will be made via negotiated prices with selected suppliers. Ariba
Enterprise Sourcing works with Ariba Buyer to allow users to establish purchase requisitions or master purchase

agreements.

Ariba’s Event Support and Consulting services are designed to help our customers realize the benefits of
their sourcing strategy rapidly. These services provide our customers with commodity and domain expertise to
assist in managing their internal sourcing activities. Ariba Event Support Services offer customers assistance in
event management and support throughout the RFx lifecycle. These services are provided by our experienced in-

house sourcing specialists.

Ariba Procurement

Ariba Procurement is a suite of applications that enables companies to manage their internal purchasing
processes, supplier relationships and supplier catalogs, and to promote purchasing compliance across their entire
organizations. Ariba Procurement consists of our market leading Ariba Buyer application, as well as Ariba
Workforce, Ariba Travel and Expense and Ariba eForms. In addition, Ariba Invoice and Ariba Contracts, which
we expect to introduce in the first half of calendar 2002, are designed to streamhne and optimize invoicing and
reconciliation and contract creation, respectively.

Ariba Buyer. Ariba Buyer is the cornerstone application of the Ariba Procurement solution. It is a robust,
scalable and reliable application that enables organizations to reduce processing costs, improve productivity and
achieve compliance on enterprise-wide contracts by automating the procurement cycle, linking end-users
throughout the organization with approvers, and linking the procurement application to back-end financial,
purchasing and human resource systems.

Through Ariba Buyer, our customers are able to achieve cost savings by reducing transaction expenses,

decreasing cycle times, and leveraging existing supplier relationships. The compliance mechanisms provided by
Ariba Buyer allow our customers to achieve these savings. Ariba Buyer allows customers to attain global user
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and supplier adoption, enforce compliance, and measure progress. It also allows customers to automate
commerce transactions securely with suppliers on the Internet through the Ariba Supplier Network. Ariba Buyer
works with multiple enterprise systems simultaneously, in addition to providing electronic access to important
procurement information, such as supplier product information, price lists, web sites and order status.

Ariba Workforce. Released in October 2001, Ariba Workforce helps companies facilitate the complex
process of procuring and managing temporary workers, contractors and consultants. Ariba Workforce provides a
single, comprehensive system for companies to gain visibility into and control over their workforce procurement
and management lifecycle. In particular, Ariba Workforce enables organizations to: increase usage of preferred
suppliers and benefit from discounted supplier contracts; minimize billing inaccuracies through automated and
collaborative management of bill tracking, change order, service delivery, and volume discount processes with
suppliers online; and collaborate online with multiple suppliers and contractors to exchange and gather complex
information and increase process efficiencies. We license the core technology for our Ariba Workforce product
from our partner Cascadeworks. Ariba Workforce integrates with Ariba Buyer and can be accessed by our

customers’ users from their desktops.

Ariba Travel and Expense. Ariba Travel and Expense is designed as an easy-to-use web-based application
for corporate travel and expense management. The application automates manual processes facilitating most
phases of company travel, including approvals, expense reports, data analysis and reporting. We believe
automation of travel and expense processes increases expense policy compliance, decreases administrative costs,
and reduces cycle times. Ariba Travel and Expense provides a robust set of features to generate expense reports
automatically from travel card or procurement card data feeds and can route expense reports to functional, travel

and €xXpense managers.

Ariba eForms. Ariba eForms allows organizations to automate non-standard business processes outside of
the core requisitioning process. Users are able to attach custom forms to existing Ariba applications or create new
applications for nearly any type of operating resource request. Ariba eForms are created using XML (eXtensible
Markup Language), a robust definition language that allows organizations to design forms that capture
information from end-users and route the information for internal approval. Each Ariba eForm can have its own
approval rules and can incorporate standard data from Ariba Buyer, including financial accounting and human

resources information.

Ariba Contracts. Ariba Contracts is a web-based application designed to help purchasing organizations
manage the contracts process. Ariba Contracts is designed to reduce the inefficiencies traditionally associated
with the negotiation, creation, compliance and management of purchase contracts. We believe Ariba Contracts
will allow companies to: accelerate the contract renewal and negotiation process; improve compliance with
contracted pricing; and gain visibility into their contract activities and performance. Ariba Contracts is expected
to be introduced in the first half of calendar 2002.

Ariba Invoice. Ariba Invoice is an enterprise solution for streamlining and optimizing invoicing and
reconciliation. We believe Ariba Invoice will allow our customers to gain more control of the invoice processing
cycle; automate data entry, matching, and exception resolution processes; foster stronger partner relationships
with more prompt and accurate handling of invoices; and centralize invoicing data. Ariba Invoice is designed to
decrease the traditional cost of invoice reconciliation, exception handling, and supplier communication, while
improving the efficiency of the payment process. Ariba Invoice is expected to be made available for general
release in the first half of calendar 2002.

We may not be able to successfully develop and introduce Ariba Contracts and Ariba Invoice on a timely
and cost-effective basis.




Ariba Enterprise Adaptors

Ariba enterprise adapters are designed specifically to integrate Ariba products with leading enterprise
resource planning (ERP) systems for data and transactions related to accounting, human resource management
and purchasing. Integration refers to the ability of Ariba adapters to exchange information with an organization’s
enterprise systems, eliminating the need for manual transfer of critical information from Ariba products to these
systems. Ariba enterprise adapters can integrate with standard implementations of these systems or can be
configured to integrate with custom installations of these enterprise systems. These adapters enable a single
Ariba product installation to integrate with multiple enterprise applications simultaneously.

We currently offer the following adapters:

Ariba SAP Adapter. Ariba SAP Adapter provides integration with SAP applications through standard
programming interfaces and pre-built adapters for financial, purchasing and human resources information.

Ariba PeopleSoft Adapter. Ariba PeopleSoft Adapter allows integration with PeopleSoft applications
through standard programming interfaces and pre-built adapters for financial, human resources and purchasing

information.

Ariba Oracle Adapter.  Ariba Oracle Adapter allows integration with Oracle applications via general APIs
and pre-built adapters for financial and purchasing information.

Ariba Authentication Adapter. Ariba Authentication Adapter provides integration with standard user
authentication and directory services such as LDAP and Microsoft’s Active Directory.

Ariba Generic APl Adapter. Ariba Generic API Adapter provides integration with existing and legacy
enterprise systems to interface information with Ariba Buyer.

Customers who purchase our software products receive a capacity-based license. The license fee for a
capacity license is based on the customer’s employee count, and may in addition be based on the annual volume
of business document transactions on the Ariba Supplier Network.

Employee-based capacity licensing allows customers to scale the total cost of their Ariba Spend
Management system implementation to their needs. The business document capacity license enables customers to
utilize the licensed volume of business document transactions on the Ariba Supplier Network during each annual
license term period. Customers who exceed their estimated volume can purchase additional capacity.

The Ariba Supplier Network

The Ariba Supplier Network connects buyers and suppliers via the Internet and offers electronic payment,
catalog and content management, transaction routing and multi-protocol support for numerous electronic
commerce standards. Businesses can: search an open directory of trading partners, including over
26,000 suppliers worldwide; subscribe to and manage catalog content; and conduct transactions, including order
management and fulfillment, invoicing, and settlement. By using the Ariba Supplier Network, companies can
realize cost savings through greater process efficiencies, better employee and contract compliance, reduced

inventories and fair pricing opportunities.

Our multi-protocol network allows buyers to send transactions from Ariba Buyer in one standard format. It
then converts the order into the supplier’s preferred transaction format, such as cXML (Commerce eXtensible
Markup Language), a format used on the Internet to describe commerce data and documents, or EDI (Electronic
Data Interchange), a format used to exchange data and documents electronically. This feature gives suppliers the

freedom to transact in their preferred protocols.




The Ariba Supplier Network also allows suppliers to utilize their existing electronic commerce systems to
provide information about their products and services. Suppliers can send electronic catalogs through standard
formats such as CIF (Catalog Interchange Format), a format commonly used to transfer catalog information
electronically, and ¢XML. In addition, buyers can link to a supplier’s web site using a technology called ¢XML
PunchOut. ¢cXML PunchOut allows a buyer to select a product by accessing a supplier’s web site while keeping
the purchasing process within our Ariba Buyer system for internal approval, accounting and administrative
controls. This feature is particularly useful for suppliers with robust web sites, electronic product configuration
systems and large product catalogs. In addition, suppliers can utilize their existing investments in electronic
commerce systems, including catalogs and product web pages.

The key features of the Ariba Supplier Network are:

Open Standards Multi-Protocol Transaction Network. The Ariba Supplier Network automatically routes
and translates documents between buyers and suppliers using most major electronic commerce standards,
including ¢cXML; Internet EDI; VAN EDI (Value Added Networks for EDI); HTML (Hyper-Text Markup
Language), a format commonly used to define content for web pages; e-mail; auto-fax and CIF. This enables
buyers to conduct business with suppliers independent of the type of electronic commerce systems used by the

supplier.

Content Management. Ariba provides robust, flexible content tools and services to help suppliers easily
create, syndicate and manage comprehensive product and service information. From electronic-formatted
catalogs to complex content, Ariba and its partners empower suppliers to take control of their most important
asset (i.e., their product data) and reap the benefits of electronic commerce. Ariba Supplier Network allows
suppliers to take advantage of existing web-based catalogs through CIF, ¢cXML and ¢XML PunchOut.
Additionally, suppliers can lower commerce costs by publishing catalogs to multiple buyers and marketplaces
and receiving all of their orders through a single channel. With Ariba PunchOut, suppliers can reuse their
existing web infrastructure to provide the custom and dynamic content that most effectively meets customers’
needs, resulting in rapid return on investment. Buyers can then easily find and configure products without dealing

with large catalogs.

Supplier Self-management and Registration. To transact with all buying organizations using Ariba Buyer,
suppliers need to register just once and can continue to manage their relationships online, using their preferred
transaction routing method and configurations without the need for additional software.

News, Information and Services. The Ariba Supplier Network provides news, information and services of
interest to business buyers and suppliers such as sourcing, supplier, financial and industry information.

Strategic Relationships

We believe that strategic partnerships can assist us in gaining broader market acceptance as well as enhance
our marketing, sales and distribution capabilities. Accordingly, we have established strategic relationships with
organizations in five general categories: hardware platforms; software; network service providers; resellers and
hosting/application service provider (ASP) partners; and systems integrators.

Our hardware platform partners include Dell, Hewlett-Packard, IBM and Sun Microsystems. These
relationships help ensure the reliability, scalability and performance of the Ariba solution on these platforms. Our
software partners include BEA Systems, Cascadeworks (from whom we license the core technology for our
Ariba Workforce product), TIBCO, Altavista and Dash. These software partners offer technology that is integral
to our products and services. Our network service providers, such as American Express and Verisign, enrich

services offered by the Ariba Supplier Network.




We have reselling and hosting relationships with IBM, J.D. Edwards, Unisys, EDS, Core Harbor, Genuity,
Surebridge, US Internetworking, and Integris. We also have strategic relationships with Softbank in Japan and
Korea, and Telefonica to resell our products in Europe and Latin America

We have systems integrator relationships with IBM, Accenture, Arthur Andersen, Cap Gemini Emnst &
Young, Deloitte Consulting, KPMG Consulting and PricewaterhouseCoopers, as well as with over 100 regional
consulting firms. These partners implement our products and assist us with sales lead generation. We have
certified and trained consultants in these organizations for the implementation and operation of our products.

We rely, and expect to increasingly rely, on a number of third parties to implement, support and recommend
our products and services during the evaluation stage of a customer’s purchase process. If we are unable to
maintain or increase the number and quality of our relationships with providers that recommend, implement or
support goods and services management systems, our business will be seriously harmed. A number of our
competitors, including Oracle, SAP and PeopleSoft, have significantly more established relationships with such
providers and, as a result, these firms may be more likely to recommend competitors’ products and services
rather than our products and services. Furthermore, it is possible that our current implementation partners, many
of which have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we have, could begin
to market software products and services that compete with our products and services.

Sales and Implementation

We sell our software primarily through our worldwide direct sales organization. As of September 30, 2001,
our direct sales force consisted of 289 sales professionals and supporting personnel located in several domestic
locations and offices in North America, Europe, Asia, Australia and Latin America. Application specialists that
provide pre-sales support to potential customers on product information and deployment capabilities complement

our direct sales force.

During our sales process, we typically engage senior executive management teams including the chief
financial officer, chief procurement officer, chief information officer and chief executive officer of our potential
customers. We utilize sales teams consisting of both sales and technical professionals who work with our
strategic partners to create organization-specific proposals, presentations and demonstrations that address the
specific needs of each potential customer.

Ariba provides professional services to augment the implementation efforts of customers and systems
integrators. This organization provides professional services on the strategy, methodology and technical
implementation of the Ariba products.

Our strategic partners often work with us and participate in joint sales calls to several of our large accounts.
See “Strategic Relationships.”

Marketing

We focus our marketing efforts toward educating our target market, generating new sales opportunities, and
creating awareness for our spend management solutions. We conduct a variety of marketing programs worldwide
to educate our target market. We have engaged in marketing activities such as business seminars, trade shows,
press relations and industry analyst programs and advisory councils.

Our marketing organization also serves an integral role in acquiring, organizing and prioritizing customer
and industry feedback in order to help provide product direction to our development organizations. We
formalized this customer-driven approach by establishing advisory council meetings, made up of numerous
industry experts, to provide forums for discussing customer needs and requirements. In addition to providing
information to prospective customers, advisory council meetings provide a useful forum in which to share
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information, test product concepts and collect data on customer and industry needs, We have also augmented
advisory council meetings with a detailed product management process that surveys customer and market needs
to predict and prioritize future customer requirements. We intend to continue to pursue these programs in the

future.

Customer Service, Training and Support

We believe that customer satisfaction is essential for our long-term success and offer comprehensive
customer assistance programs. Our technical support provides response to and resolution of customer technical
inquiries and is available to clients by telephone, over the web or by electronic mail. We use a customer service
automation system to track each customer inquiry until it is resolved. Our education services group delivers
education and training to our clients and partners. We offer a comprehensive series of classes to provide the
knowledge and skills to successfully deploy, use and maintain our products and solutions. These courses focus on
the technical aspects of our products as well as real-world business issues and processes. All of our classes
include lecture, demonstration, discussion and hands-on use of our solutions. Classes are held regularly in our
training facilities at our headquarters in Sunnyvale, California and in London, United Kingdom.

Research and Development

We introduced our initial product, Ariba Buyer, in May 1997 and have released a number of product
enhancements in six subsequent major releases. We introduced Ariba Sourcing in August 2000, following our
acquisition of SupplierMarket. We began to operate the Ariba Supplier Network in April 1999 and continue to
provide enhancements to this Internet platform on an ongoing basis. Research and development expenses were
$90.9 million, $39.0 million and $11.6 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively. In addition, for fiscal year 2000, we recorded charges of $27.4 million for acquired in-process
research and development costs in connection with our acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and
SupplierMarket. In addition, for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, we recorded amortization of
acquired core technology of $2.8 million and $2.9 million, respectively in connection with these acquisitions.

Our research and development operations focus on Ariba Analysis, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, Ariba
Procurement and the Ariba Supplier Network. We currently anticipate introducing Ariba Analysis, Ariba Invoice
and Ariba Contracts in the first half of calendar 2002. Our research and development organization has several
teams that include server and infrastructure development, user interface and Internet application design, tools
development, enterprise integration, operations, quality assurance, documentation, release management and
advanced development. The Ariba Analysis, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, Ariba Procurement and Ariba Supplier
Network teams regularly share resources and collaborate on code development, quality assurance and

documentation.

We cannot be sure that existing and future development efforts will be completed within our anticipated
schedules or that, if completed, they will have the features or quality necessary to make them successful in the
marketplace. Further, despite testing by us and by current and potential customers, errors could be found in our
products. We may not be able to successfully correct these errors in a timely and cost-effective manner. If we are
unable to develop new products or enhancements to existing products or corrections on a timely and cost-
effective basis, or if these new products or enhancements do not have the features or quality necessary to make
them successful in the marketplace, our business will be seriously harmed.

We expect that most of our enhancements to existing and future products will be developed internally or
perhaps through acquisitions. However, we currently license certain externally-developed technologies and will
continue to evaluate externally-developed technologies to integrate with our solutions. These externally-
developed technologies, if suffering from defects, quality issues or the lack of product functionality required to
make our solutions successful in the marketplace, may seriously impact and harm our business.
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International Operations

The Company has established twenty subsidiaries, namely Ariba Holdings, Inc. in Cayman Islands, Ariba
Technologies Ireland Limited in Ireland, Ariba Canada, Inc. in Canada, Ariba UK. Limited in the United
Kingdom, Ariba Sweden AB in Sweden, Ariba Italia S.r.l. in Italy, Ariba Technologies Netherlands B.V. in the
Netherlands, Ariba Technologies India Private Limited in India, Ariba Iberia, S.L. in Spain, Ariba Latin
America, Inc. in Latin America, Ariba Argentina in Argentina, Ariba Brazil Limitada in Brazil, Ariba
Deutschland GmbH in Germany, Ariba Korea, Ltd. in Korea, Ariba France Sarl in France, Ariba (China) Limited
in Hong Kong, Ariba Australia Pty Lid in Australia, Ariba New Zealand in New Zealand, Ariba Switzerland
GmbH/Sarl/Lid liab Co. in Switzerland, Ariba Singapore Ltd. in Singapore and Nihon Ariba K.K. in Japan. All
of the subsidiaries are wholly-owned except our Japanese subsidiary, Nihon Ariba K.K., and our Korean
subsidiary, Ariba Korea, Ltd., in which Softbank and other strategic partners have purchased minority equity
interests. Revenue from our international customers was $106.8 million, $61.5 million and $6.7 million for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Competition

The market for our solutions is intensely competitive, evolving and subject to rapid technological change.
The intensity of competition has increased and is expected to further increase in the future. This increased
competition has resulted in price reductions and reduced gross margins and could result in loss of market share,
any one of which could seriously harm our business. Competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the
products and services offered. We compete with several major client server enterprise software manufacturers
including SAP, Oracle, and PeopleSoft. We have also encountered competition with respect to different aspects
of our solution from a variety of vendors including Commerce One, Peregrine and i2 Technologies. In the area of
sourcing software specifically, we compete with services companies such as FreeMarkets, as well as other
relatively small software companies. In addition, because spend management is a relatively new software
category, we expect additional competition from other established and emerging companies, as this market

continues to develop and expand.

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our market include a significant base of reference
customers, breadth and depth of solution, product quality and performance, customer service, core technology,
product features, ability to implement solutions and value of solutions, and size of vendor. Although we believe
that our solutions currently compete favorably with respect to these factors, our market is evolving rapidly. We
may not be able to maintain our competitive position against current and potential competitors, especially those
with significantly greater financial, marketing, service, support, technical and other resources.

Many of our competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater current and potential
financial, technical, marketing and other resources, significantly greater name recognition, and a larger installed
base of customers than us. In addition, many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our
current and potential customers and have extensive knowledge of our industry. In the past, we have lost potential
customers to competitors for various reasons, including lower prices and other incentives not matched by us. In
addition, current and potential competitors have established or may establish cooperative relationships among
themselves or with third parties to increase the ability of their products to address customer needs. Accordingly,
it is possible that new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant
market share. We also expect that competition will increase as a result of industry consolidations.

We may not be able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We depend on our ability to develop and maintain the proprietary aspects of our technology. To protect our
proprietary technology, we rely primarily on a combination of contractual provisions, confidentiality procedures,

trade secrets, and patent, copyright and trademark laws.
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We license rather than sell our software products and require our customers to enter into license agreements,
which impose restrictions on their ability to utilize the software. In addition, we seek to avoid disclosure of our
trade secrets through a number of means, including but not limited to, requiring those persons with access to our
proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements with us and restricting access to our source code.
We seek to protect our software, documentation and other written materials under trade secret and copyright
laws, which afford only limited protection. We cannot assure you that any of our proprietary rights with respect
to the Ariba Supplier Network will be viable or of value in the future since the validity, enforceability and type of
protection of proprietary rights in Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving.

We presently have one U.S patent issued and six U.S. patent applications pending. We also have filed patent
applications in other countries. It is possible that the patents that we have applied for, if issued, or our potential
future patents may be successfully challenged or that no patents will be issued from our pending patent
applications. It is also possible that we may not develop proprietary products or technologies that are patentable,
that any patent issued to us may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or that the patents of others will
seriously harm our ability to do business.

We rely on technology that we license from third parties, including software that is integrated with
internally developed software and used in our software products to perform key functions. For example, we
license reporting software from Actuate and integration software from TIBCO for Ariba Buyer. In addition, our
Ariba Workforce product consists of core technology we license from our partner, Cascadeworks. If we are
unable to continue to license any of this software on commercially reasonable terms, we will face delays in
releases of our software until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or developed, and integrated into
our current product. These delays, if they occur, could seriously harm our business.

Ariba and the Ariba logo are registered as trademarks in the United States. In addition, we have the
following trademarks registered in one or more foreign countries: Ariba, the Ariba logo and the Ariba
“boomerang” design. We also have filed applications to register these trademarks in several additional countries.
The above mentioned trademark applications are subject to review by the applicable governmental authority,

may be opposed by private parties, and may not issue.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our
products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our
products is difficult, and while we are unable to determine the extent to which piracy of our software products
exists, software piracy can be expected to be a persistent problem. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries
do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. Our means of
protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate and our competitors may independently develop similar
technology, duplicate our products or design around patents issued to us or our other intellectual property.

There has been a substantial amount of litigation in the software and Internet industries regarding
intellectual property rights. It is possible that in the future third parties may claim that we or our current or
potential future products infringe their intellectual property. We expect that software product developers and
providers of electronic commerce solutions will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of
products and competitors in our industry segment grows and the functionality of products in different industry
segments overlaps. Any claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, cause
product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Royalty or licensing
agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all, which could seriously harm our

business.

Acquisitions

In January 20, 2000, we acquired TradingDynamics, Inc. (“TradingDynamics”), a provider of Internet-based
trading applications. On March 8, 2000, we acquired Tradex Technologies, Inc. (“Tradex”), a provider of
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solutions for enabling online marketplaces and exchanges. On August 20, 2000, we acquired
SupplierMarket.com, Inc. (“SupplierMarket”), a provider of online collaborative sourcing technologies. See
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Overview and Note 5
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

Employees

As of September 30, 2001, we had a total of 1,124 employees, including 327 in research and development,
339 in sales and marketing, 317 in customer support, professional services and training, and 141 in
administration and finance. Of these employees, 838 were located in the United States and 286 were located
outside the United States. During fiscal 2001, we significantly reduced our workforce by approximately
1,100 employees to better align expenses and revenue levels. In addition, we have implemented a further
reduction of our worldwide workforce during the quarter ending December 31, 2001. None of our employees is
represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced any work stoppage. We consider our
relations with our employees to be good.

Our future operating results depend in significant part on the continued service of our key technical, sales
and senior management personnel, none of whom is bound by an employment agreement. Our future success also
depends on our continuing ability to attract and retain highly qualified technical, sales and senior management
personnel. Competition for these personnel is intense, and we may not be able to retain our key technical, sales
and senior management personnel or attract these personnel in the future. We have experienced difficulty in
recruiting qualified technical, sales and senior management personnel, and we expect to experience these
difficulties in the future. If we are unable to hire and retain qualified personnel in the future, this inability could

seriously harm our business.

Risk Factors

In addition to other information in this Form 10-K, the following risk factors should be carefully considered
in evaluating Ariba and its business because such factors currently may have a significant impact on Ariba’s
business, operating results and financial condition. As a result of the risk factors set forth below and elsewhere in
this Form 10-K, and the risks discussed in Ariba’s other Securities and Exchange Commission filings, actual
results could differ materially from those projected in any forward-looking statements.

We Have a Relativelv Limited Operating History and Have Made Several Recent Acquisitions. These Facts
Make it Difficult to Evaluate Our Future Prospects Based on Historical Operating Results.

We were founded in September 1996 and have a relatively limited operating history. Our limited operating
history makes an evaluation of our future prospects very difficult. We began shipping our first product, Ariba
Buyer, in June 1997 and began to operate the predecessor to the Ariba Supplier Network in April 1999. We
began shipping Ariba Dynamic Trade in February 2000, following our acquisition of Trading Dynamics, Ariba
Marketplace in March 2000, following our acquisition of Tradex, and Ariba Sourcing in August 2000, following
our acquisition of SupplierMarket. Ariba Dynamic Trade and Ariba Sourcing were subsequently incorporated
into Ariba Enterprise Sourcing. We will encounter risks and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in
new and rapidly evolving markets, including risks associated with our recent acquisitions. Many of these risks
are described in more detail in this “Risk Factors” section. We may not successfully address any of these risks. If
we do not successfully address these risks, our business will be seriously harmed.

The Market for Qur Products and Services is at an Early Stage. They May Not Achieve Widespread Market
Acceprance.

The market for spend management software applications and services is at an early stage of development.
Our success depends on a significant number of large buying organizations implementing our products and
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services. If our products and services do not achieve widespread market acceptance, our business will be
seriously harmed.

We Have a History of Losses and Expect to Incur Significant Additional Losses in the Future.

We had an accumulated deficit of approximately $3.5 billion as of September 30, 2001. We expect to incur
significant losses for the foreseeable future for a number of reasons, including the following:

» Revenues from products and services have declined in each of the last three quarters ended September 30,
2001 and are expected to decline further in the quarter ending December 31, 2001;

+ Although we have implemented a program to further reduce expense levels, we may not reduce expenses
to sufficient levels;

* We have significant cash commitments under noncancelable leases for excess office space. Net cash
commitments, related expense accruals and possible future restructuring charges will depend on the level

of sublease income we receive for this office space; and

« We will continue to incur substantial non-cash expenses resulting from amortization of goodwill and
other intangibles relating to acquisitions, deferred compensation and potentially the issuance of warrants.

As of September 30, 2001, we had unamortized goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately
$877.8 million and anticipate amortization of these costs on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives
ranging from two years to three years, subject to the effects of the new accounting pronouncement SFAS
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. As of September 30, 2001, we had deferred compensation of
approximately $33.0 million which is being amortized to expense over periods ranging from two to five years. As
a result of these intangible assets and deferred charges, we expect to incur significant losses at least through
fiscal 2006 and perhaps beyond, even if our results of operations excluding amortization of intangibles, deferred
charges and other special charges would otherwise be profitable.

Our Quarterly Operating Results Are Volatile and Difficult to Predict.

Our quarterly operating results have varied significantly in the past and will likely vary significantly in the
future. For example, our quarterly operating results for each of the three quarters ended September 30, 2001
declined significantly from our operating results for the prior quarter. We believe that period-to-period
comparisons of our results of operations are not meaningful and should not be relied upon as indicators of future

performance.

Our quarterly operating results have varied or may vary depending on a number of factors, including the
following:

Risks Related to Revenues

* fluctuations in demand for our products and services:

+ declines in the average selling price of our products;

« changes in the timing of sales of our products and services;

» changes in the mix of our products and services and related margins;

« changes in the mix of our licensing arrangements and related timing of revenue recognition;

+ actions taken by our competitors, including new product introductions and enhancements; and

« the current economic slowdown and recession affecting the economy generally or our industry in
particular.
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Risks Related to Expenses

« payment of compensation to sales personnel based on achieving sales quotas and co-sale payments,
referral fees and other commissions to our strategic partners based on our sales;

* royalties paid to third parties for technology incorporated into our products and services;
* our ability to control costs, including managing planned reductions in expense levels;
* costs resulting from the write off of intangible assets relating to recent and any future acquisitions; and

+ fluctuations in non-cash charges related to the issuance of warrants to purchase common stock due to
fluctuations in our stock price.

Risks Related to Operations

+ our ability to scale our network and operations to support large numbers of customers, suppliers and
transactions;

* our ability to develop, introduce and market new products and enhancements to our existing products on a
timely basis;
+ changes in our pricing policies and business model or those of our competitors; and

* integration of our recent acquisitions and any future acquisitions.

The Continuing Economic Slowdown, Particularly in Information Technology Spending, Will Adversely
Impact Our Business.

Our business has been adversely impacted by the economic slowdown, particularly the decline in
information technology spending. We expect the economic slowdown to continue to adversely impact our
business for at least the next quarter and perhaps longer and, as a result of the economic slowdown and other
factors, we anticipate that total license revenues in fiscal 2002 will decline compared to fiscal 2001. The adverse
impacts from the slowdown include longer sales cycles, lower average selling prices and reduced bookings and

revenues.

Our Success Depends on Retaining Our Current Key Personnel and Attracting Additional Key Personnel.

Our future performance depends on the continued service of our senior management, product development
and sales personnel, in particular Robert Calderoni, who was elected President and Chief Executive Officer in
October 2001. We do not carry key person life insurance. The loss of the services of one or more of our key
personnel could seriously harm our business. In addition, our success depends on our continuing ability to attract,
hire, train and retain a selected number of highly skilled managerial, technical, sales, marketing and customer
support personnel. Our ability to retain key employees may be harder, given recent adverse changes in our
business. In addition, new hires frequently require extensive training before they achieve desired levels of
productivity. Competition for qualified personnel is intense, and we may fail to retain our key employees or to

attract or retain other highly qualified personnel.

Our Revenues In Any Quarter Depend on a Relatively Small Number of Relatively Large Orders. We Have
Recently Experienced Lengthening Sales Cycles and Deferrals of a Number of Large Anticipated Orders.

Our quarterly revenues are especially subject to fluctuation because they depend on the sale of relatively
large orders for our products and related services. Many of these orders are realized at the end of the quarter. As
a result, our quarterly operating results, including average selling prices, may fluctuate significantly if we are
unable to complete one or more substantial sales in any given quarter. We have recently experienced lengthening
sales cycles and deferrals of a number of large anticipated orders which we believe have been affected by general

economic uncertainty.
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Revenues in Any Future Quarter May Be Adversely Affected to the Extent We Defer Recognizing Revenue from
Contracts Signed That Quarter.

We frequently enter into contracts where we recognize only a portion of the total revenue under the contract
in the quarter in which we enter into the contract. For example, we may recognize revenue on a ratable basis over
the life of the contract or enter into contracts where the recognition of revenue is conditioned upon delivery of
future product or service elements. As a result, revenues in any given quarter may vary to the extent we enter into
contracts where revenue under those contracts is recognized in future periods.

Our Acquisitions Will, and Any Future Acquisitions May, Require Us to Incur Significant Charges for
Intangible Assets.

Our recent acquisitions will, and any future acquisitions may, require us to incur significant charges for
goodwill and other intangible assets, which will negatively affect our operating income. As of September 30,
2001, we had an aggregate of $877.8 million of unamortized goodwill and other intangible assets, after giving
effect to the write off of $1.4 billion of goodwill and other intangible assets relating to our acquisition of Tradex
Technologies in the quarter ended March 31, 2001. The amortization of our remaining goodwill and other
intangible assets will result in significant additional charges to operations at least through the quarter ending

December 31, 2004.

A Decline in Revenues May Have a Disproportionate Impact on Operating Results And Require Further
Reductions in Qur Operating Expense Levels.

Because our expense levels are relatively fixed in the near term for a given quarter and are based in part on
expectations of our future revenues, any decline in our revenues to a level that is below our expectations would
have a disproportionately adverse impact on our operating results for that quarter. We incurred restructuring and
lease abandonment charges of $70.0 million and $63.5 million in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2001,
respectively, as a result of our workforce reductions and other actions in response to declines in revenue. We may
incur additional restructuring charges if we experience additional revenue declines.

In the Future, We May Need to Raise Additional Capital in Order to Remain Competitive in the Electronic
Commerce Industry. This Capital May Not Be Available on Acceptable Terms, If at All.

Although our existing cash, cash equivalent and investment balances are expected to decline further during
fiscal 2002, we believe that our existing balances together with our anticipated cash flow from operations will be
sufficient to meet our working capital and operating resource expenditure requirements for at least the next
12 months. Given the significant changes in our business and results of operations in fiscal 2001, the decline in
cash, cash equivalents and investments balances may be greater than presently anticipated. After fiscal 2002, we
may need to raise additional funds and we cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain additional financing on
favorable terms, if at all. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, if and when needed, we may not be able to
develop or enhance our products and services, take advantage of future opportunities, grow our business or
respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements, which could seriously harm our business.

Implementation of Our Products by Large Customers Is Complex, Time Consuming and Expensive.
We Frequently Experience Long Sales and Implementation Cycles.

Ariba Buyer, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing and our other products are enterprise-wide solutions that must be
deployed with many users within a buying organization. Implementation of these solutions by buying
organizations is complex, time consuming and expensive. In many cases, our customers must change established
business practices. In addition, they must generally consider a wide range of other issues before committing to
purchase our products and services, including product benefits, ease of installation, ability to work with existing
computer systems, ability to support a larger user base, reliability and return on investment. Furthermore, the
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purchase of our products is often discretionary and generally involves a significant commitment of capital and
other resources by a customer. It frequently takes several months to finalize a sale and requires approval at a
number of management levels within the customer organization. The implementation and deployment of our
products requires a significant commitment of resources by our customers and third-party and/or professional

services organizations.

We Expect to Depend on Ariba Buyer for a Substantial Portion of Our Business for the Foreseeable Future.
This Business Could Be Concentrated in a Relatively Small Number of Customers.

We anticipate that revenues from Ariba Buyer and related products and services will continue to constitute a
substantial portion of our revenues for the foreseeable future. For the year ended September 30, 2001, revenues
from Ariba Buyer and related products were more than a majority of our total revenues, even though we
experienced a decline in the average selling price of these products. Consequently, if we continue to experience
price declines or fail to achieve broad market acceptance of Ariba Buyer, our business would be seriously
harmed. In addition, for the year ended September 30, 2001, a relatively small number of customers accounted
for a substantial portion of revenues from sales of Ariba Buyer and related products. We may continue to derive a
significant portion of our revenues attributable to Ariba Buyer from a relatively small number of customers.

Electronic Commerce Networks, Including the Ariba Supplier Network, Are at an Early Stage of Development
and Market Acceptance.

We began operating the Ariba Supplier Network, formerly known as the Ariba Commerce Services
Network, in April 1999. Our business would be seriously harmed if the Ariba Supplier Network and other
electronic commerce purchasing networks do not achieve broad and timely market acceptance. Market
acceptance of these networks is subject to a number of significant risks. These risks include:

* resource management and procurement on the Internet is a new market;

+ our network may not be able to support large numbers of buyers and suppliers, and increases in the
number of buyers and suppliers may cause slower response times and other problems;

+ our need to enhance the interface between Ariba Buyer, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, our other Ariba
products and the Ariba Supplier Network;

» our need to significantly enhance the features and services of the Ariba Supplier Network to achieve
widespread commercial acceptance of our network; and

 our need to significantly expand our internal resources to support planned growth of the Ariba Supplier
Network.

If a Sufficient Number of Suppliers Do Not Join and Maintain Their Participation In the Ariba Supplier
Network, the Network Will Not Attract a Sufficient Number of Buyers and Other Sellers Required to Make the

Network Successful.

We depend on suppliers joining the Ariba Supplier Network. Any failure of suppliers to join the Ariba
Supplier Network in sufficient and increasing numbers, or of existing suppliers to maintain their participation in
the Ariba Supplier Network, would make the network less attractive to buyers and consequently other suppliers.
In order to provide buyers on the Ariba Supplier Network an organized method for accessing goods and services,
we rely on suppliers to maintain web-based product catalogs, indexing services (services that provide electronic
product indices) and other content aggregation tools (software tools that allow users to aggregate information
maintained in electronic format). Our inability to access and index these catalogs and services would result in our
customers having fewer products and services available to them through our solution, which would adversely
affect the perceived usefulness of the Ariba Supplier Network.
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We Relv on Third Parties to Expand, Manage and Maintain the Computer and Communications Equipment
and Software Needed for the Day-to-Day Operations of the Ariba Supplier Network.

We rely on several third parties to provide hardware, software and services required to expand, manage and
maintain the computer and communications equipment and software needed for the day-to-day operations of the
Ariba Supplier Network. Services provided by these parties include managing the Ariba Supplier Network web
server, maintaining communications lines and managing network data centers. We may not successfully obtain
these services on a timely and cost effective basis. For example, many of these third parties have experienced
significant outages in the past and could experience outages, delays and other difficulties due to system failures
unrelated to our systems. Any problems caused by these third parties could cause users of the Ariba Supplier
Network to perceive our network as functioning improperly and to use other methods to buy goods and services.

We Depend on Strategic Relationships with Qur Partners.

We have established strategic reselling, ASP and hosting relationships with certain outside companies.
These companies are entitled to resell to, and/or host our products for, their customers. These relationships are
new and this strategy is unproven. We cannot be assured that any of these resellers, ASP partners or hosting
partners, or those we may contract with in the future, will be able to resell our products to an adequate number of
customers. If our current or future strategic partners are not able to successfully resell our products, our business
could be seriously harmed. For example, we have formed a strategic alliance with IBM to market and sell
targeted solutions. We also have strategic relationships with Softbank, as a minority shareholder of our Japanese
and Korean subsidiaries, Nihon Ariba K.K. and Ariba Korea, Ltd. There is no guarantee that these alliances will
be successful in creating a larger market for our product offerings. If these alliances are not successful, our
business, operating results and financial position could be seriously harmed.

We Face Intense Competition From Many Participants in the Electronic Commerce Industry. If We Are
Unable to Compete Successfully, Our Business Will Be Seriously Harmed.

The market for our solutions is intensely competitive, evolving and subject to rapid technological change.
The intensity of competition has increased and is expected to further increase in the future. This increased
competition has resulted in price reductions and reduced gross margins, and could result in loss of market share,
any one of which could seriously harm our business. Competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the
products and services they offer. In addition, because spend management is a relatively new software category,
we expect additional competition from other established and emerging companies as this market continues to
expand. For example, third parties that currently help implement Ariba Buyer and our other products could begin
to market products and services that compete with our products and services. We could also face competition
from other companies who introduce Internet-based spend management solutions.

Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater
financial, technical, marketing and other resources, significantly greater name recognition and a larger instalied
base of customers than us. In addition, many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our
current and potential customers and have extensive knowledge of our industry. In the past, we have lost potential
customers to competitors for various reasons, including lower prices and incentives not matched by us. In
addition, current and potential competitors have established or may establish cooperative relationships among
themselves or with third parties to increase the ability of their products to address customer needs. Accordingly,
it is possible that new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant
market share. We also expect that competition will increase as a result of industry consolidations.

We may not be able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors.
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If We Fuail to Develop Our Products and Services in a Timely and Cost-Effective Basis, Our Business Will Be
Seriously Harmed.

We may fail to introduce or deliver new releases of our products or new potential offerings on a timely and
cost-effective basis, or at all, particularly given the expansion of our product offering as a result of our recent
acquisitions. The life cycles of our products are difficult to predict, because the market for our products is new
and characterized by rapid technological change, changing customer needs and evolving industry standards. In
developing new products and services, we may:

+ fail to develop and market products that respond to technological changes or evolving industry standards
in a timely or cost-effective manner;

* encounter products, capabilities or technologies developed by others that render our products and services
obsolete or noncompetitive or that shorten the life cycles of our existing products and services;

+ experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successful development, introduction and
marketing of these new products and services;

+ experience deferrals in orders in anticipation of new products or releases; or

+ fail to develop new products and services that adequately meet market requirements or achieve market
acceptance.

The introduction of Version 7.0 of Ariba Buyer was delayed significantly, and we have experienced delays
in the introduction of other products and releases in the past. If new releases of our products or potential new
products are delayed, we could experience a delay or loss of revenues and customer dissatisfaction.

Our Business Will Be Seriously Harmed If We Fail to Establish and Maintain Relationships With Third Parties
Thar Will Effectively Implement Ariba Buyer, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing and Our Other Products.

We rely on a number of third parties to implement Ariba Buyer, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing and our other
products at customer sites. These products are enterprise-wide solutions that must be deployed within the
customer’s organization. The implementation process is complex, time-consuming and expensive. We rely on
third parties such as IBM, Accenture, Arthur Andersen, Cap Gemini Ernst & Young, Deloitte Consulting,
KPMG Consulting and PricewaterhouseCoopers to implement our products, because we lack the internal
resources to implement our products at current and potential customer sites. If we are unable to establish
effective, long-term relationships with our implementation providers, or if they do not meet the needs or
expectations of their customers, our business would be seriously harmed. Our current implementation partners
are not contractually required to continue to help implement our products. As a result of the limited resources and
capacities of many third-party implementation providers, we may be unable to establish or maintain relationships
with third parties having sufficient resources to provide the necessary implementation services to support our
needs. If these resources are unavailable, we will be required to provide these services internally, which would
significantly limit our ability to meet our customers’ implementation needs. A number of our competitors,
including Oracle, SAP and PeopleSoft, have significantly more well-established relationships with these third
party systems integrators, and these systems integrators may be more likely to recommend competitors’ products
and services than our own. In addition, we cannot control the level and quality of service provided by our current

and future implementation partners.

Some of Our Customers are Small Emerging Growth Companies that May Represent Credit Risks.

Some of our customers include small emerging growth companies. Many of these companies have limited
operating histories, are operating at a loss and have limited access to capital. With the significant slowdown in
U.S. economic growth in the past year and uncertainty relating to the prospects for near-term U.S. economic
growth, some of these customers may represent a credit risk. If our customers experience financial difficulties or
fail to experience commercial success, we may have difficulty collecting on our accounts receivable.
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New Versions and Releases of Our Products May Contain Errors or Defects.

Ariba Buyer, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing and our other products are complex. They may contain undetected
errors or failures when first introduced or as new versions are released. This may result in loss of, or delay in,
market acceptance of our products. We have in the past discovered software errors in our new releases and new
products after their introduction. For example, in the past we discovered problems with respect to the ability of
software written in Java to scale to allow for large numbers of concurrent users of Ariba Buyer. We have
experienced delays in release, lost revenues and customer frustration during the periods required to correct these
errors. We may in the future discover errors and additional scalability limitations in new releases or new products

after the commencement of commercial shipments.

We Are the Target of Several Securities Class Action Complaints and are at Risk of Securities Class Action
Litigation, Which Could Result in Substantial Costs and Divert Management Attention and Resources.

Between March 20, 2001 and June 5, 2001, several purported shareholder class action complaints were filed
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against us, certain of our officers or
former officers and directors and two of the underwriters of our initial public offering. These actions purport to
be brought on behalf of purchasers of our common stock in the period from June 23, 1999, the date of our initial
public offering, to December 23, 1999 (in some cases, to December 5 or 6, 2000), and make certain claims under
the federal securities laws, including Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to our initial public offering. Specifically, among other things, these
actions allege the prospectus pursuant to which shares of common stock were sold in our initial public offering,
which was incorporated in a registration statement filed with the SEC, contained certain false and misleading
statements or omissions regarding the practices of our underwriters with respect to their allocation of shares of
common stock in our initial public offering to their customers and their receipt of commissions from those
customers related to such allocations, and that such statements and omissions caused our post-initial public
offering stock price to be artificially inflated. The actions seek compensatory damages in unspecified amounts as

well as other relief.

On June 26, 2001, these actions were consolidated into a single action bearing the title In re Ariba, Inc.
Securities Litigation, 01 CIV 2359. On August 9, 2001, that consolidated action was further consolidated before
a single judge with cases brought against over a hundred additional issuers and their underwriters that make
similar allegations regarding the initial public offerings of those issuers. The latter consolidation was for
purposes of pretrial motions and discovery only. We intend to defend against the complaints vigorously.
Securities class action litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and

resources, which could seriously harm our business.

We Could Be Subject to Potential Product Liability Claims and Third Party Liability Claims Related to Our
Products and Services or Products and Services Purchased Through the Ariba Supplier Network.

Our customers use our products and services to manage their goods and services procurement and other
business processes. Any errors, defects or other performance problems could result in financial or other damages
to our customers. A product liability claim brought against us, even if not successful, would likely be time
consuming and costly and could seriously harm our business. Although our customer license agreements
typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to product liability claims, existing or future laws or
unfavorable judicial decisions could negate these limitation of liability provisions.

The Ariba Supplier Network provides our customers with indices of products that can be purchased from
suppliers participating in the Ariba Supplier Network. The law relating to the liability of providers of listings of
products and services sold over the Internet for errors, defects or other performance problems with respect to
those products and services is currently unsettied. We do not pre-screen the types of products and services that
may be purchased through the Ariba Supplier Network. Some of these products and services could contain
performance or other problems. We may not successfully avoid civil or criminal liability for problems related to
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the products and services sold through the Ariba Supplier Network or other electronic networks using our market
maker applications. Any claims or litigation could still require expenditures in terms of management time and
other resources to defend ourselves. Liability of this sort could require us to implement measures to reduce our
exposure to this liability, which may require us, among other things, to expend substantial resources or to
discontinue certain product or service offerings or to take precautions to ensure that certain products and services
are not available through the Ariba Supplier Network or other electronic networks using our market maker

applications.

If the Protection of Our Intellectual Property Is Inadequate, Our Competitors May Gain Access to Our
Technology, and We May Lose Customers.

We depend on our ability to develop and maintain the proprietary rights of our technology. To protect our
proprietary technology, we rely primarily on a combination of contractual provisions, including customer
licenses that restrict use of our products, confidentiality agreements and procedures, and patent, copyright,
trademark and trade secret laws. We have only one issued patent and may not develop proprietary products that
are patentable. Despite our efforts, we may not be able to adequately protect our proprietary rights, and our
competitors may independently develop similar technology, duplicate our products or design around any patents
issued to us or our other intellectual property. This is particularly true because some foreign laws do not protect
proprietary rights to the same extent as do United States laws and, in the case of the Ariba Supplier Network,
because the validity, enforceability and type of protection of proprietary rights in Internet-related industries are

uncertain and evolving.

In the quarter ended March 31, 2000, we entered into an intellectuval property agreement with an
independent third party. This intellectual property agreement protects our products against any claims of
infringement regarding patents of this outside party that are currently issued, pending and are to be issued over
the three year period subsequent to the date of the agreement.

There has been a substantial amount of litigation in the software industry and the Internet industry regarding
intellectual property rights. We expect that software product developers and providers of electronic commerce
solutions will increasingly be subject to infringement claims, and third parties may claim that we or our current
or potential future products infringe their intellectual property. Any claims, with or without merit, could be time-
consuming, result in costly litigation, cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or
licensing agreements. Royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to
us or at all, which could seriously harm our business.

We must now, and may in the future have to, license or otherwise obtain access to intellectual property of
third parties. For example, we are currently dependent on developers’ licenses from enterprise resource planning,
database, human resource and other system software vendors in order to ensure compliance of our products with
their management systems. We may not be able to obtain any required third party intellectual property in the

future.

If We Do Not Effectively Manage Our Growth, Our Business Will be Harmed.

Even after giving effect to our recent workforce reductions, the scope of our operations and our workforce
has expanded significantly over a relatively short period. This expansion has placed a significant strain upon our
management systems and resources. If we are unable to manage our expanded operations, our business will be
seriously harmed. Our ability to compete effectively and to manage future expansion of our operations, if any,
will require us to continue to improve our financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures
on a timely basis, and expand, train and manage our employee workforce. We have implemented new systems to
manage our financial and human resources infrastructure. We may find that these systems and our personnel,
procedures and controls are inadequate to support our future operations.
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Our Business Is Susceptible to Numerous Risks Associated with International Operations.
We have committed and expect to continue to commit significant resources to our international sales and
marketing activities. We are subject to a number of risks associated with these activities. These risks generally

include:
* currency exchange rate fluctuations;
+ seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns;
+ unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
» tariffs, export controls and other trade barriers;

* longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficuities in collecting accounts receivable;

» difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

+ potentially adverse foreign tax consequences, including withholding in connection with the repatriation of
earnings;

+ the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws;

* the risks related to the recent global economic turbulence and adverse economic circumstances in Asia;
and

» political instability.

Our international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars and in foreign currencies. An increase in the value of
the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies could make our products more expensive and, therefore, potentially
less competitive in foreign markets. For international sales and expenditures denominated in foreign currencies,
we are subject to risks associated with currency fluctuations. We hedge risks associated with foreign currency
transactions in order to minimize the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on earnings. We
utilize forward contracts to hedge trade and intercompany receivables and payables. All hedge contracts are
marked to market through earnings every period. There can be no assurance that such hedging strategy will be
successful and that currency exchange rate fluctuations will not have a material adverse effect on our operating

results.

We May Be Unable to Complete Any Future Acquisitions. Our Business Could Be Adversely Affected as a
Result.

In the quarter ended March 31, 2000, we acquired TradingDynamics, a provider of Internet-based trading
applications, and Tradex Technologies, a provider of solutions for electronic marketplaces. In the quarter ended
September 30, 2000, we acquired SupplierMarket.com, a provider of online collaborative sourcing technologies.
We anticipate that it may be necessary or desirable to acquire additional businesses, products or technologies. If
we identify an appropriate acquisition candidate, we may not be able to negotiate the terms of the acquisition
successfully, finance the acquisition or integrate the acquired business, products or technologies into our existing
business and operations. For example, in the second quarter of fiscal 2001, we entered into, but subsequently
terminated, an agreement to acquire Agile Software Corporation. If our acquisition efforts are not successful, our

business could seriously be harmed.

Any Future Acquisitions May Dilute Qur Equity and Adversely Effect Qur Financial Position.

Any future acquisition in which the consideration consists of stock or other securities may significantly
dilute our equity. Any future acquisition in which the consideration consists of cash may require us to use a
substantial portion of our available cash. Financing for future acquisitions may not be available on favorable

terms, or at all.
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Our Acquisitions Are, and Any Future Acquisitions Will Be, Subject to a Number of Risks.

Our acquisitions are, and any future acquisitions will be, subject to a number of risks, including:

the diversion of management time and resources;

the difficulty of assimilating the operations and personnel of the acquired companies;

the potential disruption of our ongoing businesses;

the difficulty of incorporating acquired technology and rights into our products and services;
unanticipated expenses related to technology integration;

difficulties in maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies;

the impairment of relationships with employees and customers as a result of any integration of new
management personnel; and

potential unknown liabilities associated with acquired businesses.

Our Stock Price Is Highly Volatile.

Qur stock price has fluctuated dramatically. There is a significant risk that the market price of the common
stock will decrease in the future in response to any of the following factors, some of which are beyond our

control:

variations in our quarterly operating results;

announcements that our revenue or income are below analysts’ expectations;
changes in analysts’ estimates of our performance or industry performance;
general economic slowdowns;

changes in market valuations of similar companies;

sales of large blocks of our common stock;

announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint
ventures or capital commitments;

loss of a major customer or failure to complete significant license transactions;

additions or departures of key personnel; and

fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes, which are particularly common among highly volatile
securities of software and Internet-based companies.

We Disclose Pro Forma Financial Information.

We prepare and release quarterly unaudited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). We also disclose and discuss certain pro forma financial information
in the related earnings release and investor conference call. This pro forma financial information excludes certain
non-cash and special charges, consisting primarily of the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets,
impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and equity investments, business partner warrants, stock-based
compensation and restructuring and lease abandonment costs. We believe the disclosure of the pro forma
financial information helps investors more meaningfully evaluate the results of our ongoing operations.
However, we urge investors to carefully review the GAAP financial information included as part of our Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, or Annual Reports on Form 10-K, and our quarterly earnings releases and compare that
GAAP financial information with the pro forma financial results disclosed in our quarterly earnings releases and

investor calls.
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We Are at Risk of Further Securities Class Action Litigation Due to Our Stock Price Volatility.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following periods of
volatility in the market price of its securities. We have recently experienced significant volatility in the price of
our stock. We may in the future be the target of similar litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial
costs and divert management’s attention and resources, which could seriously harm our business.

We Have Implemented Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions That Could Make it More Difficult for a Third Party
to Acquire Us.

Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, including certain
anti-takeover provisions, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders.

We Depend on Increasing Use of the Internet and on the Growth of Electronic Commerce. If the Use of the
Internet and Electronic Commerce Do Not Grow as Anticipated, Our Business Will Be Seriously Harmed.

Our business depends on the increased acceptance and use of the Internet as a medium of commerce. Rapid
growth in the use of the Internet is a recent phenomenon. As a result, acceptance and use may not continue to
develop at historical rates and a sufficiently broad base of business customers may not adopt or continue to use
the Internet as a medium of commerce. Demand and market acceptance for recently introduced services and
products over the Internet are subject to a high level of uncertainty, and there exist a limited number of proven

services and products.

Our business would be seriously harmed if:
+ use of the Internet and other online services does not continue to increase or increases more slowly than
expected;

+ the technology underlying the Internet and other online services does not effectively support any
expansion that may occur; or

+ the Internet and other online services do not create a viable commercial marketplace, inhibiting the
development of electronic commerce and reducing the need for our products and services.

We Depend on the Acceptance of the Internet as a Commercial Marketplace, and This Acceptance May Not
Occur on a Timely Basis.

The Internet may not be accepted as a viable long-term commercial marketplace for a number of reasons.
These reasons include:

 potentially inadequate development of the necessary communication and computer network technology,
particularly if rapid growth of the Internet continues;

« delayed development of enabling technologies and performance improvements;
» delays in the development or adoption of new standards and protocols; and

+ increased governmental regulation.

Since our business depends on the increased acceptance and use of the Internet as a medium of commerce, if
the Internet is not accepted as a viable medium of commerce or if that acceptance takes place at a rate that is
slower than anticipated, our business would be harmed.

Security Risks and Concerns May Deter the Use of the Internet for Conducting Electronic Commerce.

A significant barrier to electronic commerce and communications is the secure transmission of confidential
information over public networks. Advances in computer capabilities, new innovations in the field of
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cryptography or other events or developments could result in compromises or breaches of our security systems or
those of other Web sites to protect proprietary information. If any well-publicized compromises of security were
to occur, it could have the effect of substantially reducing the use of the Web for commerce and communications.
Anyone who circumvents our security measures could misappropriate proprietary information or cause
interruptions in our services or operations. The Internet is a public network, and data is sent over this network
from many sources. In the past, computer viruses, software programs that disable or impair computers, have been
distributed and have rapidly spread over the Internet. Computer viruses could be introduced into our systems or
those of our customers or suppliers, which could disrupt the Ariba Supplier Network or make it inaccessible to
customers or suppliers. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against
the threat of security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by breaches. To the extent that our activities may
involve the storage and transmission of proprietary information, such as credit card numbers, security breaches
could expose us to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability. Our security measures may be inadequate to
prevent security breaches, and our business would be harmed if it does not prevent them.

Increasing Government Regulation Could Limit the Market for, or Impose Sales and Other Taxes on the Sale
of, Our Products and Services or on Products and Services Purchased Through the Ariba Supplier Network.

As Internet commerce evolves, we expect that federal, state or foreign agencies will adopt regulations
covering issues such as user privacy, pricing, content and quality of products and services. It is possible that
legislation could expose companies involved in electronic commerce to liability, which could limit the growth of
electronic commerce generally. Legislation could dampen the growth in Internet usage and decrease our
acceptance as a communications and commercial medium. If enacted, these laws, rules or regulations could limit
the market for our products and services.

- We do not collect sales or other similar taxes in respect of goods and services purchased through the Ariba
Supplier Network. However, one or more states may seek to impose sales tax collection obligations on out-of-
state companies like us that engage in or facilitate electronic commerce. A number of proposals have been made
at the state and local level that would impose additional taxes on the sale of goods and services over the Internet.
These proposals, if adopted, could substantially impair the growth of electronic commerce and could adversely
affect our opportunity to derive financial benefit from such activities. Moreover, a successful assertion by one or
more states or any foreign country that we should collect sales or other taxes on the exchange of goods and
services through the Ariba Supplier Network could seriously harm our business.

Legislation limiting the ability of the states to impose taxes on Internet-based transactions has been enacted
by the U.S. Congress. This legislation is presently set to expire on November 1, 2003. Failure to enact or renew
this legislation could allow various states to impose taxes on electronic commerce, and the imposition of these
taxes could seriously harm our business.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal sales, marketing, research, development, and administrative offices occupy approximately
278,000 square feet in a newly constructed 716,000 square foot, five building office park in Sunnyvale,
California which is our corporate headquarters. Our lease for the entire office park commenced January 25, 2001
and expires on January 24, 2013. We currently sublease one building of 175,100 square feet to a third party. This
sublease expires on July 31, 2007. Our regional offices are located in Tampa, Florida, Alpharetta, Georgia, Lisle,
Hlinois, Burlington, Massachusetts, Bridgewater, New Jersey and Dallas, Texas. These leases total approximately
168,700 square feet and expire at various dates between 2004 and 2007. We are in the process of subleasing
some of our surplus properties located in Sunnyvale and Mountain View, California, Tampa, Florida, Alpharetta,
Georgia, Lisle, Illinois, Burlington, Massachusetts, Florham Park, New Jersey, Dallas, Texas and Singapore for

the remaining lease terms.

Prior to moving to our new corporate headquarters, we leased 131,560 square feet in Mountain View,
California under a lease that expires October 31, 2006. We are currently subleasing 75,800 square feet of this
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facility to a third party under a sublease that expires May 31, 2003. We also leased 45,800 square feet in
Mountain View, California under a lease that expires April 30, 2003, and we are subleasing this entire facility to
a third party for the remaining lease term. We lJeased an additional 33,000 square feet in Sunnyvale, California
under a lease that expires on August 31, 2004. We are currently subleasing this facility to a third party for the
remaining lease term. Our North American sales and support offices leases are in the metropolitan areas of
Cleveland, Ohio, Dallas and Houston, Texas, Detroit, Michigan, Los Angeles, California, Minneapolis,
Minnesota, New York, New York, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Seattle, Washington, St. Louis, Missouri,
Washington D.C., and Montreal and Toronto, Canada. We also lease sales and support offices outside of North
America including locations in Australia, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Mexico, The
Netherlands, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland, Taiwan and the United Kingdom.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Between March 20, 2001 and June 5, 2001, several purported shareholder class action complaints were filed
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against us, certain of our officers or
former officers and directors and two of the underwriters of our initial public offering. These actions purport to
be brought on behalf of purchasers of our common stock in the period from June 23, 1999, the date of our initial
public offering, to December 23, 1999 (in some cases, to December 5 or 6, 2000), and make certain claims under
the federal securities laws, including Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to our initial public offering. Specifically, among other things, these
actions allege the prospectus pursuant to which shares of common stock were sold in our initial public offering,
which was incorporated in a registration statement filed with the SEC, contained certain false and misleading
statements or omissions regarding the practices of our underwriters with respect to their allocation of shares of
common stock in our initial public offering to their customers and their receipt of commissions from those
customers related to such allocations, and that such statements and omissions caused our post-initial public
offering stock price to be artificially inflated. The actions seek compensatory damages in unspecified amounts as

well as other relief.

On June 26, 2001, these actions were consolidated into a single action bearing the title In re Ariba, Inc.
Securities Litigation, 01 CIV 2359. On August 9, 2001, that consolidated action was further consolidated before
a single judge with cases brought against over a hundred additional issuers and their underwriters that make
similar allegations regarding the initial public offerings of those issuers. The latter consolidation was for
purposes of pretrial motions and discovery only. We intend to defend against the complaints vigorously.

We are also subject to various other claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of these matters is not
expected to have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We have accrued
for estimated losses in the accompanying financial statements for those matters where we believe that the
likelihood that a loss has occurred is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Although
management currently believes that the outcome of other outstanding legal proceedings, claims and litigation
involving us will not have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition,
litigation is inherently uncertain, and there can be no assurance that existing or future litigation will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations of financial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The executive officers of Ariba and their ages as of November 30, 2001 are as follows:

Name _A_ES Position(s)
Robert M. Calderoni ............. 42 President and Chief Executive Officer and a Director
James W. Frankola .............. 37 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
James W. Steele ................ 46 Executive Vice President of Worldwide Sales
Eileen McPartland (Basho) ........ 47 Executive Vice President of Solutions Development and Delivery
Michael Schmitt ................ 44  Executive Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer

Robert M. Calderoni has served as Ariba’s President and Chief Executive Officer and a Director since
QOctober 2001. From October 2001 to November 2001, Mr. Calderoni also served as Ariba’s Interim Chief
Financial Officer. From November 2000 to October 2001, Mr. Calderoni served as Ariba’s Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer. From November 1997 to November 2000, he was Chief Financial Officer
at Avery Dennison Corporation, a manufacturer of pressure-sensitive materials and office products. From June
1996 to November 1997, Mr. Calderoni was Senior Vice President of Finance at Apple Computer, Inc. Prior to
that time, Mr. Calderoni held various positions with IBM Storage Systems Division, most recently as Vice
President of Finance. Mr. Calderoni holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting and Finance from

Fordham University.

James W. Frankola has served as Ariba’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since
November 2001. From December 1997 to November 2001, Mr. Frankola held various positions with
Avery Dennison Corporation, a manufacturer of pressure-sensitive materials and office products, most recently
as Vice President of Finance and 1S, Fasson Roll Worldwide. From May 1995 to December 1997, Mr. Frankola
held various positions with IBM Storage Systems Division, most recently as Director of Financial Analysis.
Mr. Frankola holds a Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from Pennsylvania State University and a Master
of Business Administration from New York University.

Eileen McPartland (Basho) has served as Ariba’s Executive Vice President of Solutions Development and
Delivery since February 2000. From September 1998 to September 1999, Ms. McPartland was a partner at
Andersen Consulting, responsible for developing the strategic offerings and market direction for Enterprise
Business Solutions, a line of business comprised of more than 6,000 consultants. From July 1994 to August 1998,
Ms. Basho worked at SAP America, Inc., serving as Executive Vice President from January 1996 to August 1998
and responsible for SAP’s consulting business, worldwide partnering program and global accounts.
Ms. McPartland holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the Philadelphia Coliege of Textiles and Sciences.

James W. Steele has served as Ariba’s Executive Vice President of Worldwide Sales since February 2001.
From February 1996 to January 2001, Mr. Steele held various positions with IBM Corporation, most recently as
Vice President and General Manager, Western Area. Mr. Steele holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil

Engineering from Bucknell University.

Michael Schmitt has served as Ariba’s Executive Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer since
February 2001. From June 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Schmitt held various positions with J. D. Edwards, a business
software company, most recently as Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing. Mr. Schmitt holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Business Administration and Marketing from California Polytechnic State University, San Luis

Obispo.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Qur common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “ARBA.” Our initial public
offering of stock was June 23, 1999 at $5.75 per share. The price range per share in the table below reflects the
highest and lowest sale prices for our stock as reported by the Nasdaq Stock Market during the last two fiscal
years. Our present policy is to retain earnings, if any, to finance future growth. We have never paid cash
dividends and have no present intention to pay cash dividends. At November 30, 2001, there were approximately
1,861 stockholders of record and the closing price per share of our common stock was $4.28.

Price Range
Per Share
Three Months Ended: _H_lgh_ ﬂ_
September 30,2001 .. ....... ... .. $ 689 $ 142
June 30, 2001 . ... o e $ 969 $ 364
March 31,2001 ... . e e $ 5450 $ 7.13
December 31,2000 ... ... $141.50 $43.56
September 30,2000 ............... P $168.75 $91.13
June 30,2000 . . ... e $105.38 $50.00
March 31,2000 ... ... e $165.50 $75.06
December 31,1999 . .. ... e $ 91.50 3$36.87

The above information has been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock splits, each effected in the form of
a stock dividend to each stockholder, on November 16, 1999 and March 2, 2000.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” which are included elsewhere in this report. The
consolidated statements of operations data for each of the five years in the period ended September 30, 2001, and
the consolidated balance sheet data as of the years then ended, are derived from our audited consolidated

financial statements (in thousands, except per share data).

Year Ended September 30,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Total TEVENUES . . .o v vt v oo $ 408848 $279,039 $45372 § 8363 § 760
Gross profit (10ss) . .....co v $ 322,839 $231,520 $36559 $ 6,825 $ (180)
In-process research and development . . ........... $ — $ 27350 § — $§ — $ —
Restructuring and lease abandonment costs .. ...... $ 133582 § - & —- 5 — & —
Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and

equity investments . ........................ $ 1437572 § - 3% — 5 — & —
NEt1OSS « ottt et $(2,680,671) $(792,775) $(29,300) $(10,953) $(4,679)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted ............ $ (1096) § (4.10)0 $ (0.42) $ (0.48) $ (1.83)
Weighted average shares used in computing basic

and diluted net loss per share ...... e 244,614 193,417 70,064 23,048 2,558
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September 30,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments ......... $ 261,011 $ 334,191 $152,440 $ 13,932 $15,471
Working capital ........... ... ... . ... $ 57,608 $ 153,597 $ 58,988 $ 6,127 $13,685
Totalassets ..., $ 1,288,047 $3,815,878 $170,021 §$ 18,771 $16,800
Restructuring and lease abandonment costs ... ... $ 12,855 $ - 3% - 8 — $ —
Long-term obligations ....................... $ 106 $ 402 $ 781 § 647 $ 140
Minority INMETESt . oot v e et e e $ 15720 $ - % - % — & —
Accumulated deficit . .. ... ... .. ... ..., $(3,518,378) § (837,707) $(44,932) $(15,632) $(4.679)
Total stockholders” equity .................... $ 925918 $3,498,192 $122,183 $ 9,959 $14,517

See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of the determination of the
number of shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share. The Company has paid no cash dividends
during the five year period ended September 30, 2001. The above information has been restated to reflect the
two-for-one stock splits, each effected in the form of a stock dividend to each stockholder, on November 16,

1999 and March 2, 2000.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The information in this report contains forward looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such
statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained
herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward looking statements. For example,
woids such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,”
“anticipates,” “plans,” “‘expects,” “intends,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed
in the forward looking statement. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not
limited to, those discussed elsewhere in this report in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed
in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings including our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2001 filed with the SEC on August 14, 2001.

Overview

Ariba (referred to herein as “we”) provides software, services and network access to enable corporations to
evaluate and manage the cash costs associated with running their business (their “spend”). Our Ariba Enterprise
Spend Management solution is an integrated suite of applications and services which provides customers with a
single solution to analyze and manage their spend on items such as commodities, raw materials, operating
resources, services, temporary labor, travel, and maintenance, repair and operations equipment. Our solution is
designed to allow companies to streamline their existing procurement processes and expand control over their
spend by better leveraging their existing in-house domain expertise while retaining their existing supplier
relationships. We also offer access to our Ariba Supplier Network, which allows customers to contact suppliers
via the Internet and offers electronic payment, access to catalog information and the ability to route orders.

We were incorporated in Delaware in September 1996 and from that date through March 1997 were in the
development stage, conducting research and developing our initial products. In March 1997, we began selling our
products and related services and currently market them in the United States, Latin America, Europe, Canada,
Asia and Asia Pacific primarily through our direct sales force and to a lesser extent through indirect sales

channels.
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Our Ariba Enterprise Spend Management solution consists of three component solutions: Ariba Analysts,
Ariba Enterprise Sourcing and Ariba Procurement. Our primary software products in fiscal 2001 were Ariba
Buyer, Ariba Sourcing, Ariba Dynamic Trade and Ariba Marketplace. Ariba Enterprise Sourcing, which was
introduced in late fiscal 2001, is derived from Ariba Dynamic Trade and Ariba Sourcing, which are still available
as separate products. Ariba Sourcing and Ariba Marketplace are also available as hosted applications. Our
primary products in fiscal 2000 were Ariba Buyer and, to a lesser extent, Ariba Marketplace, and our primary

product in fiscal 1999 was Ariba Buyer.

Through September 30, 2001, our revenues have been principally derived from licenses of our products,
from ‘maintenance and support contracts and from the delivery of implementation, consulting and training
services. Customers who license Ariba Buyer and our other products also generally purchase maintenance
contracts which provide software updates and technical support over a stated term, which is usually a twelve-
month period. Customers may purchase implementation services from us, but we rely primarily on third-party
consulting organizations to deliver these services directly to our customers. We also offer fee-based training

services to our customers.

We license our products through our direct sales force and indirectly through resellers. Our license
agreements for such products do not provide for a right of return, and historically product returns have not been
significant. We do not recognize revenue for refundable fees or agreements with cancellation rights until such
rights to refund or cancellation have expired. Our products are either purchased under a perpetual license model
or under a time-based license model. Access to the Ariba Supplier Network, formerly known as the Ariba
Commerce Services Network, is available to all Ariba customers as part of their maintenance agreements. We do
not expect to generate significant revenues from offering access to our Ariba Supplier Network.

We recognize revenue on our software products in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9. We also adopted Staff Accounting
Bulletin (SAB) 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements in the first quarter of fiscal 2001. The
adoption of SAB 101 did not have did pot have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements. We
recognize revenue when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
delivery of the product has occurred; no significant obligations by us with regard to implementation remain; the
fee is fixed and determinable; and collectibility is probable. We consider all arrangements with payment terms
extending beyond one year to not be fixed and determinable, and revenue is recognized as payments become due
from the customer. If collectibility is not considered probable, revenue is recognized when the fee is collected.

SOP 97-2, as amended, generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple
elements to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair values of the elements. Revenue recognized
from multiple-element arrangements is allocated to undelivered elements of the arrangement, such as
maintenance and support services and professional services, based on the relative fair values of the elements
specific to us. Our determination of fair value of each element in multi-element arrangements is based on
vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE). We limit our assessment of VSOE for each element to either the
price charged when the same element is sold separately or the price established by management, having the
relevant authority to do so, for an element not yet sold separately.

If evidence of fair value of all undelivered elements exists but evidence does not exist for one or more
delivered elements, then revenue is recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair
value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as
revenue. Revenue allocated to maintenance and support is recognized ratably over the maintenance term
(typically one year) and revenue allocated to training and other service elements is recognized as the services are
performed. Revenue from hosted applications is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement. The
proportion of revenue recognized upon delivery may vary from quarter to quarter depending upon the relative
mix of hcensing arrangements and the availability of vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for

undelivered elements.
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Certain of our perpetual and time-based licenses include unspecified additional products and/or payment
terms that extend beyond twelve months. We recognize revenue from perpetnal and time-based licenses that
include unspecified additional software products ratably over the term of the arrangement. Revenue from those
contracts with extended payment terms is recognized at the lesser of amounts due and payable or the amount of
the arrangement fee that would have been recognized if the fee was fixed or determinable.

Arrangements that include consulting services are evaluated to determine whether those services are
essential to the functionality of other elements of the arrangement. When services are not considered essential,
the revenue allocable to the software services is recognized as the services are performed. If we provide
consulting services that are considered essential to the functionality of the software products, both the software
product revenue and service revenue are recognized in accordance with the provisions of SOP 81-1, Accounting
for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts. Such contracts typically consist
of implementation management services and are generally on a time and materials basis. These arrangements
occur infrequently as implementation of our products is typically managed by third party consultants.

Our customers include certain suppliers from whom, on occasion, we have purchased goods or services for
our operations at or about the same time we have licensed our software to these organizations. These transactions
are separately negotiated and recorded at terms we consider to be arm’s-length. During the year ended
September 30, 2001, we recognized an immaterial amount of software license revenues from such transactions.
We did not have any of these transactions in fiscal 2000 or fiscal 1999.

Accounts receivable include amounts due from customers for which revenue has been recognized. Deferred
revenue includes amounts received from customers for which revenue has not been recognized that generally
results from deferred maintenance and support, consulting or training services not yet rendered and license
revenue deferred until all requirements under SOP 97-2 are met. Deferred revenue is recognized upon delivery of
our product, as services are rendered, or as other requirements requiring deferral under SOP 97-2 are satisfied.

We have incurred significant losses since inception. As of September 30, 2001, we had an accumulated
deficit of $3.5 billion, including amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets totaling $941.5 million,
$34.0 million of business partner warrant expense which includes $17.7 million due to impairment of a business
partner warrant, amortization of stock-based compensation of $36.6 million, $133.6 million for restructuring and
lease abandonment costs, a $1.4 billion charge due to impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets and
$28.7 million due to impairment of equity investments recorded in fiscal 2001.

Included in our operating expenses is the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets. These
expenses are for the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets we have recorded in our acquisitions of
TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket and for the amortization of an intellectual property agreement we
have entered into with a third party. During the year ended September 30, 2000, we also had a charge related to
the purchase of in-process research and development related to the acquisitions. See subsection Accounting for
Acquisitions and Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

Also included in our operating expenses is the non-cash expense for business partner warrants. This
non-cash expense relates to warrants that have been earned or deemed probable of being earned by our business
partners. If and when it becomes probable that a business partner will earn any warrants, we recognize a non-cash
expense for these warrants. Business partner warrant expense also includes the impairment of an intangible asset
recorded in connection with a business partner warrant. See subsection Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and
Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

In connection with the granting of stock options to our employees, stock options.issued related to the
SupplierMarket acquisition and issuance of restricted common stock to certain senior executives, officers and
employees, we have recorded deferred stock-based compensation totaling approximately $187.1 million from
inception through September 30, 2001. Of this amount, $124.6 million related to the acquisition of

32




SupplierMarket. Deferred stock-based compensation is included as a component of stockholders’ equity and is
being amortized by charges to operations over the vesting period of the options and restricted stock, consistent
with the method described in Financial Accounting Standards Boards Interpretation No. 28 (FIN 28). During the
year ended September 30, 2001, we recorded $36.6 million of related stock-based compensation amortization
expense. As of September 30, 2001, we had an aggregate of approximately $33.0 million of related deferred
stock-based compensation remaining to be amortized. The amortization of the remaining deferred stock-based
compensation will result in additional charges to operations through fiscal 2006. The amortization of stock-based
compensation is presented as a separate component of operating expenses in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2001, we initiated a restructuring program to conform our expense and revenue
levels to better our position for growth and profitability. As part of this program, we restructured our worldwide
operations including a reduction in workforce of approximately 1,100 individuals and the consolidation of our
operating facilities. The restructuring resulted in a charge for the year ended September 30, 2001 of
$133.6 million which includes severance and benefits charges, lease abandonment costs and leasehold
impairment charges. Total lease abandonment costs of $116.1 million include the impairment of leasehold
improvements related to abandoned leased facilities totaling $66.6 million. For the year ended September 30,
2001, total charges for severance and benefits amounted to $17.5 million, of which $16.6 million has been paid
or used by fiscal year end. As of September 30, 2001, our restructuring accrual of $31.2 million, consisting of
severance and benefits and consolidation of our operating facilities, is expected to be utilized by 2013. Actual
future cash requirements may differ materially from the accrual at September 30, 2001, particularly if actual
sublease income is significantly different from current estimates. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information.

We had 1,124 full-time employees as of September 30, 2001 which represents a reduction of approximately
33% from September 30, 2000. In addition, we implemented a further reduction of our worldwide workforce
during the quarter ending December 31, 2001. Our recent restructurings have placed significant demands on our
management and operational resources. To position our Company for future growth, we must continue to invest
in and implement scalable operational systems, procedures and controls. We must also be able to recruit and
retain qualified employees and expect any future expansion to continue to challenge our ability to hire, train,
manage and retain our employees.

In connection with the acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket during fiscal 2000, we
recorded a total of $3.1 billion in goodwill and other intangible assets. In the quarter ended March 31, 2001, we
recorded a $1.4 billion impairment charge relating to goodwill and other intangible assets acquired in the Tradex
acquisition. Additionally, we determined that certain equity investments of privately held companies had
incurred a decline in value which resulted in an impairment charge of $28.7 million in our results of operations
for fiscal 2001. See subsection Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for more detailed information.

We believe our success is .contingent on increasing our customer base and developing our products and
services. We intend to continue to invest in sales, marketing, research and development and, to a lesser extent,
support infrastructure. We also will have significant expenses going forward related to the amortization of our
goodwill and other intangible assets, subject to certain effects of the new accounting pronouncements as
described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, and we may have substantial non-cash
expenses related to warrants to purchase our common stock. These warrant related expenses will not be
recognized until the warrants are eamned and will fluctuate depending on the market value of our common stock.
We therefore expect to continue to incur substantial operating losses for the foreseeable future.

In December 2000, our consolidated Japanese subsidiary, Nihon Ariba K. K. issued and sold approximately
41% of its common stock for cash consideration of approximately $40.0 million to a third party. In April 2001,
this subsidiary issued and sold an additional 2% of its common stock for cash- consideration of approximately
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$4.0 million to third parties. Prior to the transactions, we held 100% of the equity of Nihon Ariba K.K. in the
form of common stock. Nihon Ariba K.K.’s operations consist of the marketing, distribution, service and support
of our products in Japan. The proceeds are reflected as a capital contribution in our consolidated financial
statements. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In April 2001, our consolidated subsidiary, Ariba Korea, Ltd., issued and sold approximately 42% of its
common stock for cash consideration of approximately $8.0 million to a third party. Prior to the transaction, we
held 100% of the equity of Ariba Korea, Ltd. in the form of common stock. Ariba Korea, Ltd.’s operations
consist of the marketing, distribution, service and support of our products in Korea. The proceeds are reflected as
a capital contribution in our consolidated financial statements. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information.

Our limited operating history makes the prediction of future operating results very difficult. We believe that
period-to-period comparisons of operating results should not be relied upon as predictive of future performance.
Our operating results are expected to vary significantly from quarter to quarter and are difficult or impossible to
predict. Our prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties encountered by
companies at an early stage of development, particularly given that we operate in new and rapidly evolving
markets, have recently completed several acquisitions and face an uncertain economic environment. We may not
be successful in addressing such risks and difficulties. Please refer to the “Risk Factors™ section for additional

information.

Accounting for Acquisitions

Acquisitions
In fiscal 2000, we acquired three companies using the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the
purchase price for each company was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values on the acquisition date.

In January 2000, we acquired TradingDynamics, which provided Internet-based trading applications. The
purchase price of approximately $465.0 million consisted of an exchange of 7,274,656 shares of our common
stock with a fair value of $371.9 million, and assumed stock options with a fair value of $91.7 million, and other
acquisition related expenses of approximately $1.4 million consisting primarily of payments for financial advisor
and other professional fees. Of the total purchase price, $224,000 was allocated to property and equipment,
$13.4 million was allocated to net liabilities assumed, excluding property and equipment, and the remainder was
allocated to intangible assets, including in-process research and development ($950,000), core technology
($4.4 million), covenants not-to-compete ($1.3 million), assembled workforce ($1.1 million) and goodwill

($470.5 million).

In March 2000, we acquired Tradex, which provided solutions for enabling online marketplaces and
exchanges. The purchase price of approximately $2.3 billion consisted of an exchange of 34,059,336 shares of
our common stock with a fair value of $2.1 billion, assumed stock options with a fair value of approximately
$207.5 million, and other acquisition related expenses of approximately $28.8 million consisting primarily of
payments for financial advisor and other professional fees. Of the total purchase price, $3.5 million was allocated
to property and equipment, $75.6 million was allocated to net assets acquired, excluding property and equipment,
and the remainder was allocated to intangible assets, including in-process research and development
($11.8 million), core technology ($7.9 million), trademarks ($2.0 million), assembled workforce ($5.4 million)

and goodwill ($2.2 billion).

In August 2000, we acquired SupplierMarket, a provider of online collaborative sourcing technologies. The
total purchase price of approximately $607.1 million consisted of an exchange of 5,249,330 shares of our
common stock with a fair value of $478.7 million, assumed stock options with a fair value of approximately
$108.4 million, and other acquisition related expenses of approximately $20.0 million consisting primarily of
payments for financial advisor and other professional fees. Of the total purchase price, $3.1 million was allocated
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to property and equipment, $4.2 million was allocated to net assets acquired, excluding property and equipment,
$124.6 million was allocated to deferred compensation and the remainder was allocated to intangible assets,
including in-process research and development ($14.6 million), core technology ($7.9 million), assembled
workforce ($6.5 million) and goodwill ($446.1 million).

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We recorded a total of $3.1 billion in goodwill and other intangible assets in fiscal 2000 relating to the
acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket. We incurred amortization expense relating to this
goodwill and other intangible assets of $679.2 million and $539.4 million for the years ended September 30,

2001 and 2000, respectively.

In the quarter ended March 31, 2001, we recorded a $1.4 billion impairment charge relating to goodwill and
other intangible assets acquired in the Tradex acquisition. As of September 30, 2001, we had $877.8 million of
goodwill and other intangible assets relating to the acquisition of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket,
an intellectual property agreement and business partner warrant agreements, after giving effect to previous
amortization and impairment charges. We will periodically review our long-lived assets and may incur additional
impairment charges in the future, and we will have significant expenses going forward related to the amortization
of our goodwill and other intangible assets, except for the effects of certain new accounting pronouncements as
described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

During fiscal 2001, we continually evaluated our long-lived assets, consisting primarily of goodwill and
other intangible assets. During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, we determined that an intangible asset recorded in
connection with the prior issuance of a business partner warrant was impaired. As a result, we recorded a
$17.7 million impairment charge to business partner warrant expense to write off the remaining net book value of

this intangible asset.

See Notes 5 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information about the
accounting treatment of the TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket acquisitions and business partner

warrants.

Stock Option Exchange Program

On February 8, 2001, we announced a voluntary stock option exchange program for our employees. Under
the program, Ariba employees were given the opportunity, if they chose, to cancel outstanding stock options
previously granted to them in exchange for an equal number of replacement options to be granted at a future date,
at least six months and a day from the cancellation date, which was May 14, 2001. Under the exchange program,
options for 12.7 million shares of our common stock were tendered and cancelled. On December 3, 2001, the
grant of replacement options to participating employees was approved. Each participating employee will receive,
for each option included in the exchange, a one-for-one replacement option. The exercise price of each
replacement option is $4.02 per share, which was the fair market value of our common stock on December 3,
2001. The replacement options will have terms and conditions that are substantially the same as those of the
canceled options. The exchange program is not expected to result in any additional compensation charges or
variable plan accounting. Members of our Board of Directors and our officers and senior executives were not

eligible to participate in this program.

Pro Forma Financial Results

We prepare and release quarterly unaudited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). We also disclose and discuss certain pro forma financial information
in the related earnings release and investor conference call. This pro forma financial information excludes certain
non-cash and special charges, consisting primarily of the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets,
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impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and equity investments, business partner warrants, stock-based
compensation and restructuring and lease abandonment costs. We believe the disclosure of the pro forma
financial information helps investors more meaningfully evaluate the results of our ongoing operations.
However, we urge investors to carefully review the GAAP financial information included as part of our Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, or Annual Reports on Form 10-K, and our quarterly earnings releases and compare that
GAAP financial information with the pro forma financial results disclosed in our quarterly earnings releases and

investor calls.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the statements of operations for the periods indicated (in thousands, except
per share data). These statements have been derived from the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report. The operating results for any period should not be considered indicative of results for any future period.
This information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Year Ended September 30,
2001 2000 1999

Revenues:

LiCense .. $ 269272 § 198,790 § 26,768

139,576 80,249 18.604
408,848 279,039 45,372

TOtAl FEVEIIUES . . v vttt ettt et e e et e e e e

Cost of revenues:

LCenSe . o e e e e e e 17,801 12,572 724

Maintenance and service (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of $3,442, $1,458 and
$1,084 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively) .............. 68.208 34,947 8.089
86,009 47,519 8,813

Total COSt Of TEVEIIUES . ..\ ottt it ettt e e e et ettt e

GTOSS PIOTIE . . .ottt e e 322,839 231,520 36.559

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of $13,796, $7,425 and

$6,569 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively and exclusive of
$34,075 and $29,251 of business partner warrant expense for the years ended September 30,

2001 and 2000, reSPeCtVELY) . ..ottt e e
Research and development (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of $4,009, $3,475

269,686 207,234 33,859

and $2,998 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively) ........... 90,879 39,017 11,620
General and administrative (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of $15,389, $5,693
and $3,933 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively) . ... ....... 64,409 29,172 7,917

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets ............. ... .. ... ... i 941,526 688,588 —

In-process research and development . . ... ... ... . . — 27,350 —
Business partner Warrants . . . .. .. ..o.ourt ittt e 34,075 29,251 —_
36,636 18,051 14,584

Stock-based COMPENSAtiON .. .. ... ...ttt e
Restructuring and lease abandonment Costs . ........... . . 133,582 — —
Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and equity investments ..................... 1,437,572 — —
Mergerrelated COSES . .. ..o vttt et s 9,185 — —
3,017,550 1,038,663 67,980

(2,694,711) (807,143)  (31,421)

Total Operating EXpeNSES .. ... ..ottt it e

Loss from Operations . .. ........ . .t e

J 510 (1 A s ete) 1= G 18,629 15,748 2,434
INtErest EXPENSE . . ..ottt e (434) (220) (126)
Other INCOME (EXPENSE) . . oo vttt ettt et ettt e et e 2,155 803 (89)
Net 108S before INCOME TAXES ..o\ vttt et ittt e e et et et (2,674,361) (790,812)  (29,202)
6,310 1.963 98

Provision fOr INCOME TAXES . . .. ottt ittt e e e e et e et e

$(2,680,671) $ (792,775) $(29,300)

Nt oSS L L
Net loss per share—basic and diluted ....... ... ... . ... . i §  (1096) $ (4.10) $ (0.42)
Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss pershare ................. 244,614 193417 70,064
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Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2001 and 2000
Revenues

License

License revenues for the year ended September 30, 2001 were $269.3 million, a 35% increase over license
revenues of $198.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. This increase was primarily attributable to
continued market acceptance of and demand for our products, an increase in sales t0 new customers resulting
from increased headcount in our sales force, the establishment of several strategic relationships and the
expansion of our business domestically and internationally. This increase, which occurred primarily in the first
half of the fiscal year, was offset by a decline in demand for our products in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal
2001 resulting in a reduced number of license sales and a modest decline in average selling prices due to an
economic slowdown and the significant decline in information technology spending. We expect the economic
slowdown to continue to adversely impact our business for at least the next quarter and perhaps longer and, as a
result of the economic slowdown and other factors, we anticipate that total license revenues in fiscal 2002 will

decline compared to fiscal 2001.

Maintenance and Service

Maintenance and service revenues for the year ended September 30, 2001 were $139.6 million, a 74%
increase over maintenance and service revenues of $80.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The
increase is primarily attributable to the growth of our licensing activity described above, which has resulted in
increased revenues from customer implementations and maintenance contracts and, to a lesser extent, renewals of

recurring maintenance and training fees.

During each of the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, no single customer accounted for more than
10% of total revenues. Revenues from international sales were approximately $106.8 million and $61.4 million
for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Our international revenues were derived from
sales in Europe, Asia, Asia Pacific and Latin America. Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location

of our customers.

Cost of Revenues

License

Cost of license revenues was $17.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, an increase of 41% over
cost of license revenues of $12.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase in cost of license
revenues is primarily related to increased sales volumes, product costs associated with major upgrade
introductions of our products, an increase in royalties payable to third parties for integrated technology, and an
increase in co-sale fees due to higher alliance partner sales occurring primarily in the first half of the fiscal year.
This increase was offset by a general decline in demand for our products resulting in a reduction of license sales
and the related cost of license revenues in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2001.

Maintenance and Service

Cost of maintenance and service revenues was $68.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2001, an
increase of 95% over cost of maintenance and service revenues of $34.9 million for the year ended
September 30, 2000. The increase is primarily attributable to increased Ariba Supplier Network engineering
costs, growth in licensing activity resulting in additional service costs related to implementations, customer
support and training costs, and costs associated with major upgrade introductions of our products.
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Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended September 30, 2001 were $269.7 million, an increase of
30% over sales and marketing expenses of $207.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase is
primarily attributable to increased compensation for sales and marketing personnel, domestically and
internationally, as a result of increased sales through internal growth and acquisitions, increases in management
bonuses, expanded marketing programs for tradeshows and customer advisory council meetings, the expansion of
our corporate headquarters and international sales offices, an increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts
and, to a lesser extent, related overhead. For the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, we recorded
provisions for doubtful accounts of $27.9 million and $14.2 million, respectively. Provisions for doubtful
accounts were increased substantially during the first two quarters of fiscal 2001 as a result of the effects of the
economic slowdown and its impact on the operations of certain emerging electronic commerce customers
together with the rapid increase of sales for all products since the latter part of fiscal 2000. We have enhanced
our efforts to manage our accounts receivable balance. Although we have not made significant changes in
payment terms, we have taken steps to focus additional resources on collection efforts and we have reviewed our
credit approval policies. Although we anticipate that the recent restructuring of our operations will reduce
sequential quarterly sales and marketing expenses over the near term, these expenses may increase over the

longer term.

" Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the year ended September 30, 2001 were $90.9 million, an increase
of 133% over research and development expenses of $39.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The
increase is primarily attributable to increases in compensation for research and development personnel due to
internal growth and acquisitions from the prior year, globalization of our products and increases in localization of
our software and, to a lesser extent, related overhead. To date, all software development costs have been
expensed in the period incurred. We believe that continued investment in research and development is critical to
attaining our strategic objectives. Although we anticipate that the recent restructuring of our operations will
reduce sequential quarterly research and development personnel expenses over the near term, these expenses may

increase over the longer term.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses for the year ended September 30, 2001 were $64.4 million, an increase
of 121% over general and administrative expenses of $29.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The
increase is primarily attributable to an increase in compensation for finance, accounting, legal, human resources
and information technology support personnel from our internal growth and acquisitions both domestically and
internationally, fees paid to outside professional service providers, increased management bonuses, and
implementation costs to expand our financial and human resources infrastructure and, to a lesser extent, related
overhead. Although we anticipate that the recent restructuring of our operations will reduce sequential quarterly
general and administrative expenses over the near term, these expenses may increase over the longer term.

Amortization of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket were accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. Accordingly, we recorded goodwill and other intangible assets representing the excess of
the purchase price paid over the fair value of net assets acquired. The aggregate amortization of goodwill and
other intangible assets related to these acquisitions was $679.2 million and $539.4 million for the years ended

September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In fiscal 2000, we sold 5,142,858 shares of common stock with a fair market value of $834.4 million to an
independent third party in connection with an intellectual property agreement. As part of the sale we received
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intellectual property and $47.5 million in cash. The intellectual property is valued at the difference between the
fair market value of the stock being exchanged and the cash received, which is $786.9 million. This amount is
classified within other intangible assets and is being amortized over three years based on the terms of the related
intellectual property agreement. The total amortization of this intellectual property agreement was $262.3 million
and $149.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The total amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets was $967.1 million and $694.2 million for the
years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These amounts include $25.6 million and $5.6 million of
business partner warrant expense and related impairment charge recorded for the years ended September 30, 2001
and 2000, respectively, that are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations as business
partner warrant expense. See the section Impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Equity Investments
below and Notes 5 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

We anticipate that the unamortized balance of $877.8 million of goodwill and other intangible assets
associated with acquisitions and strategic relationships will be amortized on a straight-line basis over their
expected useful lives ranging from two years to three years, respectively, subject to certain effects of the new
accounting pronouncements described below.

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated
after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 141 also specifies criteria for determining intangible assets acquired in a purchase
method business combination.that must be recognized and reported apart from goodwill, noting that any purchase
price allocable to an assembled workforce may not be accounted for separately. SFAS No. 142 requires that
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for
impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 142 also requires
that intangible assets with definite useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their
estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of. We are required to adopt the
provisions of SFAS No. 141 immediately, and those of SFAS No. 142 effective October 1, 2002. Goodwill and
intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001 will continue to be amortized
prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, The adoption of SFAS No. 141 did not have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements. Because of the extensive effort needed to comply with adopting SFAS
No. 142, which we will adopt by October 1, 2002, it is not practicable to reasonably estimate the impact of
adopting this Statement on our consolidated financial statements at the date of this report, including whether any
transitional impairment losses will be required to be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle.

In-Process Research and Development

In connection with the acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket we allocated
$950,000, $11.8 million, and $14.6 million, respectively, as in-process research and development for a total of
$27.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. There were no acquisitions completed in the year ended
September 30, 2001. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information
regarding the accounting treatment of the TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket acquisitions.

No assurance can be given that actual revenues and operating profit attributable to acquired in-process
research and development will not deviate from the projections used to value such in-process research and
development in connection with each of the respective acquisitions.

Business Partner Warrants

We have issued warrants for the purchase of our common stock to certain business partners which vest
either immediately or based upon the achievement of certain milestones related to targeted revenue. For the years
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ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, we recognized business partner warrant expenses associated with these
warrants in the aggregate amounts of $34.1 million and $29.2 million, respectively. See Note 10 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

In the quarter ended June 30, 2000, we entered into an agreement with a third party as part of our vertical
industry strategy to obtain a major partner in the financial services industry. In connection with the agreement,
we issued warrants to purchase up to 6,776,000 shares of our common stock. A warrant to purchase 1,936,000 of
these shares was immediately vested. The remaining warrants vest upon attainment of certain milestones related
to contingent revenues (contingent gainshare) to be received by us under the terms of the concurrent software
licensing arrangement. The warrants generally expire when the milestone period expires or one year after the
specific milestone is met. Through September 30, 2001, none of the remaining warrants have vested. The vested
warrant was recorded as an intangible asset in the amount of $31.2 million in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The intangible asset was being amortized over the expected term of the arrangement of
three years. For the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000 approximately $7.9 million and $5.6 million was
amortized to business partner warrant expense, respectively. During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, we
determined that the carrying value of this intangible asset was impaired and recorded a $17.7 million impairment
charge to business partner warrant expense to write off the remaining net book value of this asset. See Note 10 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In the quarter ended March 2000, in connection with a sales and marketing alliance agreement with a third
party, we issued an unvested warrant to purchase up to 3,428,572 shares of our common stock. The business
partner can partially vest in this warrant each quarter upon attainment of certain periodic milestones related to
revenue targets associated with our sales to third parties under registered co-sale transactions and referrals or
resale to third parties by the business partner. The warrant generally expires as to any eamned or earnable portion
when the milestone period expires or eighteen months after the specific milestone is met. The warrant can be
earned over approximately a five-year period. No amounts related to the unvested portion of this warrant are
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. During the years ended September 30, 2001 and
2000, this business partner warrant holder vested in 982,326 shares and 468,041 shares, respectively, of such
warrant. Accordingly, $8.5 million and $23.6 million of business partner warrant expense was recorded for this
warrant for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Stock-based Compensation

We have recognized deferred stock-based compensation associated with stock options granted to employees
with an exercise price below market value on the date of grant, unvested stock options issued to employees in
conjunction with the consummation of the SupplierMarket acquisition and the issuance of restricted shares of
common stock to certain senior executives, officers and employees. These amounts are included as a component
of stockholders’ equity and are being amortized by charges to operations over the vesting period of the options or
the lapse of restrictions in the case of restricted stock, consistent with the method described in FIN 28. We
recorded $4.0 million of stock-based compensation expense for the grant of 2.0 million restricted shares in
connection with the severance of a former executive classified as a general and administrative expense. The
amortization of stock-based compensation is presented as a separate line in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. For the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation is attributable to various cost categories as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
COSLOFTEVETIES . . v v e e ee e e e e e e e e $ 3442 $ 1,458 § 1,084
Salesand marketing .. ........ ... 13,796 7,425 6,569
Research and development . .. ... ... .. ... .. .. .. i 4,009 3,475 2,998
General and administrative .. ... ...t 15,389 5,693 3,933
Total .. $36,636 $18,051 $14,584




As of September 30, 2001, we had an aggregate of approximately $33.0 million of deferred stock-based
compensation remaining to be amortized.

Restructuring and Lease Abandonment Costs

During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, we initiated a restructuring program to conform our expense and
revenue levels to better our position for growth and profitability as a result of the continuing economic
slowdown, particularly due to the decline in information technology spending. As part of the restructuring
program, we restructured our worldwide operations including a reduction in workforce of approximately
1,100 individuals and the consolidation of our operating facilities. The restructuring resulted in a total charge for
the year ended September 30, 2001 of $133.6 million which includes severance and benefits charges, lease
abandonment costs and leasehold impairment charges. In connection with the restructuring program, we
implemented a further reduction of our worldwide workforce during the quarter ending December 31, 2001. See
Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

Impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Equity Investments

In the quarter ended March 31, 2001, we recorded a $1.4 billion impairment charge relating to goodwill and
other intangible assets acquired in the Tradex acquisition as a result of an ongoing impairment assessment of
goodwill and identifiable assets recorded in connection with our various acquisitions. The assessment was
performed primarily due to the significant decline in our stock price, the net book value of our assets
significantly exceeding our market capitalization, the significant underperformance of the Tradex acquisition
relative to projections and the overall decline in industry growth rates which indicated that this trend might

continue for an indefinite period.

During the year ended September 30, 2001, we determined that certain equity investments in privately held
companies had incurred a decline in value that was considered other-than-temporary primarily as a result of the
continuing economic slowdown, particularly in the technology sector. An impairment review is performed
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our equity investments may not
be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include, but are not
limited to, significant underperformance relative to historical or expected operating results of our investees,
significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and
significant negative industry or economic trends. We determined that the carrying value of the equity investments
may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment. The
impairment charge reduced the equity investments to their estimated fair value consistent with the general
economic environment within the technology sector resulting in a charge of $28.7 million in our results of

operations.

There was no impairment charge related to goodwill, other intangible assets and equity investments
recorded in fiscal 2000 or 1999. See subsection Accounting for Acquisitions and Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information.

Merger Related Costs

On January 29, 2001, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire Agile Software Corporation (“Agile”), a
provider of collaborative commerce solutions. However, Ariba and Agile mutually agreed to terminate their
proposed merger without payment of any termination fees due to the challenging economic and market
conditions. We incurred merger related costs totaling $9.2 million related to financial advisor and other
professional fees, all of which were expensed during the quarter ended March 31, 2001.
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Interest Income

During the year ended September 30, 2001, interest income was $18.6 million, an increase of 18% over
interest income of $15.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2000. The increase is attributable to higher

average cash balances during fiscal 2001.

Minority Interest

In December 2000, our consolidated subsidiary, Nihon Ariba K.K., issued and sold 38,000 shares, or
approximately 41% of its common stock, for cash consideration of approximately $40.0 million to a third party.
In April 2001, Nihon Ariba K.K. issued and sold an additional 2% of its common stock for cash consideration of
approximately $4.0 million to third parties. Prior to the transactions, we held 100% of the equity of Nihon Ariba
K.K. in the form of common stock. Nihon Ariba K.K.'s operations consist of the marketing, distribution, service

and support of our products in Japan.

As of September 30, 2001, minority interest of approximately $12.9 million is recorded on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet in order to reflect the share of the net assets of Nihon Ariba K.K. held by minority investors. In
addition, we recognized approximately $4.3 million as an increase to other income for the minority interest’s
share of Nihon Ariba K.K.’s loss for the year ended September 30, 2001.

In April 2001, our consolidated subsidiary, Ariba Korea, Ltd., issued and sold 3,800 shares, or
approximately 42% of its common stock for cash consideration of approximately $8.0 million to a third pariy.
Prior to the transaction, we held 100% of the equity of Ariba Korea, Ltd. in the form of common stock. Ariba
Korea, Ltd."s operations consist of the marketing, distribution, service and support of our products in Korea.

As of September 30, 2001, minority interest of approximately $2.8 million is recorded on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet in order to reflect the share of the net assets of Ariba Korea, Ltd. held by minority imvestors. We
also recognized approximately $370,000 as other income for the minority interest’s share of the Ariba Korea,
Ltd. loss for the year ended September 30, 2001.

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded income tax expenses of $6.3 million relating to our international subsidiaries for the year
ended September 30, 2001.

As of September 30, 2001, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state tax purposes of
approximately $1.1 billion and $387.0 million, respectively. These federai and state carryforwards expire in
various years through fiscal year 2021 and 2006, respectively. We had research credit carryforwards for federal
and state tax purpose of approximately $24.8 million and $18.0 million, respectively. If not utilized, the federal
research credit carryforwards will expire in various years through fiscal year 2021. The state research credit will
carry forward indefinitely. We also had manufacturer’s credit carryforwards for state tax purposes of
approximately $1.9 million, which will expire in various years through fiscal year 2009.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and applicable state tax laws, impose substantial restrictions on our
ability to utilize net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards in the event of an “ownership change,” as
defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Our federal and state tax losses and tax credit carryover
incurred through that date of change are subject to an annual limitation.
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Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999
Revenues

License

License revenues for the year ended September 30, 2000 were $198.8 million, a 643% increase over license
revenues of $26.8 million for the year ended September 30, 1999. This increase was primarily attributable to
increased market acceptance of our products, domestically and internationally, an increase in sales to new
customers resulting from increased headcount in our sales force, increased demand for electronic commerce
solutions across a broad range of industries, new strategic products and solutions, including those resulting from
our acquisitions, and an increased number of and success from strategic relationships designed to help promote
and sell our products domestically and internationally.

Maintenance and Service

Maintenance and service revenues for the year ended September 30, 2000 were $80.2 million, a 331%
increase over maintenance and service revenues of $18.6 million for the year ended September 30, 1999. This
increase was primarily attributable to the increased licensing activity described above, which resulted in
increased revenues from customer implementations and maintenance contracts and, to a lesser extent, accelerated
customer implementations and renewals of recurring maintenance.

During the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, no customer and one customer, respectively,
accounted for more than 10% of total revenues. Revenues from international sales were $61.4 million and
$6.7 million for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999. Our international revenues were derived from
sales in Canada, Europe, Asia, Asia Pacific and Latin America. Revenues are attributed to countries based on the

location of our customers.

Cost of Revenues

License

Cost of license revenues was $12.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2000, an increase of 1,636%
over cost of license revenues of $724,000 for the year ended September 30, 1999. The increase in the cost of
license revenues was primarily attributable to royalties due to third parties for integrated technology.

Maintenance and Service

Cost of maintenance and service revenues was $34.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2000, an
increase of 332% over cost of maintenance and service revenues of $8.0 million for the year ended
September 30, 1999. The increase was primarily attributable to personnel costs associated with increases in the
number of implementation, training and technical support personnel from our internal growth and as a result of
our acquisitions and due to an increase in licensing activity during the year resulting in increased
implementation, customer support and training costs.

Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended September 30, 2000 were $207.2 million, an increase of
512% over sales and marketing expenses of $33.8 million for the year ended September 30, 1999. The increase
was primarily attributable to increased compensation for sales and marketing personnel as a result of increased
sales through internal growth and acquisitions, advertising, employer payroll taxes on stock options in our
foreign subsidiaries, customer advisory council meetings, increases in management bonuses, fees paid to outside
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professional service providers, an increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts, the expansion of our corporate
headquarters and international sales offices, and, to a lesser extent, related overhead. For the years ended
September 30, 2000 and 1999, we recorded provisions for doubtful accounts of $14.2 million and $20,000,
respectively. The increase in fiscal 2000 was primarily due to the rapid growth of our sales and expansion of our
customer base, including smaller and less mature companies.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the year ended September 30, 2000 were $39.0 million, an increase
of 236% over research and development expenses of $11.6 million for the year ended September 30, 1999. The
increase was primarily attributable to increases in compensation for research and development personnel due to
our internal growth and acquisitions, technology costs related to the expansion of our headquarters and to a lesser
extent, related overhead. For the year ended September 30, 2000, all research and development costs have been

expensed in the period incurred.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses for the year ended September 30, 2000 were $29.2 million, an increase
of 268% over general and administrative expenses of $7.9 million for the year ended September 30, 1999. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in compensation associated with additional employees in
finance, accounting, legal, human resources and information technology personnel from our internal growth and
acquisitions, an increase in fees paid to outside professional service providers, an increase in communication
costs, particularly to remote offices, the implementation costs to install our financial and human resources
infrastructure and, to a lesser extent, related overhead.

Amortization of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket were accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. Accordingly, we recorded goodwill and other intangible assets representing the excess of
the purchase price paid over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired. The aggregate amortization of goodwill
and these other intangible assets was $539.4 million in fiscal 2000. There were no acquisitions in fiscal 1999. In
March 2000, we sold 5,142,858 shares of common stock with a fair market value of $834.4 million to an
independent third party in connection with an intellectual property agreement. As part of the sale we received
intellectual property and $47.5 million in cash. The intellectual property is valued at the difference between the
fair market value of the stock being exchanged and the cash received, which is $786.9 million. This amount is
classified within other intangible assets and is being amortized over three years based on the terms of the related
intellectual property agreement. The aggregate amortization of this intellectual property agreement was
$149.1 million in fiscal 2000. The related amortization expense for goodwill and other intangible assets totaled
$694.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2000 which includes $5.6 million of business partner warrant
expense for the year ended September 30, 2000. There was no amortization of goodwill or other intangible assets

during fiscal 1999.

In-Process Research and Development

Trading Dynamics

In connection with the acquisition of TradingDynamics we allocated $950,000 of the $465.0 million
purchase price as in-process research and development. The acquired in-process research and development
related to the TradingDynamics acquisition are technologies representing the processes and expertise employed
to design and develop electronic commerce solutions. As of the acquisition date, this in-process research and
development consisted of TradingDynamics’ Market Suite Product, Version 1.5. We determined the acquired in-
process research and development had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses
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based on a review by our software engineers. The efforts required to complete the acquired in-process research
and development included the completion of all planning, designing and testing activities that were necessary to
establish that the product could be produced to meet its design requirements, including functions, features and
technical performance requirements. As of- September 30, 2000, we had incorporated and released this

technology as our Dynamic Trade product.

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was computed using a discounted rate of
25% on the anticipated income stream of the related product revenues. The discount rate was applied giving
specific consideration to the risks and attributes of the subject assets. The discounted cash flow analysis was
based on management’s forecast of future revenues which assumed a compound annual growth rate of 151%.
These forecasts were based on management’s estimates and the estimated growth potential of the market. The
discounted cash flow analysis was also based on management’s forecasts of cost of revenues and operating
expenses related to the products and technologies purchased from TradingDynamics. The calculation of value
was then adjusted to reflect only the value creation efforts of TradingDynamics prior to the close of the
acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, the product was approximately 90% complete. The remaining costs to
complete the project, which were not significant, were incurred in fiscal 2000. The resultant value of in-process
research and development was further reduced by the estimated value of core technology and was expensed in

the period the transaction was consummated.

Tradex

In connection with the acquisition of Tradex we allocated $11.8 million of the $2.3 billion purchase price as
in-process research and development. The acquired in-process research and development related to the
acquisition are technologies representing the processes and expertise employed to design and develop completely
new platform architecture based on Enterprise Java Beans, Uses XML documents, and Use of Entity Beans. As
of the acquisition date, this in-process research and development consisted of Tradex’s product, Commerce
Center Version 8.0. We determined that the in-process research and development acquired had not reached
technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses based on a review by our software engineers. The
efforts required to complete the acquired in-process research and development included the completion of all
planning, designing and testing activities that are necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet
its design requirements, including functions, features and technical performance requirements. As of
September 30, 2000, we had incorporated and released this technology as our Ariba Marketplace Standard

Edition product.

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was computed using a discounted rate of
22% on the anticipated income stream of the related product revenues. The discount rate was applied giving
specific consideration to the risks and attributes of the subject assets. The discounted cash flow analysis was
based on management’s forecast of future revenues which assumed a compound annual growth rate of 87.6%.
These forecasts were based on management’s estimates and the estimated growth potential of the market. The
discounted cash flow analysis was also based on management’s forecasts of cost of revenues and operating
expenses related to the products and technologies purchased from Tradex. The calcujation of value was then
adjusted to reflect only the value creation efforts of Tradex prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the
acquisition, the product was approximately 33% complete with approximately $693,000 in estimated costs
remaining, substantially all of which were incurred in fiscal 2000. The resultant value of in-process research and
development was further reduced by the estimated value of core technology. The acquired in-process research
and development was expensed in the period the transaction was consummated.

SupplierMarket

In connection with the acquisition of SupplierMarket we allocated $14.6 million of the $607.1 purchase
price as in-process research and development. The acquired in-process research and development related to the
acquisition are technologies representing the processes and expertise employed to design and develop new
application servers with increased scalability and customer functionality. As of the acquisition date,
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SupplierMarket had yet to commence shipments of its products and these in-process technologies consisted of its
new product architecture. We determined the in-process research and development acquired had not reached
technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses based on a review by our software engineers. The
efforts required to complete the acquired in-process research and development included the completion of all
planning, designing and testing activities that are necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet
its design requirements, including functions, features and technical performance requirements. During the quarter
ended December 31, 2000, we incorporated and released this technology as our sourcing product.

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was computed using a discounted rate of
19% on the anticipated income stream of the related product revenues. The discount rate was applied giving
specific consideration to the risks and attributes of the subject assets. The discounted cash flow analysis was
based on management’s forecast of future revenues which assumed a compound annual growth rate of 131.79%.
These forecasts were based on management’s estimates and the estimated growth potential of the market. The
discounted cash flow analysis was also based on management’s forecast of cost of revenues and operating
expenses related to the products and technologies purchased from SupplierMarket. The calculation of value was
then adjusted to reflect only the value creation efforts of SupplierMarket prior to the close of the acquisition. At
the time of the acquisition, the product was approximately 53% complete with approximately $158,000 in
estimated costs remaining, all of which was incurred by the end of the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2000.
The resultant value of in-process research and development was further reduced by the estimated value of core
technology. The acquired in-process research and development was expensed in the period the transaction was

consummated.

The selection of discount rates for application in each acquisition were based on the consideration of: (i) the
weighted average cost of capital, which measures a company’s cost of debt and equity financing weighted by the
percentage of debt and percentage of equity in its target capital structure; (ii) the corresponding weighted average
return on assets, which measures the after-tax return required on the assets employed in the business weighted by
each asset group’s percentage of the total asset portfolio; and (iii) venture capital required rates of return which
typically relate to equity financing for relatively high-risk businesses or business projects.

Business Partner Warrants

We have issued warrants for the purchase of our common stock to certain business partners which vest
based upon the achievement of certain milestones for sales of our products to third parties. During the year ended
September 30, 2000, we recognized business partner warrant expenses associated with two sales and marketing
alliance agreements in the aggregate amount of $29.2 million. See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for more detailed information. In the quarter ended June 30, 2000, 1,936,000 shares of our common
stock underlying a warrant were earned upon signing of a sales and marketing alliance agreement. Through
September 30, 2000, none of the remaining warrants had vested. A total of $31.2 million was recorded as an
intangible asset for this sales and marketing alliance based on the fair market value of the warrant. This
intangible asset is being amortized over the expected term of the arrangement of three years which resulted in
$5.6 million of amortization during the year ended September 30, 2000. As of September 30, 2000, an intangible
asset of $25.6 million remains to be amortized. During the year ended September 30, 2000, 468,041 shares of our
common stock underlying a warrant were earned upon attainment of certain milestones related to revenue targets.
A total of $23.6 million in amortization expense was recorded for the year ended September 30, 2000.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognized stock-based compensation expense associated with stock options granted to employees with
an exercise price below market value on the date of grant and unvested stock options issued to employees in
conjunction with the SupplierMarket acquisition. These amounts are included as a component of stockholders’
equity and are being amortized by charges to operations over the vesting period of the options, consistent with
the method described in FIN 28. The amortization of stock-based compensation is presented as a separate
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component of operating expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the years ended
September 30, 2000 and 1999, amortization of stock-based compensation is attributable to various cost categories
as follows (in thousands):

2000 1999
COSt OF FEVENUES .« ottt et e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,458 $ 1,084
Sales and marketing . ........ .. 7,425 6,569
Research and development ............ ... ... . . i 3,475 2,998
General and administrative . ... ... ...t 5,693 3,933
Total L $18,051 $14,584

As of September 30, 2000, we had an aggregate of $130.0 million of deferred stock-based compensation
remaining to be amortized.

Interest Income

Interest income totaled $15.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2000, an increase of 547% over
interest income of $2.4 million for the year ended September 30, 1999. This increase is primarily attributable to
interest income resulting from higher average cash balances during fiscal 2000.

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded income tax expenses of $1.9 million relating to our international subsidiaries for the year
ended September 30, 2000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2001, we had $217.9 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments,
$43.1 million in long-term investments and $32.6 million in restricted cash, for total cash and investments of
$293.6 million, and $57.6 million in working capital. During the year ended September 30, 2001, we received
$44.0 million and $8.0 million in cash and cash equivalents from the issuance of common stock in our Japanese
and Korean subsidiaries, respectively, to a third party.

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $64.5 million for the year ended September 30,
2001, compared to $111.0 million net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended September 30,
2000. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended September 30, 2001 was primarily attributable to
an increase in the net loss for the period (less non-cash expenses) and decreases in deferred revenue and accounts
payable. These cash flows used in operating activities were partially offset by increases in accrued liabilities and
accrued restructuring and lease abandonment costs. We expect to continue to use net cash in operating activities
in fiscal 2002 but at reduced levels compared to fiscal 2001.

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $139.7 million for the year ended September 30,
2001, which primarily reflects purchases of property and equipment, purchase and redemption of our investments
and the increase in restricted cash. We expect net cash used in investing activities to decline in fiscal 2002
compared to fiscal 2001, primarily as a result of lower anticipated expenditures for property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $83.3 million for the year ended September 30,
2001, primarily from the issuance of common stock of our Japanese and Korean subsidiaries to third parties and
by proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Capital expenditures were $91.2 million and $47.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2001 and
2000, respectively. Our capital expenditures consisted of purchases of operating resources to manage our
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operations, primarily including leasehold improvements for our headquarters in Sunnyvale, California and to a
lesser extent, including computer hardware and software and office furniture and equipment. As of
September 30, 2001, we had no significant capital expenditure commitments other than lease commitments of
$402,000. Although we anticipate that the recent restructuring of our operations will reduce our capital
expenditures over the near term, these expenditures may increase over the longer term.

In March 2000, we entered into a new facility lease agreement for approximately 716,000 square feet to be
constructed in four office buildings and an amenities building in Sunnyvale, California as our headquarters. The
lease term commenced in phases from January through April 2001, upon completion of construction and
possession of each building and ends on January 24, 2013. Minimum monthly lease payments are $2.1 million
and will escalate annually with the total future minimum lease payments amounting to $378.2 million over the
lease term. We have also contributed a significant amount towards leasehold improvement costs of the facility.
As of September 30, 2001, we paid $79.2 million for leasehold improvements to the facility. The total estimated
cost of leasehold improvements is approximately $80.1 million, but is subject to change. These leasehold
improvement payments are estimated to be fully paid during the quarter ending December 31, 2001. As part of
this agreement, we are required to hold two certificates of deposit, $25.7 million as a form of security through
fiscal 2013 and $2.5 million as security during the remaining construction, which are classified as restricted cash

on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In connection with our restructuring program initiated in the third quarter of fiscal 2001, we consolidated
our operating facilities. Lease abandonment costs include the abandonment of certain excess leased facilities in
Mountain View and Sunnyvale, California, Tampa, Florida, Alpharetta, Georgia, Lisle, Illinois, Burlington,
Massachusetts, Florham Park, New Jersey, Dallas, Texas and Singapore for the remaining lease terms. This cost
totaled $116.1 million, which includes the impairment of leasehold improvements related to the abandoned
leased facilities totaling $66.6 million. Total lease abandonment costs include the abandonment of leasehold
improvements and the remaining lease liabilities and brokerage fees, offset by estimated sublease income. The
estimated costs of abandoning these leased facilities, including estimated costs to sublease, were based on market
information trend analyses provided by a commercial real estate brokerage firm retained by us. As of
September 30, 2001, $30.3 million of lease abandonment costs, net of anticipated sublease income, remains
accrued and is expected to be utilized by fiscal 2013. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

for additional information.

We expect to incur significant operating expenses, particularly research and development and sales and
marketing expenses, for the foreseeable future in order to execute our business plan. We anticipate that such
operating expenses, as well as planned capital expenditures, will constitute a material use of our cash resources.
As a result, our net cash flows will depend heavily on the level of future sales, our ability to restructure

operations successfully and our ability to manage infrastructure costs.

Although our existing cash, cash equivalent and investment balances are expected to decline further during
fiscal 2002, we believe that our existing balances together with our anticipated cash flows from operations will
be sufficient to meet our working capital and operating resource expenditure requirements for at least the next
12 months. Given the significant changes in our business and results of operations in fiscal 2001, the decline in
cash, cash equivalents and investments balances may be greater than presently anticipated. After fiscal 2002, we
may find it necessary to obtain additional equity or debt financing. In the event additional financing is required,

we may not be able to raise it on acceptable terms or at all.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 141 also specifies criteria for determining intangible assets
acquired in a purchase method business combination that must be recognized and reported apart from goodwill,
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noting that any purchase price allocable to an assembled workforce may not be accounted for separately. SFAS
No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead
be tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 142 also
requires that intangible assets with definite useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to
their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of. We are required to adopt the
provisions of SFAS No. 14] immediately, and SFAS No. 142 effective October 1, 2002. Goodwill and intangible
assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001 will continue to be amortized prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 142. The adoption of SFAS No. 141 did not have a significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements. Because of the extensive effort needed to comply with adopting SFAS No. 142, which we will
adopt by October 1, 2002, it is not practicable to reasonably estimate the impact of adopting this Statement on our
consolidated financial statements at the date of this report, including whether any transitional impairment losses will
be required to be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, which supersedes both SFAS Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion
No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, for the disposal of a segment of a
business (as previously defined in that Opinion). SFAS No. 144 retains the fundamental provisions in SFAS
No. 121 for recognizing and measuring impairment losses on long-lived assets held for use and long-lived assets
to be disposed of by sale, while also resolving significant implementation issues associated with SFAS 121. For
example, SFAS No. 144 provides guidance on how a long-lived asset that is used as part of a group should be
evaluated for impairment, establishes criteria for when a long-lived asset is held for sale, and prescribes the
accounting for a long-lived asset that will be disposed of other than by sale. SFAS No. 144 retains the basic
provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 30 on how to present discontinued operations in the
statement of operations but broadens that presentation to include a component of an entity (rather than a segment
of a business). Unlike SFAS No. 121 an impairment assessment under SFAS No. 144 will never result in a write-
down of goodwill. Rather, goodwill is evaluated for impairment under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets. We are required to adopt SFAS No. 144 no later than the fiscal year beginning after
December 15, 2001, and plan to adopt its provisions for the guarter ending December 31, 2002. Management
does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 144 related to these types of activities to have a material impact on our
financial statements related to long-lived assets held for use because the impairment assessment under SFAS
No. 144 is largely unchanged from SFAS No. 121. The provisions of SFAS No. 144 for assets held for sale or
other disposal generally are required to be applied prospectively after the adoption date to newly initiated
disposal activities. Therefore, management cannot determine the potential effects that adoption of SFAS No. 144

will have on our financial statements.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached consensus on EITF No. 01-09,
Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor's Products.
EITF No. 01-9 addresses the accounting for consideration given by a vendor to a customer and is a codification
of EITF No. 00-14, Accounting for Certain Sales Incentives, EITF No. 00-22, Accounting for ‘Points’ and
Certain Other Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentives Offers and Offers for Free Products or Services to
be Delivered in the Future, and No. 00-25, Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration Paid o
a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products. We are evaluating the impact of EITF No. 01-09 and do not believe that
upon adoption will have a material impact on our financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Markert Risk

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risk related to fluctuations in interest rates,
market prices and foreign currency exchange rates. We address these risks through a risk management program
that includes the use of derivative financial instruments. Under established procedures and controls, we enter into
contractual arrangements or derivatives to hedge our exposure to foreign exchange rate risk. The counter parties
to these contractual arrangements are major financial institutions. We do not use derivative financial instruments
for speculative or trading purposes.

We develop products in the United States and market our products in the United States, Latin America,
Europe, Canada, Asia Pacific and Asia. As a result, our financial results could be affected by factors such as
changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets. Since the majority
of our sales are currently made in U.S. dollars, a strengthening of the dollar could make our products less
competitive in foreign markets. If any of the events described above were to occur, our net sales could be
seriously impacted, since a significant portion of our net sales are derived from international operations. For the
years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, approximately 26%, 22% and 15%, respectively, of our total
net sales were derived from customers outside of the United States. As a result, our U.S. dollar earnings and net
cash flows from international operations may be adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We hedge risks associated with foreign currency transactions in order to minimize the impact of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates on earnings. We utilize forward contracts to hedge our net exposures, by
currency, related to the monetary assets and liabilities of our operations denominated in non-functional currency.
In addition, from time to time, we may enter into forward exchange contracts to establish with certainty the U.S.
dollar amount of future firm commitments denominated in a foreign currency. All hedge instruments are marked
to market through earnings every period. We believe that these forward contracts do not subject us to undue risk
due to foreign exchange movements because gains and losses on these contracts are offset by losses and gains on
the underlying assets and liabilities.

All contracts have a maturity of less than one year and we do not defer any gains and losses, as they are all
accounted for through earnings every period.

The following table provides information about our foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as of
September 30, 2001, (in thousands):

Contract Value

Fair Value
Foreign Currency Buy/Sell Currency USD in USD
JPY e e Buy 100,000 $ 851 $ 849
CAD . Buy 700 $ 446 § 445
SEK .o Buy 4700 § 445 $ 436
BEUR . Buy 3,300 $3,029  $3,042

The fair values were estimated based on market rates, which represent the amounts we would receive if the
instruments were terminated at the balance sheet date. Ariba had no foreign exchange forward contracts in place
prior to fiscal 2001.

Given our foreign exchange position, a ten percent change in foreign exchange rates upon which these
forward exchange contracts are based would result in exchange gains and losses. In all material aspects. these
exchange gains and losses would be fully offset by exchange losses and gains on the underlying net monetary
exposures for which the contracts are designated as hedges. We do not expect material exchange rate gains and
losses from unhedged foreign currency exposures.
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Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to our investment portfolio. We do
not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. The primary objective of our investment
activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. This is
accomplished by investing in widely diversified investments, consisting only of investment grade securities. We
do hold investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning instruments which carry a degree of
interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in
interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall.

Due in part to these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in
interest rates or we may suffer losses in principal if forced to sell securities which have declined in market value
due to changes in interest rates. During the first quarter of fiscal 2001, we entered into a high grade investment at
a cost of $7.0 million, with a maturity date in the first quarter of fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2001, the sale of this
investment resulted in a realized loss of $1.4 million. Our investments may fall short of expectations due to
changes in market conditions and as such we may suffer losses at the time of sale due to the decline in market
value. All investments in the table below are carried at market value, which approximates cost. Our interest rate
risk has been minimal as interest expense related to lease commitments have been immaterial for the year ended

September 30, 2001.

The table below represents principal (or notional) amounts and related weighted-average interest rates by
year of maturity of our investment portfolio (in thousands except for interest rates).

Year Year Year Year Year
ending ending ending ending ending
Sept. 30, Sept. 30, Sept.30, Sept. 30, Sept. 30,

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter Total
Cashequivalents ............... $ 87,534 — — — — — $ 87,534
Average interestrate ............ 342% — — — — — 3.42%
Investments ................... $145931 $21,899 $21,202 — — — $189,032
Average interestrate ............ 381% 6.56% 4.73% — — — 4.23%
Total investment securities ....... $233,464 $21,899 $21,202 — — — $276,566

Note that these amounts exclude equity investments as described below.

Other Investments
Other assets include investments in equity instruments of privately held companies which amounted to
$1.3 million and $30.5 million as of September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These investments are
accounted for using the cost method and consist of common stock, preferred stock and warrants for common
stock. Of these amounts, $715,000 and $13.7 million at September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively, were
received as consideration in connection with software licensing transactions with customers and business

partners.

We determine the fair value for common stock and preferred stock equity investments based on amounts
paid by independent third parties in the investees’ most recent capital transactions. The fair value of the common
stock warrants received is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of these equity
investments in private companies totaled approximately $507,000 and $4.4 million at September 30, 2001 and
2000, respectively. These investments are reviewed each reporting period for declines considered other-than-
temporary, and, if appropriate, written down to their estimated fair value.

During the year ended Septenﬁber 30, 2001, we determined that these investments had incurred a decline in
value that was other-than-temporary and reduced the equity investments to an estimated fair value by a charge of
$28.7 million to the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Equity investments in publicly traded companies for which we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence are classified as available-for-sale and stated at fair value based on quoted market prices. Adjustments
to the fair value of available-for-sale investments are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income

(loss).

During the year ended September 30, 2001, we also sold common stock held in two public companies for
proceeds of approximately $310,000. Common stock in public companies is subject to significant risk based on
the recent volatility of stock markets around the world. As of September 30, 2001 we held one investment in a
publicly traded company totaling approximately $7,400 which is classified as a long-term investment.




ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements, and the related notes thereto, of Ariba and the Report of
Independent Auditors are filed as a part of this Form 10-K.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Ariba, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ariba, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of September 30, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
September 30, 2001. Our audits also included the related financial statement schedule listed in Item 14(a). These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial

statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Ariba, Inc. and subsidiaries at September 30, 2001 and 2000, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
September 30, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
October 19, 2001
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ARIBA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $14,454 and

$13,791 in 2001 and 2000, respectively . . ...,

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total CUTENt @SSELS . . o ittt e
Property and equipment, net
Long-term inVeStMERS . . . ..ottt et e e
Restricted cash
Other assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and related liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Restructuring costs
Deferred revenue
Current portion of other long-term liabilities

Total current labilities . ......... .. ... .. ..
Restructuring costs, net of current portion
Deferred revenue, net of current portion

Other long-term liabilities, net of current portion
Total liabilities

Minority interests

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $.002 par value; 20 million shares authorized; no
shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively .
Common stock, $.002 par value; 1.5 billion shares authorized; 259,850,000
and 247,816,682 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2001
and 2000, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred stock-based compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

September 30, September 30,
2001 2000
$ 71,971 $ 195,241
145,931 84,974
2,800 3,500
27,336 61,892
35,963 26,817
284,001 372,424
50,353 56,049
43,109 53,976
29,771 28,537
3,007 42,754
877,806 3,262,138
$ 1,288,047 $3,815,878
$ 28395 $ 54,458
53,285 54,421
56,072 8,167
18,339 —
70,006 101,245
296 536
226,393 218,827
12,855 —_
107,055 98,457
106 402
346,409 317,686
15,720 —
520 495
4,477,971 4,466,325
(33,023) (130,003)
(1,172} 918)
(3,518,378) (837,707)
925,918 3,498,192
$ 1,288,047 $3,815,878

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ARIBA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999

Revenues:

LACEISE « ottt ettt et ettt e e e $ 269272 $ 198,790 $ 26,768
Maintenance and SELVICE . ... ...v ittt ittt et 139,576 80,249 18,604
TOtal TEVENUES . ..ottt et e 408,848 279,039 45,372

Cost of revenues:

B0 17 5 V=3 < 17,801 12,572 724
Maintenance and service (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of

$3,442, $1,458 and $1,084 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and

1999, respectively) . ..o v i e 68,208 34,947 8,089

Total cOSt Of FEVENUES . . ...\ vttt e e ettt iiae s 86,009 47,519 8,813
Gross Profit ... .oou i e 322,839 231,520 36,559
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of

$13,796, $7,425 and $6,569 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000

and 1999, respectively and exclusive of $34,075 and $29,251 of business

partner warrant expense for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000,

TESPECHIVELY) « .« vttt et 269,686 207,234 33,859
Research and development (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of

$4,009, $3,475 and $2,998 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and

1999, respectiVely) . . oot 90,879 39,017 11,620
General and administrative (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of

$15,389, $5,693 and $3,933 for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000

and 1999, respectively) .. ... i 64,409 29,172 7917
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets ...................... 941,526 688,588 -—
In-process research and development ................ ... ... ... ... ..., — 27,350 —
Business partner WarrantS ... .........uuneernneririi e - 34,075 29,251 —
Stock-based COMPENSAtION . . . ...ttt et 36,636 18,051 14,584
Restructuring and lease abandonmentcosts ............... ...t 133,582 — —
Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and equity investments ....... 1,437,572 — —_
Mergerrelated costs .. .......... .o e 9,185 — —

Total Operating XPemSeS . ...« v vttt itee ettt 3,017,550 1,038,663 67,980

Loss from operations . .............iiiiiiii i (2,694,711) (807,143) (31,421
ItereSt INCOMIE vt ottt e e e e e 18,629 15,748 2,434
Interest eXpense ... ... e (434) (220) (126)
Other inCOmMe (EXPEISE) . .« .ttt ettt et et 2,155 803 (89)
Net loss before INCOME tAXES . . . v ittt e e e e (2,674,361) (790,812)  (29,202)

Provision for income taxes . ....... ... e 6,310 1,963 98

Nt 0SS« ottt e e $(2,680,671) $ (792,775) $(29,300)

Net loss per share—basicand diluted ........ ... ... . ..., $ (10.96) % (4.10) $ (042)

Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share .... $ 244,614 $ 193417 $ 70,064

Comprehensive loss:

Nt 0SS o oottt $(2,680,671) $ (792,775) $(29,300)
Unrealized gain (loss) oninvestments .. .............. .. ... ..o uiinnn.. 2,184 (523) (283)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . .................. ... . . ... (2,438) (174) 1

Other comprehensive loss .. ... .. (254) (697) (282)

$(2,680,925) $ (793,472) $(29,582)

Comprehensive J0SS ... .o ot

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balances at September 30, 1998 ..
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock .. ... ..
Exercise of warrants for common
StOCK ..
Conversion of preferred stock .. ..
Repurchase of common stock .. ..
Deferred stock-based
compensation
Amortization of stock-based
compensation
Unrealized investment loss.
net
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Net loss

Balances at September 30, 1999 ..
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock .. ... ..
Issuance of common stock related
to acquisitions
Exercise of warrants for common
StOCK . ...
Repurchase of common stock .. ..
Deferred stock-based
compensation
Deferred stock-based
compensation related to
acquisition
Business partner warrant
Amortization of stock-based
compensation
Unrealized investment loss,
net
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Net loss

Balances at September 30, 2000 ..
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock . ... ...
Exercise of warrants for common
stock
Repurchase of common stock .. ..
Issuance of restricted stock
Deferred stock-based
compensation, net
Business partner warrant
Amortization of stock-based
compensation
Gain on sale of subsidiaries
common stock
Stockholder contribution
Unrealized investment gain, net . .
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Net loss

Balances at September 30, 2001 ..

ARIBA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Convertible i
Additional Deferred Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-1n Stock-Based Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Shares Amount  Capital Compensation Loss Deficit Equity
4,461,294 $ 9 76368,160 §$152 § 28,104 $ (2,735) $ 61 $ (15632) % 9,959
— — 13,765,792 28 5,948 —_ —_ — 5,976
— —_ 23,028,800 46 121,212 — — — 121,258
— - 2,011,388 4 4) — — _ .
(4.461,294) (9) 71,380,704 142 (133) — —_ —_ —
— — (4,798,580) (8) 4) — — — (12)
— — — —_ 36,027 (36,027) — —_ —
—_— — — — — 14,584 — — 14,584
— — — — — — (283) — (283)
— — —_— — — — 1 — 1
— —_ — — — — — (29,300) (29,300)
— $— 181.756,264 $364 $ 191,150 § (24,178) $(221) % (44932)$ 122,183
— — 12,715,386 25 19,240 — — —
— —_ 6.657.881 13 843,504 — — — 843,517
— — 46,583,322 92 3,333,403 —_ — — 3,333,495
— — 264,779 1 (1) —_ — — —
—_ —_ (160,950 — 77) — — — an
— — — — (744) 744 — — —
— — — — — (124,620) —_ — (124,620)
— —_ — — 79,850 — — —_ 79,850
— — —_ — —_— 18,051 —_ —_ 18,051
— — — — — — (523) — (523)
— — _ — — — (174) _ (174)
— — — — — — — (792,775) (792,775)
—  $— 247,816,682 3$495 $4,466,325 $(130.003) $ (918) 3 (837,707) $ 3,498,192
— —_ 8,161,098 17 21,191 — — — 21,208
— — 1,641,402 3 11,363 — — — 11,366
— — 387.027 1 €3} — — — —
— — (1,898,709) 4) (640) — —_— — (644)
—_ —_ 3,742,500 8 8 — — — —_
— — — — (64,344) 64,344 — — —
— —_ — — 8.485 — — — 8,485
— — — — — 32,636 — — 32,636
— — — — 31,600 —_ — 31,600
— — — — 4,000 — — — 4,000
— —_ — — —_ — 2,184 — 2,184
— — —_— — — — (2,438) — (2,438)
— — — — — — —_ (2.680,671) (2,680,671)
— $— 259,850,000 $520 3$4.477971 § (33.023) $(1,172) $(3.518,378) $§ 925918

|

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ARIBA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999
Operating activities:
N 0SS - ottt ittt e e e e e $(2.680,671) $ (792,775) $ (29,300)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Provisions for doubtful accounts ... ....... .. ... ... .. . i 27,953 14,200 20
Depreciation and amortization ..............c.iuiiiiiiiin s 971,830 696,283 1,417
Stock-based COMPENSAtON . .. ... ..ottt et e 36,636 18,051 14,584
In-process research and development ... ......... ... ... .. .. . L — 27,350 —
Impairment of equity inVEStMENtS .. ........ouuiirnniinnieenineneennen 28,665 — —
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets . ........................ 1,408,907 — —
Impairment of leasehold improvements ................... ... ... . ...... 66,647 — —
Non-cash warrant €Xpense, Nt . . . .. oottt ee i e 34,076 28,278 27
Minority interests in net loss of consolidated subsidiaries .................... (4,632) — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
AcCCounts receivable ... ... . e e e 4,955 (61,092) (3,048)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets .............. ... ... ... i 992 42,074) (1,756)
Accounts payable ... ... e (26,841) 49,544 2,884
Accrued compensation and related liabilities . .............. .. ... ... oL (5,136) 42,947 5,255
Accrued liabilities . . . .. ..o o e 63,584 (17,454) 3,570
ReStructuring COStS . . ..ottt e e e e 31,194 — —
Deferred revenue .. ... ... e e (22,641) 146,739 26,795
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ........................... (64,482) 110,997 20,448
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment, net of acquisitions .................... (91,255) (47,186) (7,581)
Proceeds from the sales of investments . .................. ... ... .. ... 211,475 109,960 10,069
Purchase of investments . ............coiiininiii i (259,379) - (133,299) (106,880)
Cash acquired from acquisitions . . .. ....... ... i i — 104,480 —
DiIrect METer COSES . .. vttt ettt e e e e — (43,566) —
Increase inrestricted cash . ... .. .. . . i (534) (31,237) (800)
Net cash used in investing activities . . . ......... i (139,693) (40,848) (105,192)
Financing activities: ‘
Principal payments on lease obligations . . .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... (537) (794) (499)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock . ........ ... .. .. . i 32,574 75,853 127,234
Proceeds from subsidiary stock offering ............. ... .. oL 51,951 — —
Repurchase of common stock ... ... ..o (644) an (12)
Net cash provided by financing activities . .. ......... .. ... iiiiineinn.. 83,344 74,982 126,723
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . ..................... ... (120,831) 145,131 41,979
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents ........................ (2,439) (174) —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year ............ ... ... 195,241 50,284 8,305
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ................ccciiiviiiinrinnn.. $ 71971 $ 195241 §$ 50284
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest . ... ...t e e $ 415 § 194 8 100
Cash paid fOr tAXES - . .\ v\ttt e et e ettt e e e e e $ 1,190 $ 134§ —
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Assets recorded under capital leases . ......... ... il S —  $ — § 1021
Common stock and options issued for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ...... .. $ —  $3,229,015 $ —
Common stock issued for intellectual property, net of cash acquired ........... $ — $ 786929 § —
Stockholder contribution .. ....... ... e $ 4,000 % — % —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ARIBA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Ariba, Inc., along with its subsidiaries {(collectively referred to herein as the “Company”), provides software,
services and network access to enable corporations to evaluate and manage the cash costs associated with
running their business. The Company’s products are designed to integrate with its customers’ existing
applications and infrastructure to enable them to more quickly realize savings. The Company was founded in
September 1996 and from that date through March 1997 was in the development stage, conducting research and
developing its initial products. In March 1997, the Company began selling its products and related services and
currently markets them in the United States, Canada, Europe, Latin America, Asia and Asia Pacific primarily
through its direct sales force and indirect sales channels.

Acquisitions

To date, business combinations have been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The
Company includes the results of operations of the acquired business from the acquisition date. Net assets of the
companies acquired are recorded at their fair value at the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price over
the fair value of net assets acquired is included in goodwill and other intangible assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. Amounts allocated to in-process research and development are expensed in the period
in which the acquisition is consummated.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As of September 31,
2001, the Company had two subsidiaries with less than 100% ownership, Nihon Ariba K.K and Ariba Korea, Ltd.
In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin, (SAB) 51, the Company has recorded the gains from sales of
subsidiary stock as a capital transaction.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
results of operations during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In particular,
actual sublease income attributable to the consolidation of excess facilities might deviate from the assumptions
used to calculate the Company’s accrual for lease abandonment costs.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of 90 days or less at the
date of acquisition to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds, commercial paper,
government/federal notes and bonds, certificates of deposit, and auction rate preferred stock. Restricted cash
comprises amounts held in deposits that are required as collateral under the Company’s facilities operating lease
agreement.

Investments

The Company’s marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale as of the balance sheet date and are
reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, recorded in stockholders’ equity. Realized
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gains or losses and permanent declines in value, if any, on available-for-sale securities will be reported in other
income or expense as incurred. The Company uses the cost method to account for certain equity securities in
which it has a minority interest and does not exercise significant influence. The Company periodically reviews

these investments for other-than-temporary impairment.

Fair value of financial instruments and concentration of credit risk

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents,
investments, accounts receivable and long-term debt, approximates fair value. Financial instruments that subject
the company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, investments and trade
accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents and investments with high quality
financial institutions. The Company’s customer base consists of businesses in North America, Europe, Middle
East, Asia, and Latin America. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally
does not require collateral on accounts receivable. The Company maintains allowances for potential credit losses.
Historically, such losses have been within management’s expectations.

Significant customer information is as follows:

% of Total % of Accounts
Revenues Receivable
2001 2000 1995 2001 2000 1999

CUSIOMIET A Lot e e e e —_ - 12% — — —
Customer B . ... . —_ = = = - 11%
Customer C .. ... _ = = = = 12%
Customer D . ... o e —_ = - — 12% —
CustomerE ... .. . —_ - - 11% — —

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of reducing its exposure to adverse
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. While these hedging instruments are subject to fluctuations in value, such
fluctuations are generally offset by the value of the underlying exposures being hedged. The Company is not a
party to leveraged derivatives and does not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Foreign currency management

The Company routinely uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its net exposures, by currency, related to
the monetary assets and liabilities of its operations denominated in non-functional currency. The Company
utilizes forward exchange contracts to hedge trade and intercompany receivables and payables. In addition, from
time to time, the Company may enter into forward exchange contracts to establish with certainty the U.S. dollar
amount of future firm commitments denominated in a foreign currency. The primary business objective of this
hedging program is to minimize the gains and losses resulting from exchange rate changes.

All hedge contracts are marked to market through earnings every period. The forward foreign exchange
contracts require the Company to exchange foreign currencies for U.S. dollars or vice versa and generally mature
in one month or less. As of September 30, 2001, the Company had $4.8 million of outstanding foreign exchange
contracts in Canadian Dollars (CAD), Swedish Krona (SEK), Japanese Yen (JPY) and European Currency Units
(EURO), that had remaining maturities of one month or less. As of September 30, 2000, the Company had no

outstanding foreign exchange contracts.
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Adoption of accounting standard

In the first quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company adopted the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, (SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 133 which
establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities related
to those instruments, as well as other hedging activities. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS No. 133 which
occurred in the quarter ended December 2000, did not have a material impact on the Company's financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization are
computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally two
to five years, or the lease term, if applicable. Gains and losses on disposals are included in income at amounts
equal to the difference between the net book value of the disposed assets and the proceeds received upon
disposal. Expenditures for replacements and betterments are capitalized, while expenditures for maintenance and
repairs are charged against earnings as incurred.

Software developed for internal use

During fiscal 2000, the Company adopted Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, which requires that certain costs for the
development of internal use software should be capitalized, including the costs of coding, software configuration,
upgrades and enhancements. Approximately $4.4 million and $4.8 million of internal use software was
capitalized during the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively, which is presented on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as a component of property and equipment.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company periodically assesses the impairment of long-lived assets, including identifiable intangibles
and related goodwill, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of. The Company also periodically assesses the
impairment of enterprise level goodwill in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB)
Opinion No. 17, Intangible Assets. An impairment review is performed whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors the Company considers important
which could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance relative
to historical or expected operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the
strategy for the Company’s overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, a significant
decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period, and the Company’s market capitalization relative to
net book value. When the Company determines that the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable, the
Company measures any impairment using a projected discounted cash flow model with a discount rate
commensurate with the risk inherent in the Company’s current business model.

Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue consists of fees for licenses of the Company’s software products, maintenance,
hosted services, customer training and consulting. Cost of license revenue primarily includes product, delivery
and royalty costs. Cost of maintenance and service revenue consists primarily of labor costs for engineers
performing implementation services and technical support and training personnel and facilities and equipment
cost.

The Company’s Ariba Enterprise Spend Management solution consists of three component solutions: Ariba
Analysis, Ariba Enterprise Sourcing and Ariba Procurement. The Company’s primary software products in fiscal

61




2001 were Ariba Buyer, Ariba Sourcing, Ariba Dynamic Trade and Ariba Marketplace. Ariba Enterprise
Sourcing, which was introduced in late fiscal 2001, is derived from Ariba Dynamic Trade and Ariba Sourcing,
which are still available as separate products. Ariba Sourcing and Ariba Marketplace are also available as hosted
applications. The Company’s primary products in fiscal 2000 were Ariba Buyer and, to a lesser extent, Ariba
Marketplace, and the Company’s primary product in fiscal 1999 was Ariba Buyer.

The Company licenses its products through its direct sales force and indirectly through resellers. The
Company’s license agreements for such products do not provide for a right of return, and historically product
returns have not been significant. The Company does not recognize revenue for refundable fees or agreements
with cancellation rights until such rights to refund or cancellation have expired. The products are either
purchased under a perpetual license model or under a time-based license model. Access to the Ariba Supplier
Network, formerly known as the Ariba Commerce Services Network, is available to all Ariba customers as part
of their maintenance agreements. The Company does not expect to generate significant revenues from offering
access to its Ariba Supplier Network.

The Company recognizes revenue on its software products in accordance with Statement of Position
(SOP) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9. The Company also adopted
Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements in the first quarter of fiscal
2001. The adoption of SAB 101 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists; delivery of ‘the product has occurred; no significant obligations by the Company with
regard to implementation remain; the fee is fixed and determinable; and collectibility is probable. The Company
considers all arrangements with payment terms extending beyond one year to not be fixed and determinable, and
revenue is recognized as payments become due from the customer. If collectibility is not considered probable,

revenue is recognized when the fee is collected.

SOP 97-2, as amended, generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple
elements to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair values of the elements. Revenue recognized
from multiple-element arrangements is allocated to undelivered elements of the arrangement, such as
maintenance and support services and professional services, based on the relative fair values of the elements
specific to the Company. The Company’s determination of fair value of each element in multi-element
arrangements is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE). The Company limits its assessment of
VSOE for each element to either the price charged when the same element is sold separately or the price
established by management, having the relevant authority to do so, for an element not yet sold separately.

If evidence of fair value of all undelivered elements exists but evidence does not exist for one or more
delivered elements, then revenue is recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair
value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as
revenue. Revenue allocated to maintenance and support is recognized ratably over the maintenance term
(typically one year) and revenue allocated to training and other service elements is recognized as the services are
performed. Revenue from hosted applications is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement. The
proportion of revenue recognized upon delivery may vary from quarter to quarter depending upon the relative
mix of licensing arrangements and the availability of vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for

undelivered elements.

Certain of the Company’s perpetual and time-based licenses include unspecified additional products and/or
payment terms that extend beyond twelve months. The Company recognizes revenue from perpetual and time-
based licenses that include unspecified additional software products ratably over the term of the arrangement.
Revenue from those contracts with extended payment terms is recognized at the lesser of amounts due and
payable or the amount of the arrangement fee that would have been recognized if the fee was fixed or

determinable.
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Arrangements that include consulting services are evaluated to determine whether those services are
essential to the functionality of other elements of the arrangement. When services are not considered essential,
the revenue allocable to the software services is recognized as the services are performed. If the Company
provides consulting services that are considered essential to the functionality of the software products, both the
software product revenue and service revenue are recognized in accordance with the provisions of SOP 81-1,
Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts. Such contracts
typically consist of implementation management services and are generally on a time and materials basis. These
arrangements occur infrequently as implementation of the Company’s products is typically managed by third

party consultants.

The Company’s customers include certain suppliers from whom, on occasion, the Company has purchased
goods or services for the Company’s operations at or about the same time the Company has licensed its software
to these organizations. These transactions are separately negotiated and recorded at terms the Company considers
to be arm’s-length. During the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company recognized an immaterial amount
of software license revenues from such transactions. The Company did not have any of these transactions in

fiscal 2000 or fiscal 1999.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable include amounts due from customers for which revenue has been recognized. Deferred
revenue includes amounts received from customers for which revenue has not been recognized that generally
results from deferred maintenance and support, consulting or training services not yet rendered and license
revenue deferred until all requirements under SOP 97-2 are met. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue upon
delivery of our product, as services are rendered, or as other requirements requiring deferral under SOP 97-2 are

satisfied.

Research and development

In accordance with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed, software development costs are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has
been established, at which time such costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to
customers. To date, the Company’s software has been available for general release concurrent with the
establishment of technological feasibility and, accordingly, no development costs have been capitalized.

Advertising expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $2.2 million, $7.6 million and $129,000 during the
years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Stock-based compensation

The Company accounts for its employee stock-based compensation plans in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25 (APB Opinion No. 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No. 44 (FIN 44), Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation—an
Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25, and complies with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 (SFAS
No. 123), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Accordingly, no compensation cost is recognized for any
of the Company’s fixed stock options granted to employees when the exercise price of each option equals or
exceeds the fair value of the underlying common stock as of the grant date for each stock option. The Company
accounts for equity instruments issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 and
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.
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Equity instruments received in conjunction with licensing transactions

Equity instruments received in conjunction with licensing transactions are recorded at their estimated fair
market value and included in the measurement of the related license revenue in accordance with EITF No. 00-8,
Accounting by a Grantee for an Equity Investment to Be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods and

Services.

Income taxes

Income taxes are computed using an asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of taxes
payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of
events that have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements or tax returns. The
measurement of current and deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on provisions of the enacted tax law; the
effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipated. The measurement of deferred tax assets is reduced,
if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.

Net loss per share

Net loss per share is calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. Under the provisions
of SFAS No. 128, basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders
for the period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, excluding
shares subject to repurchase and in escrow related to acquisitions. Diluted net loss per share is computed by
dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted average number of common and potential common shares
outstanding during the period if their effect is dilutive. Potential common shares are comprised of shares of
restricted common stock, shares held in escrow, and incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of

stock options and warrants.

Comprehensive income

The Company reports comprehensive income or loss in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 130,
Reporting Comprehensive Income. SFAS No. 130 establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income and
its components in financial statements. Comprehensive income or loss, as defined, includes all changes in equity
(net assets) during a period from non-owner sources. Tax effects of other comprehensive income or loss are not

considered material for any period.

Foreign currency translation

The Company translates the assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries whose functional currency is
the local currency rather than the U.S. dollar, into dollars at the current rates of exchange in effect at the balance
sheet date. Local functional currencies used in non-US subsidiaries consist of the following: Argentina (ARS),
Australia (AUD), Brazil (BRL), Canada (CAD), European Union, (EURQ), Hong Kong (HKD), Italy (ITL),
India (INR), Japan (JPY), Korea (KRW), Mexico (MXN), New Zealand (NZD), Singapore (SGD), Sweden
(SEK), Switzerland (CHF), Taiwan (TWD) and United Kingdom (GBP). Revenues and expenses are translated
using rates that approximate those in effect during the period. Gains and losses from translation adjustments are
included in stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheet caption “Accumulated other comprehensive
loss.” Currency transaction gains or losses, derived on monetary assets and liabilities stated in a currency other
than the functional currency, are recognized in current operations and have not been significant to the Company’s

operating results in any period.

Segment and geographic information

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information. This Statement establishes standards for the way companies report information about operating
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segments in annual financial statements. It also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and
services, geographic areas and major customers. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 131, the
Company has determined that it does not have separately reportable operating segments. The Company operates
in one principal business segment across domestic and international markets. Substantially all of the Company’s

identifiable assets are in the United States.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications, none of which affected net income, have been made to prior year amounts to
conform to the current year presentation.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 141 also specifies criteria for determining intangible assets
acquired in a purchase method business combination that must be recognized and reported apart from goodwill,
noting that any purchase price allocable to an assembled workforce may not be accounted for separately.
SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized,
but instead be tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142.
SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with definite useful lives be amortized over their respective
estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with
SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed
Of. The Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 141 immediately, and SFAS No. 142 effective
October 1, 2002. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1,
2001 will continue to be amortized prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142. The adoption of SFAS No. 141 did
not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Because of the extensive
effort needed to comply with adopting SFAS No. 142, which the Company will adopt by October 1, 2002, it is
not practicable to reasonably estimate the impact of adopting this Statement on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements at the date of this report, including whether any transitional impairment losses will be
required to be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which supersedes both SFAS Statement No. 121, Accounting for
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of and the accounting and
reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions, for the disposal of a segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). SFAS No. 144
retains the fundamental provisions in SFAS No. 121 for recognizing and measuring impairment losses on long-
lived assets held for use and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, while also resolving significant
implementation issues associated with SFAS No. 121. For example, SFAS No. 144 provides guidance on how a
long-lived asset that is used as part of a group shouid be evaluated for impairment, establishes criteria for when a
long-lived asset is held for sale, and prescribes the accounting for a long-lived asset that will be disposed of other
than by sale. SFAS No. 144 retains the basic provisions of APB No. 30 on how to present discontinued
operations in the statement of operations but broadens that presentation to include a component of an entity
(rather than a segment of a business). Unlike SFAS No. 121, an impairment assessment under SFAS No. 144 will
never result in a write-down of goodwill. Rather, goodwill is evaluated for impairment under SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 144 no later than the fiscal
year beginning after December 15, 2001, and plans to adopt its provisions for the quarter ending December 31,
2002. Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 144 to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements related to long-lived assets held for use because the impairment assessment under SFAS
No. 144 is largely unchanged from SFAS No. 121. The provisions of SFAS No. 144 for assets held for sale or
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other disposal generally are required to be applied prospectively after the adoption date to newly initiated
disposal activities. Therefore, management cannot determine the potential effects that adoption of SFAS No. 144

will have on the Company’s financial statements.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reachéd consensus on EITF No. 01-9,
Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products.
EITF No. 01-9 addresses the accounting for consideration given by a vendor to a customer and is a codification
of EITF No. 00-14, Accounting for Certain Sales Incentives, EITF No. 00-22, Accounting for ‘Points’ and

Certain Other Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentives Offers and Offers for Free Products or Services to
be Delivered in the Future, and EITF No. 00-25, Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration

Paid to a Reseller of the Vendor's Products. The Company is evaluating the impact of EITF No. 01-9 and does
not believe that upon adoption it will have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Note 2—Balance Sheet Components
Accounts receivable consisted of the following as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

September 30,
2001 2000
$ 41,790 $ 75,683

Allowance for doubtful accounts ............. .ot (14,454) (13,791
$27,336 $ 61,892

The provision for doubtful accounts amounted to approximately $27.9 million and $14.2 million for the
years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and is classified as a sales and marketing expense in the

Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 (in
thousands):

September 30,
2001 2000
Business partnerreceivable . ... ... ... e $20,000 $13,750
Other receivables . . . oo o e e 5,149 5,269
Prepaid rent ... .. ... e 4,659 3,952
Other prepaid EXPEMSES . .. v vt vt ittt ittt e et et e 6,155 3,846
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets .................c..coveen .. $35,963 $26,817

In the quarter ended June 30, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party. The business
partner relationship was undertaken as part of the Company’s vertical industry strategy to obtain a major partner
in the financial services industry. The agreement provides that the Company will receive $25.0 million in
guaranteed gainshare revenues to be paid over a period of two years and as of September 30, 2001, $20.0 million
remains outstanding to be collected. As of September 30, 2000, $13.8 million represented the current portion of
the guaranteed gainshare and the non-current portion of $11.2 million is classified as other assets. See Note 10 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of this arrangement.

Other receivables for fiscal 2001 and 2000 primarily consists of interest receivable and employee advances.
Other prepaid expenses for fiscal 2001 and 2000 consists of prepaid software licenses and maintenance for
software for internal use and prepaid royalties.
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Property and equipment consisted of the following as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

September 30,

2001 2000
Computer equipment and SOftWare ................ .. i ittt $41,182 $26,250
Office equipment ... ..o 8,910 4,233
Furniture and fIXEHEES . ..ottt et e e e 17,131 3,825
Leasehold improvements .. ... ... ... i B 21,913 31,609

89,136 65917
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .............. ... oo (38,783)  (9,868)

$ 50,353 $56,049

Total property and eQUIPTIENt, NEL . . .. ... .. i vt

During the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $66.6 million related to the
impairment of leasehold improvements of abandoned facilities. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for more detailed information.

Certain computer equipment, software and office equipment are recorded under capital leases that
aggregated $1.3 million as of September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. As of September 30, 2001 and 2000,
property and equipment under capital leases carried a net book value of $0 and $344,000, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment totaled $28.9 million, $7.7 million and
$1.4 million for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):
September 30,
2001 2000

Professional and consulting fees . ... ... . i e e $2932 $ —
Accrued marketing €XPEISES .. ..ttt it e 10,511 —
CUStOMEr dEPOSILS . . . ottt e e e e 12,082 —

ACCTUEA LAXS « ot vttt e et e e e e e e s

[ 81515 g = o I =)+ GV O PP 5,823 2,064

Other accrued 11abilities ... ..ottt i e e 11,375 1,120

Total accrued Habilities . . oo v vt et e e e e e e $56,072 $8,167
Note 3—Investments

The following is a summary of available for sale securities as of September 30, 2001 and 2000
(in thousands):

September 30, 2001
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Money market funds ...........coiirirri $ 52,843 $ — $ — $ 52,843
Certificate of deposit .............. . i, 63,618 — — 63,618
Governmentnotesandbonds . . ... ... ... . L. 41,598 1,085 — 42,683
Corporate notes/bonds . ... 78,644 1,407 — 80,051
Auction rate preferred stock .............. ..l 4,800 —_ — 4,800
Equity investments in public companies ................... 1,061 — (1,053) 7
$242,563 $2,493 $(1,053)  $244,002
Included in cash and cash equivalents . .................... $ 54,963 $ — § — $ 54,963
Included in short-term investments .. ..................... 145,127 804 — 145,931
Included in long-term investments ....................... 42,474 1,689 (1,053) 43,109

$242,563 $2,493 $(1,053)  $244,002
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September 30, 2000

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Money market funds .......... .. ..o $185,055 § — § —  $185055
Certificate of deposit . .......... ... . 3,003 — — 3,003
Commercial paper ............c.coiiviiiiiiiin.n 9,770 — — 9,770
Governmentnotesandbonds ..................... 54,156 122 (137) 54,141
Corporate notes/bonds ........... ... ... i 66,600 121 (153) 66,568
Auction rate preferred stock ........... .. ... . ... .. 11,690 — (28) 11,662
Equity investments in public companies ............. 1,371 316 (985) 702
$331,645 $559 $(1,303) $330,901
Included in cash and cash equivalents . .............. $191,932 $ 17 3 — $191,949
Included in short-term investments ................. 85,078 33 (137) 84,974

54,633 509 (1,166) 53,976
$331,645 $559 $(1,303) $330,899

Included in long-term investments .................

The following is a summary of the Company’s available for sale securities, excluding equity investments,
based on contractual maturities. (in thousands):

September 30,
2001 2000

$145,931 § 84,974
21,899 43,957
21,202 9,319

$189,032 $138,250

Dueinone year orless . ........c.iuiieinntn e e
Due after one year through two years ........ .. .. i,
Due after two years through three years .......... ... ... ..o v

Note 4—QOther Assets

Other assets include investments in equity instruments of privately held companies which amounted to
$1.3 million and $30.5 million as of September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These investments are
accounted for using the cost method and consist of common stock, preferred stock and warrants for common
stock. Of these amounts, $715,000 and $13.7 million at September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively, were
received as consideration in connection with software licensing transactions with customers and business

partners.

The Company determines the fair value for common stock and preferred stock equity investments based on
amounts paid by independent third parties in the investees’ most recent capital transactions. The fair value of the
commen stock warrants received is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of
these warrant investments in private companies totaled approximately $507,000 and $4.4 million at
September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These investments are reviewed each reporting period for declines
considered other-than-temporary, and, if appropriate, written down to their estimated fair value.

During the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company determined that these investments had incurred a
decline in value that was other-than-temporary primarily as a result of the continuing economic slowdown,
particularly in the technology sector. An impairment review is performed whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the Company’s equity investments may not be recoverable.
Factors the Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited
to, significant underperformance relative to historical or expected operating resuits of the Company’s
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investees, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s
overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends. The Company determined that the carrying
value of the equity investments had a decline that was other than temporary based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impairment. The impairment charge reduced the equity investments to an
estimated fair value consistent with the general economic environment within the technology sector resulting in a
charge of $28.7 million to the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Note 5S—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 consisted of the following (in
thousands):

September 30,
2001 2000

GoodWill .. e $ 907,103 $3,101,697
Assembled workforce ... ... e 11,127 13,000
Covenants MOt-tO-COMPELE . . . . .ottt et et it eae s 1,300 1,300
Trademarks . ... ot e —_ 2,000
Core technology ... ...t e 17,392 20,200
Intellectual property agreement . .. ........cvurvien e 786,929 786,929
Business partner Warrants . ............ ..o 11 31,221

1,723,862 3,956,347
Less: accumulated amortization . ........... ...t (846,056)  (694,209)
Goodwill and other intangible assets,net ........ ... ... ..., $ 877,806 $3,262,138

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets was $967.1 million and $694.2 million for the years
ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These amounts include $25.6 million and $5.6 million of
business partner warrant expense and related impairment charges recorded for the years ended September 30,

2001 and 2000, respectively.

Acquisitions
TradingDynamics

On January 20, 2000. the Company acquired TradingDynamics, Inc. (“TradingDynamics™), which provided
Internet-based trading applications. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting
and accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values on the acquisition date. Since January 20, 2000, TradingDynamics’ results of operations
have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair value of the intangible
assets acquired was determined based upon a valuation using a combination of methods, including a cost
approach for the assembled workforce, an income approach for the covenants not-to-compete and an income

approach for the core technology.

The purchase price of approximately $465.0 million consisted of an exchange of 7,274,656 shares of the
Company’s common stock with a fair value of $371.9 million, and assumed stock options with a fair value of
$91.7 million. The fair value of the common stock options was determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: risk-free rate of 6.53%, expected life of 3.0 years, expected dividend rate
of 0%, and volatility of 96%. There were also $1.4 million of direct transaction costs related to the merger,
consisting primarily of payments for financial advisor and other professional fees. Of the total purchase price,
$224,000 was allocated to property and equipment, $13.4 million was allocated to net liabilities assumed,
excluding property and equipment, and the remainder was allocated to intangible assets, including in-process
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research and development ($950,000), core technology ($4.4 million), covenants not-to-compete ($1.3 miliion),
assembled workforce ($1.1 million) and goodwill ($470.5 million). The acquired in-process research and
development related to the acquisition are technologies representing the processes and expertise employed to
design and develop electronic commerce solutions. As of the acquisition date, this in-process research and
development consisted of TradingDynamics® Market Suite Product Version 1.5. The Company determined the
acquired in-process research and development had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative
future uses based on a review by the Company’s software engineers. The efforts required to complete the
acquired in-process research and development included the completion of all planning, designing and testing
activities that were necessary to establish that the product would be produced to meet its design requirements,
including functions, features and technical performance requirements. As of September 30, 2000, the Company
had incorporated and released this technology as its Dynamic Trade product.

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was computed using a discounted rate of
25% on the anticipated income stream of the related product revenues. The discount rate was applied giving
specific consideration to the risks and attributes of the subject assets. The discounted cash flow analysis was
based on management’s forecast of future revenues which assumed a compound annual growth rate of 151%.
These forecasts were based on management’s estimates and the growth potential of the market. The discounted
cash flow analysis was also based on management’s forecast of cost of revenues and operating expenses related
to the products and technologies purchased from TradingDynamics. The calculation of value was then adjusted to
reflect only the value creation efforts of TradingDynamics prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the
acquisition, the product was approximately 90% complete. The remaining costs to complete the project, which
were not significant, were incurred in fiscal 2000. The resultant value of in-process research and development
was further reduced by the estimated value of core technology and was expensed in the period the transaction
was consummated. The acquired intangible assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of three
years. Goodwill is being amortized using the straight-line method over three years, resulting in an aggregate
quarterly charge of $39.7 million during the amortization period, subject to the effects of certain new accounting
pronouncements as described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For the year ended
September 30, 2001, amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets associated with this acquisition totaled

$159.4 million.

The following is a summary of the allocation of the purchase price in the acquisition of TradingDynamics
(in thousands):

Property and eqUipment .. ... ... .. $ 224
Net liabilities assumed, excluding property and equipment .......................... (13,447)
Identifiable intangible aSSEtS ... ....... .. ot 6,800
In-process research and development ............. ... .. i 950
Goodwill .............. PR 470,537

T O Al o $465,064

Tradex Technologies, Inc.

On March 8§, 2000, the Company acquired Tradex Technologies, Inc. (“Tradex”), which provided solutions
for enabling online marketplaces and exchanges. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting and accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. Since March 8, 2000, the results of operations of Tradex
have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair value of the intangible
assets was determined based upon a valuation using a combination of methods, including an income approach for
the core technology, an income approach for the trademarks and a cost approach for the assembled workforce.

The purchase price of approximately $2.3 billion consisted of an exchange of 34,059,336 shares of the
Company’s common stock with a fair value of $2.1 billion and assumed stock options with a fair value of
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approximately $207.5 million. The fair value of the common stock options was determined using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk free rate of 6.55%, expected life of 3.0 years,
expected dividend rate of 0%, and volatility of 96%. There were also $28.8 million of direct transaction costs
related to the merger, consisting primarily of payments for financial advisor and other professional fees. Of the
total purchase price, $3.5 million was allocated to property and equipment, $75.6 million was allocated to net
assets acquired, excluding property and equipment, and the remainder was allocated to intangible assets,
including in-process research and development ($11.8 million), core technology ($7.9 million), trademarks
($2.0 million), assembled workforce ($5.4 million) and goodwill ($2.2 billion). There was one project included in
in-process research and development for Tradex. The acquired in-process research and development related to
the acquisition are technologies representing the processes and expertise employed to design and develop
completely new platform architecture based on Enterprise Java Beans, Uses XML documents, and Use of Entity
Beans. As of the acquisition date, this in-process research and development consisted of Tradex’s product,
Commerce Center Version 8.0. The Company determined that the acquired in-process research and development
had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses based on a review by the Company’s
software engineers. The efforts required to complete the acquired in-process research and development included
the completion of all planning, designing and testing activities that are necessary to establish that the product can
be produced to meet its design requirements, including functions, features and technical performance
requirements. As of September 30, 2000, the Company had incorporated and released this technology as its Ariba
Marketplace Standard Edition product.

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was computed using a discounted rate of
22% on the anticipated income stream of the related product revenues. The discount rate was applied giving
specific consideration to the risks and attributes of the subject assets. The discounted cash flow analysis was
based on management’s forecast of future revenues which assumed a compound annual growth rate of 87.6%.
These forecasts were based on management’s estimates and the estimated growth potential of the market. The
discounted cash flow analysis was also based on management’s forecast of cost of revenues and operating
expenses related to the products and technologies purchased from Tradex. The calculation of value was then
adjusted to reflect only the value creation efforts of Tradex prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the
acquisition, the product was approximately 33% complete with approximately $693,000 in estimated costs
remaining, substantially all of which were incurred in fiscal 2000. The resultant value of in-process research and
development was further reduced by the estimated value of core technology. The acquired in-process research
and development was expensed in the period the transaction was consummated. Subsequent to the impairment
charge discussed below, the acquired Tradex intangible assets are being amortized over their remaining estimated
useful lives of two years, subject to the effects of certain new accounting pronouncements as described in Note 1
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For the year ended September 30, 2001, amortization of goodwill
and other intangible assets associated with this acquisition totaled $371.8 million.

The following is a summary of the allocation of the purchase price in the acquisition of Tradex (in
thousands):

Property and eQUIPIMENE . ... ... vttt e e S 3,502
Net assets assumed, excluding property and equipment . ..., 75,679
Identifiable intangible @ssels .. .. .. ..ottt e e 15,300
In-process research and development . ................oo ittt 11,800
GooAWill .o e 2,185,000

8 o3 21 $2,291,281
SupplierMarket

On August 28, 2000, the Company acquired SupplierMarket.com, Inc. (“SupplierMarket”), a provider of
online collaborative sourcing technologies. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
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accounting and accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. Since August 28, 2000, the results of operations of
SupplierMarket have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair value of
the intangible assets was determined based upon a valuation using a combination of methods, including an
income approach for the in-process and core technology, and a cost approach for the value of the assembled

workforce.

The total purchase price of approximately $607.1 million consisted of an exchange of 5,249,330 shares of
the Company’s common stock with a fair value of $478.7 million and assumed stock options with a fair value of
approximately $108.4 million. The fair value of the common stock options was determined using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free rate of 6.13%, expected life of 3.0 years,
expected dividend rate of 0%, and volatility of 102%. There were also $20.0 million of direct transaction costs
related to the merger, consisting primarily of payments for financial advisor and other professional fees. Of the
total purchase price, $3.1 million was allocated to property and equipment, $4.2 million was allocated to net
assets acquired, excluding property and equipment, $124.6 million was allocated to deferred compensation and
the remainder was allocated to intangible assets, including in-process research and development ($14.6 million),
core technology ($7.9 million), assembled workforce ($6.5 million) and goodwill ($446.1 million). There was
one project included in in-process research and development for SupplierMarket. The acquired in-process
research and development related to the acquisition are technologies representing the processes and expertise
employed to design and develop new application servers with increased scalability and customer functionality.
As of the acquisition date, SupplierMarket had yet to commence shipments of its products and this in-process
research and development consisted of its new product architecture. The Company determined the acquired in-
process research and development had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses
based on a review by the Company’s software engineers. The efforts required to complete the acquired in-process
research and development included the completion of all planning, designing and testing activities that are
necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet its design requirements, including functions,
features and technical performance requirements. During the quarter ended December 31, 2000, the Company
imcorporated and released this research and development as its sourcing product.

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was computed using a discounted rate of
19% on the anticipated income stream of the related product revenues. The discount rate was applied giving
specific consideration to the risks and attributes of the subject assets. The discounted cash flow analysis was
based on management’s forecast of future revenues which assumed a compound annual growth rate of 131.79%.
These forecasts were based on management’s estimates and the growth potential of the market. The discounted
cash flow analysis was also based on management’s forecast of cost of revenues and operating expenses related
to the products and technologies purchased from SupplierMarket. The calculation of value was then adjusted to
reflect only the value creation efforts of SupplierMarket prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the
acquisition, the product was approximately 53% complete with approximately $158,000 in estimated costs
remaining, all of which were incurred by the end of the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2000. The resultant
value of in-process research and development was further reduced by the estimated value of core technology. The
acquired in-process research and development was expensed in the period the transaction was consummated.

The Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation associated with unvested stock options issued to
employees in conjunction with the acquisition. This amount is included as a component of stockholders’ equity
and is being amortized by charges to operations over the vesting period of the options, consistent with the
method described in Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 28. The amortization for the year
ended September 30, 2001 is approximately $23.8 million.

The acquired intangible assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of three years. Goodwill
is being amortized using the straight-line method over three years, resulting in an aggregate quarterly charge of
$37.2 million during the amortization period, subject to the effects of certain new accounting pronouncements as
described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For the year ended September 30, 2001,
amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets associated with this acquisition totaled $148.3 million.
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The following is a summary of the allocation of the purchase price in the acquisition of SupplierMarket (in
thousands):

Property and QUIPHIENT . . . . ...t e e e ettt e e $ 3,165
Net assets assumed, excluding property and equipment ............... ... ...ouovn... 4,228
Deferred compensation ........... ...t e 124,620
Identifiable intangible @SSets . ... ... .ttt e 14,400
In-process research and development . ........ ... ... .. ... i i 14,600
GoodwWill . .o e e e 446,158

) $607,171

No assurance can be given that actual revenues and operating profit attributable to acquired in-process
research and development will not deviate from the projections used to value such research and development in
connection with each of the respective acquisitions. Ongoing operations and financial results for acquired
businesses and the Company as a whole are subject to a variety of factors which may not have been known or

estimable at the date of such acquisition.

Pro Forma Results (Unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents the Company’s consolidated results of operations for
the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 as if the preceding three acquisitions had been consummated at the
beginning of fiscal 1999. The pro forma consolidated results of operations for the year ended September 30, 2000
include certain adjustments, including amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets, amortization of
deferred compensation, the elimination of the charge for acquired in-process research and development and
inclusion of the preferred stock dividend payable for the Tradex acquisition.

Pro forma resuits for the years ended September 33, 2000 and 1999 are as follows (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

2000 1999
REVENUES . ..ttt e e $ 290,972 $ 50,621
NEELOSS © v oottt e e e $(1,390,223) $(1,163,090)
Net loss per share basicand diluted . .............................. $ (579 § (10.40)

The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of those that would have actually occurred had the
acquisitions taken place at the beginning of fiscal 1999.

Impairment

During the second quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company performed an impairment assessment of goodwill
and identifiable intangible assets recorded in connection with its various acquisitions. The assessment was
performed primarily due to the significant decline in the Company’s stock price, the net book value of assets
significantly exceeding the Company’s market capitalization, the significant underperformance of the Tradex
acquisition relative to projections and the overall decline in industry growth rates which indicated that this trend
might continue for an indefinite period. As a result, the Company recorded a $1.4 billion impairment charge in
the quarter ended March 31, 2001 to reduce goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the Tradex
acquisition to their estimated fair value. The estimate of fair value was based upon the discounted estimated cash
flows from the sale of the Marketplace Standard Edition product for the succeeding three years using a discount
rate of 18% and an estimated terminal value. The assumptions supporting the estimated cash flows, including the
discount rate and an estimated terminal value, reflect management’s best estimates. The discount rate was based
upon the weighted average cost of capital for comparable companies. Of the total write down, $1.3 million was
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applied to reduce trademarks to zero with the balance applied to reduce goodwill to $4.7 million. Other
remaining intangible assets associated with the Tradex acquisition consist of core technology and assembled
workforce valued at $8.5 million which the Company concluded were not impaired. The remaining goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets of Tradex will be amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining life of
two years, resulting in an aggregate quarterly charge of $1.7 million, except for the effects of certain new
accounting pronouncements as described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

During fiscal 2001, the Company evaluated the remaining long-lived assets consisting primarily of goodwill
and other intangible assets, and determined that an intangible asset recorded in connection with the issuance of a
business partner warrant was impaired. The assessment was performed due to communications from the partner
that the establishment of vertical marketplaces would significantly underperform original plans and estimated
future cash flows were determined to be zero. As a result, the Company determined that the carrying value of the
intangible asset was not recoverable and recorded a $17.7 million charge to business partner warrant expense to
write-off the rernaining net book value of this intangible asset. See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information.

Note 6—Income Taxes

Income taxes for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were comprised of the following (in
thousands):

Current Deferred Total

2001:
Federal .. ... $ — $§ — 5 —
AL o ot 550 — 550
Foreignm ... 5,760 — 5,760
Total .. $6,310 $ — $6,310
2000:
Federal ... ..ot $ — 3 — & —
Y 7217 J 534 — 534
Foreign ...... ... 1,429 — 1,429
Total .o $1,963 $ — $1,963
1999:
Federal .. ...t $ — $ — § —
) 71 1< —_ — —
FOreign ... ..o 98 —_ 98
Total ..o $ 98 $§ — $ 98

The Company’s pretax income (loss) from operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2001, 2000
and 1999 consisted of the following components (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
DOMEStIC ottt et e L $(2,587,980) $(793,090) $(29,510)
Foreign . ... ..o (86,381) 2,278 308
Total pretax 10SS . ... ...t $(2,674,361) $(790,812) $(29,202)
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The reconciliation between the amount computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% to
the loss before income taxes and actual income taxes for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, and of
34% to the loss before income taxes and actual income taxes for the year ended September 30, 1999, is as

follows (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Tax expense/(benefit) . ........ ... i $(936,026) $(276,784) $(9,929)
ST EAXES .« o v o vttt e e e 550 534 —
Nondeductible goodwill . ....... . ... ... . 726,245 188,012 —
Nondeductible expenses . .......... ...l (8,282) 9,010 5,230
Foreign tax differential . ... ..... ... ... ... .. .. . L. 5,760 1,429 98
Net operating loss for which no benefit was realized ............ 218,063 79,762 4,699
Total .. $ 6310 $§ 1963 $ 98

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets as of
September 30, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000

Accruals and allowWancCes . ...t $ 229,987 $ 100,830
Depreciation and amortization .. ............iuiunirininainuan.. 13,220 —
Deferred STAIT-UP COSIS . . oo\ttt et ettt e et 6,098 144
Creditcarryforwards . .. ... ... i 44,700 2,134
Net operating loss carryforwards . ......... ... ... . ... .. i 409,337 252,434

Total gross deferred tax assets ............. ... ... iiininn... 703,342 355,542
Valuation alloWancCe . ... ..t e e (695,943) (342,563)

7.398 12,979
(7,398)  (12,889)

Acquired intangibles ... ... ...
— (90)

Depreciation and amortization . ............. .. ... i

Net deferred tax @ssets . ..ottt et e e e $ — 3 —

The Company has provided a valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of generating future profits that
would allow for the realization of such deferred tax assets. The net increase in the total valuation allowance for
the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, was approximately $353.4 million and $330.4 million,
respectively. Included in the net operating loss carryforwards is a tax benefit attributable to noncompensatory
stock options of $281.2 million at September 30, 2001 which, when realized, will be a credit to additional paid-

in-capital.

As of September 30, 2001, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state tax
purposes of approximately $1.1 billion and $387.0 million, respectively. These federal and state carryforwards
expire in various years through fiscal 2021 and 2006, respectively. The Company has research credit
carryforwards for federal and state tax purpose of approximately $24.8 million and $18.0 million, respectively. If
not utilized, the federal carryforwards will expire in various years through fiscal 2021. The state research credit
will carry forward indefinitely. The Company also has manufacturer’s credit carryforwards for state tax purposes
of approximately $1.9 million, which will expire in various years through fiscal 2009.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and applicable state tax laws, impose substantial restrictions on the
ability of the Company to utilize net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards in the event of an “ownership
change,” as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s federal and state tax losses and
tax credit carryover incurred through that date of change are subject to an annual limitation.
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Note 7—Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

In March 2000, the Company entered into a facility lease agreement for approximately 716,000 square feet
to be constructed in four office buildings and an amenities building in Sunnyvale, California as the Company’s
headquarters. The operating lease term commenced in phases from January through April 2001, upon completion
of construction and possession of each building, and ends on January 24, 2013. Minimum monthly lease
payments are $2.1 million and will escalate annually with the total future minimum lease payments amounting to
$378.2 million over the lease term. The Company has also contributed a significant amount towards leasehold
improvement costs of the facility. As of September 30, 2001, the Company has paid $79.2 million for leasehold
improvements to the facility. The estimated total costs of leasehold improvements is approximately
$80.1 million, but is subject to change. These leasehold improvement payments are estimated to be fully paid
during the quarter ending December 31, 2001. As part of this agreement, the Company is required to hold two
certificates of deposit, $25.7 million as a form of security through fiscal 2013 and $2.5 million as security during
the remaining construction, which are classified as restricted cash on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company leases certain equipment, software and its facilities under various noncancelable operating
and capital leases with various expiration dates through 2013. Rental expense was approximately $37.3 million,
$10.6 million and $3.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, As of
September 30, 2001, estimated future rents receivable from signed sublease agreements amount to $80.3 million
through fiscal 2007. Operating lease payments in the table below represent properties currently occupied by the
Company and does not include operating lease commitments for any abandoned properties.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable capital and operating leases are as follows as of
September 30, 2001 (in thousands):

Capital Operating

Year Ending September 30, Leases Leases
2002 L e e $315 $ 14,489
2008 e 108 12,439
2004 . e — 11,818
2005 L e — 11,538
20006 .. e — 11,538
TErEafter . o vttt e e — 75,234
Total minimum lease PaAYMENtS . . ... ....vitn et 423 $125,518
Less: Amount representing imputed interest .. ............. ..., (21
402

Present value of minimum lease payments . ............. ... i,
Less: CUITent POTHION . . .ot i ittt e ettt e e e e et e e e

Capital lease obligation, less current portion . ............ .. ... .. o,

296
$106

Interest expense related to capital lease obligations is immaterial for all periods presented.

Restructuring and Lease Abandonment Costs

During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company initiated a restructuring program to conform its
expense and revenue levels to better position the Company for growth and profitability. As part of this program,
the Company restructured its worldwide operations including a reduction in workforce of approximately
1,100 individuals and the consolidation of its operating facilities. The restructuring resulted in a total charge of
$133.6 million which was classified within operating expenses. The following paragraphs provide detailed
information relating to the restructuring and lease abandonment costs which were recorded in fiscal 2001.
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The following table details restructuring activity through September 30, 2001 (in thousands):

Severance Lease
and abandonment  Leasehold
benefits costs impairment Total
Balance at September 30,2000 . ................. $ — $ - & — 5 —
Total charge to operating expense ............... 17,493 49,442 66,647 133,582
Cashpaid............ ... .. it (16,642)  (19,099) — (35,741)
Asset impairments applied .................. ... — — (66,647)  (66,647)
Balance at September 30,2001 . ................. $ 851 $30343 § — 31,194
Less: currentportion ........... ... ..., 18,339
Accrued restructuring and lease abandonment costs,

less current portion . .............. ... $ 12,855

Worldwide Workforce Reduction

Severance and related charges primarily include involuntary termination and COBRA benefits,
outplacement costs, and payroll taxes. A majority of the terminations, which included sales and marketing,
engineering and general administration support personnel, were completed during the third and fourth quarters of
fiscal 2001. For the year ended September 30, 2001, total accrued charges for severance and benefits amounted
to $17.5 million, of which $16.6 million had been paid or used by fiscal year end. As of September 30, 2001, the
remaining accrued balance of approximately $851,000 in severance and related charges consists primarily of
COBRA benefits and outplacement costs, which the Company expects will result in cash expenditures in the

quarter ending December 31, 2001,

Consolidation of Excess Facilities

In the third quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company adopted a plan to consolidate its operating facilities and
recorded related restructuring expense of $56.8 million. Lease abandonment costs relate to the abandonment of
certain excess leased facilities in Mountain View and Sunnyvale, California, Tampa, Florida, Alpharetta,
Georgia, Lisle, Illinois, Burlington, Massachusetts, Florham Park, New Jersey, Dallas, Texas and Singapore for
the remaining lease terms. Total lease abandonment costs include the impairment of leasehold improvements,
remaining lease liabilities and brokerage fees offset by estimated sublease income. The estimated costs of
abandoning these leased facilities, including estimated costs to sublease, were based on market information trend
analyses provided by a commercial real estate brokerage firm retained by the Company.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company revised its estimates and expectations with respect to its
corporate headquarters and field offices disposition efforts due to further consolidation and abandonment of
additional facilities beyond those initially planned and revised estimates of sublease commencement dates and
rental rate projections to reflect continued sharp declines in market conditions. Based on the factors above, an
additional charge to lease abandonment costs of $59.2 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001.
For the year ended September 30, 2001, lease abandonment costs totaled $116.1 million, which includes the
impairment of leasehold improvements related to the abandoned leased facilities totaling $66.6 million.

Net cash payments through September 30, 2001 related to abandoned facilities amounted to $19.1 million.
Actual future cash requirements may differ materially from the accrual at September 30, 2001, particularly if
actual sublease income is significantly different from current estimates. As of September 30, 2001, $30.3 million
of lease abandonment costs, net of anticipated sublease income of $188.2 million related to facilities not yet
subleased, remains accrued and is expected to be utilized by fiscal 2013.

77




Litigation

Between March 20, 2001 and June 5, 2001, several purported sharcholder class action complaints were filed
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain of its
officers or former officers and directors and two of the underwriters of its initial public offering. These actions
purport to be brought on behalf of purchasers of the Company’s common stock in the period from June 23, 1999,
the date of the Company’s initial public offering, to December 23, 1999 (in some cases, to December 5 or 6,
2000), and make certain claims under the federal securities laws, including Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities
Act of 1933 and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to the Company’s initial public
offering. Specifically, among other things, these actions allege the prospectus pursuant to which shares of
common stock were sold in the Company’s initial public offering, which was incorporated in a registration
statement filed with the SEC, contained certain false and misleading statements or omissions regarding the
practices of the Company’s underwriters with respect to their allocation of shares of common stock in the
Company’s initial public offering to their customers and their receipt of commissions from those customers
related to such allocations, and that such statements and omissions caused the Company’s post-initial public
offering stock price to be artificially inflated. The actions seek compensatory damages in unspecified amounts as
well as other relief.

On June 26, 2001, these actions were consolidated into a single action bearing the title In re Ariba, Inc.
Securities Litigation, 01 common CIV 2359. On August 9, 2001, that consolidated action was further
consolidated before a single judge with cases brought against over a hundred additional issuers and their
underwriters that make similar allegations regarding the initial public offerings of those issuers. The latter
consolidation was for purposes of pretrial motions and discovery only. The Company intends to defend against
the complaints vigorously.

The Company is also subject to various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business.
In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of these matters is
not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
The Company has accrued for estimated losses in the accompanying financial statements for those matters where
it believes that the likelihood that a loss has occurred is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable.
Although management currently believes that the outcome of other outstanding legal proceedings, claims and
litigation involving the Company will not have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations or
financial condition, litigation is inherently uncertain, and there can be no assurance that existing or future
litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations of financial
condition.

Note 8—Minority Interests in Subsidiaries

In December 2000, the Company’s consolidated subsidiary, Nihon Ariba K.K., issued and sold
38,000 shares, or approximately 41% of its common stock, for cash consideration of approximately $40.0 million
to a third party. In April 2001, Nihon Ariba K. K. issued and sold an additional 2% of its common stock for cash
consideration of approximately $4.0 million to third parties. Prior to the transactions, the Company held 100% of
the equity of Nihon Ariba K.K. in the form of common stock. Nihon Ariba K.K.’s operations consist of the
marketing, distribution, service and support of the Company’s products in Japan. Under the terms of the
agreement, the third party has the right to resell Ariba products in the Japanese market.

As of September 30, 2001, minority interest of approximately $12.9 million is recorded on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet in order to reflect the share of the net assets of Nihon Ariba K.K. held by minority investors. In
addition, the Company recognized approximately $4.3 million as an increase to other income for the minority
interest’s share of Nihon Ariba K.K.’s loss for the year ended September 30, 2001.

In April 2001, the Company’s consolidated subsidiary, Ariba Korea, Ltd., issued and sold 3,800 shares, or
approximately 42% of its common stock, for cash consideration of approximately $8.0 million to a third party.
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Prior to the transaction, the Company held 100% of the equity of Ariba Korea, Ltd. in the form of common stock.
Ariba Korea, Ltd.’s operations consist of the marketing, distribution, service and support of the Company’s
products in Korea. Under the terms of the agreement, the third party has the right to resell Ariba products in the
Korean market.

As of September 30, 2001, minority interest of approximately $2.8 million is recorded on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet in order to reflect the share of the net assets of Ariba Korea, Ltd. held by minority investors. The
Company also recognized approximately $370,000 as other income for the minority interest’s share of the Ariba
Korea, Ltd. loss for the year ended September 30, 2001.

Note 9—Segment Information

The Company adopted SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Informarion, in fiscal 1999. SFAS No. 131 establishes standards for reporting information about operating
segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company operates in one segment, electronic commerce solutions. The Company markets its products
in the United States and in foreign countries through its direct sales force and indirect distribution channels. The
Company’s chief operating decision maker evaluates resource allocation decisions and the performance of the
Company based upon revenue recorded in geographic regions and does not receive financial information about
expense allocations on a disaggregated basis.

Information regarding revenue for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and information
regarding long-lived assets in geographic areas as of September 30, 2001 and 2000, are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999
Revenues:
United States .. ........ . .. $302,012 $217,554 $38,660
International ... ... ... ... .. . .. . . e 106,836 61,485 6,712
Total ... . $408,848 $279,039 $45,372
As of September 30,
2001 2000
Long-Lived Assets:
United States . ... .. $923,351 $3,341,016
International . ......... . .. . .. . .. 6,477 3,175
Total ... e $929,828 $3,344,191

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the Company’s customers. The Company’s
international revenues were derived from sales in Europe, Asia, Asia Pacific and Latin America. The Company
had net liabilities of $42.2 million for its international locations as of September 30, 2001.

Note 10—Stockholders’ Equity
Incorporation and Authorized Capital

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes the Company to issue 1.5 billion shares
of common stock, $0.002 par value per share, and 20 million shares of preferred stock, $0.002 par value per share.
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Stock Option Exchange Program

On February 8, 2001, the Company announced a voluntary stock option exchange program for its
employees. Under the program, Ariba employees were given the opportunity, if they chose, to cancel outstanding
stock options previously granted to them in exchange for an equal number of replacement options to be granted
at a future date, at least six months and a day from the cancellation date, which was May 14, 2001. Under the
exchange program, options for 12.7 million shares of the Company’s common stock were tendered and
cancelled. On December 3, 2001, the grant of replacement options to participating employees was approved.
Each participant employee will receive, for each option included in the exchange, a one-for-one replacement
option. The exercise price of each replacement option is $4.02 per share, which was the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on December 3, 2001. The replacement options will have terms and conditions that
are substantially the same as those of the canceled options. The exchange program is not expected to result in any
additional compensation charges or variable plan accounting. Members of the Company’s Board of Directors and
its officers and senior executives were not eligible to participate in this program.

Warrants

In August 1998, in connection with an additional lease line arrangement, the Company issued warrants
entitling the holder to purchase 58,176 shares of common stock for a fair value of $31,000. In December 2000,

these warrants were fully exercised.

In January 2000, in connection with a sales and marketing alliance agreement with a third party, the
Company issued warrants to purchase up to approximately 11,600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock if
certain revenue milestones were achieved. None of the specified milestones were considered probable and as a
result, no stock-based compensation associated with these warrants was recognized. Effective December 2000,
all of these warrants were cancelled in connection with an amendment of the related sales and marketing

agreement.

In February 2000, in connection with a sales and marketing alliance agreement with a third party, the
Company issued unvested warrants to purchase up to 4,800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at
various exercise prices based on future prices of the Company’s common stock or at predetermined exercise
prices. The alliance relationship was entered into to broaden and accelerate adoption of the Company’s products
in certain international markets. As of September 30, 2001, none of these warrants were vested or were deemed

probable of vesting.

In March 2000, in connection with a sales and marketing alliance agreement with a third party, the
Company issued an unvested warrant to purchase up to 3,428,572 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $87.50. The alliance relationship was entered into to take advantage of the business partner’s
global marketing and consulting resources and to broaden and accelerate adoption of the Company’s products.
The business partner can partially vest in this warrant each quarter upon attainment of certain periodic milestones
related to revenue targets associated with the Company’s sales to third parties under registered co-sale
transactions and referrals or resale to third parties by the business partner. The warrant generally expires as to
any earned or earnable portion when the milestone period expires or eighteen months after the specific milestone
is met. The warrant can be eamed over approximately a five-year period.

The Company has accounted for the warrant in accordance with the provisions of EITF No. 96-18. At the
end of each quarter, the Company determines which revenue milestones have been met and those milestones for
which achievement is considered probable. Business partner warrant expense is measured at the end of a quarter
by determining the total fair value of the tranche or tranches of warrants underlying a revenue milestone for
which achievement is considered probable. The amount of warrant expense that is recorded in a given quarter is
equal to the proportionate share of the expected total warrant expense that was earned by the business partner
during the quarter. The fair value of the warrant is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The

80




amount of warrant expense associated with a given revenue milestone is remeasured at the end of each
subsequent quarter until the given revenue milestone is achieved and the related tranche of the warrant vests, at
which time the fair value attributable to that tranche of the warrant is fixed. In the event such remeasurement
resuits in an increase or decrease to the initial or previously determined estimate of the total fair value of a
particular tranche of the warrant, a cumulative adjustment of warrant expense is made in the current quarter.

During the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, this business partner vested in 982,326 shares and
468,041 shares of this warrant, respectively. Accordingly, $8.5 million and $23.6 million of business partner
warrant expense was recorded for this warrant for the years ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
No amounts related to the unvested portion of this warrant are reflected in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

In the quarter ended June 30, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party. The business
partner relationship was undertaken as part of the Company’s vertical industry strategy to obtain a major partner
in the financial services industry. In connection with the agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase up
to 6,776,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price based on the ten-day average of the
Company’s stock price up to and including the vesting date of when the warrant is earned. Upon signing of this
agreement, 1,936,000 shares of the Company’s common stock underlying the warrants were immediately vested.
The remaining warrants vest upon attainment of certain milestones related to contingent revenues (gainshare) to
be received by the Company under the terms of a related arrangement. The warrants generally expire when the
milestone period expires or one year after the specific milestone is met. As of September 30, 2001, no portion of
the remaining warrants have vested or were deemed probable of vesting.

In accordance with EITF No. 96-18, in the quarter ended June 30, 2000, the Company determined the fair
value of the vested warrants to be $56.2 million using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and a term of one
vear, risk free interest rate at 6.23%, expected volatility of 103% and no expected dividends. The agreement
provides that the Company will receive $25.0 million in guaranteed gainshare revenues to be paid over a period
of two years. The Company has determined that the guaranteed $25.0 million represents a partial payment for the
warrants which vested upon signing of the agreement and accordingly, the net amount of $31.2 million was
recorded as an intangible asset. The guaranteed gainshare of $25.0 million was recorded as a receivable classified
as “Other Current Assets” and as of September 30, 2001, $20.0 million remains outstanding to be collected. The
intangible asset was being amortized over the expected term of the arrangement of three years. For the years
ended September 30, 2001 and 2000, approximately $7.9 million and $5.6 million of the intangible asset was
amortized to business partner warrant expense, respectively. No amounts related to the unvested warrants are
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During fiscal 2001, the Company performed an impairment assessment of all identifiable intangible assets
including the $31.2 million recorded in connection with these warrants. Factors the Company considers
important which could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance
relative to historical or expected operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets
or the strategy for the Company’s overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends. The
Company’s impairment assessment of this asset was performed due to communications from the partner that the
establishment of vertical marketplaces would significantly underperform original plans and estimated future cash
flows were determined to be zero. The Company determined that the carrying value of the intangible asset,
relating to the business partner in the financial services industry, was impaired and as a result, recorded a
$17.7 million impairment charge to business partner warrant expense in the quarter ended June 30, 2001 to write

off the remaining net book value of this intangible asset.

Depending on the trading price of the Company’s common stock at the end of each quarter, and on whether
subsequent milestones are achieved or considered probable of being achieved, the total amount of the business
partner warrant expense recognized could still be substantial.
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Contribution from Stockholder

During fiscal 2001, a significant stockholder and officer of the Company was deemed to have contributed
$4.0 million to the Company in connection with the hiring of an executive officer. This amount has been
recorded as a capital contribution in accordance with an Interpretation of APB No. 25 and reflected in the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity as of September 30, 2001. ’

Deferred Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its employee stock-based compensation plans in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 44 (FIN 44), Accounting for Certain
Transactions Involving Stock Compensation—an Interpretation of APB No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation
cost is recognized for any of the Company’s fixed stock options granted to employees when the exercise price of
each option equals or exceeds the fair value of the underlying common stock as of the grant date.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2001, 4.1 million restricted shares of common stock and stock
options with exercise prices below current fair market value were issued to certain senior executives, officers and
employees of the Company. Restrictions on these restricted shares and stock options lapse ratably over a two to
three year period or have up to five year vesting periods that are subject to acceleration if individual performance
goals are achieved. Based on the intrinsic value at the date of grant, the Company recorded approximately
$24.0 million of deferred stock-based compensation related to the issuance of the restricted common stock and
stock options. At September 30, 2001, the weighted-average fair value of restricted shares granted in fiscal 2001
was $2.81. In addition, the Company recorded $4.0 million of stock-based compensation expense for the grant of
2.0 million restricted shares in connection with the severance of a former executive.

The Company has recorded deferred stock-based compensation totaling approximately $187.1 million from
inception through September 30, 2001. Of this amount, $124.6 million related to the acquisition of
SupplierMarket, consummated in August 2000. These amounts are being amortized in accordance with FASB
Interpretation No. 28 over the vesting period of the individual options and restricted common stock, generally
between 2 to 5 years. Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation totaled $36.6 million, $18.0 million
and $14.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

1996 Stock Plan

The Company’s 1996 Stock Plan (“1996 Stock Plan”), in effect until the Company’s initial public offering,
authorized the granting of incentive and nonstatutory common stock options to employees, directors, and
consultants at exercise prices no less than 100% and 85%, respectively, of the fair market value of the common
stock on the grant date, as determined by the Board of Directors. Stock options generally vest 25% after one year
of service and thereafter ratably over 36 months of service and generally have a term of ten years. The 1996
Stock Plan also allowed for exercise of unvested options. Shares of common stock issued to employees upon
exercise of unvested options are subject to repurchase by the Company at the original exercise price. The
Company’s ability to repurchase these shares expires at a rate consistent with the vesting schedule of each option.
Any right to repurchase shares upon an employee’s termination of service lapses and all shares vest if the
Company is subject to a change in control unless the Company’s repurchase right is assumed by the acquiring
entity. As of September 30, 2001, 2,896,968 shares of common stock that had been issued upon the exercise of
unvested options were subject to repurchase under the 1996 Stock Plan. Options that expire under the 1996 Stock
Plan will be available for future grants under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. As no options could be granted out
of the 1996 Stock Plan after the Company’s initial public offering, there were no shares available for option
grants under the 1996 Stock Plan at September 30, 2001.
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1999 Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors approved the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (“Incentive Plan”) on April 20,
1999, The Incentive Plan was amended on October 4, 2001. Under the Incentive Plan, 9,600,000 shares were
reserved for issuance. In addition, any shares not issued under the 1996 Stock Plan and any shares repurchased
pursuant to the 1996 Stock Plan will also be available for grant under the Incentive Plan. The number of shares
reserved under the Incentive Plan automatically increases annually on January 1 by the lesser of 8,000,000 shares
or 5% of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on that date. Under the Incentive Plan, eligible
employees may be granted stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, and stock units. The
exercise price for incentive stock options and non-qualified options may not be less than 100% and 85%,
respectively, of the fair value of common stock at the option grant date. As of September 30, 2001,
approximately 36,903,793 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance and 23,389,274 shares are

available for grant under the Incentive Plan, respectively.

1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan (“Directors Plan”) on
April 20, 1999, as amended May 15, 2000, under which 2,000,000 shares were reserved for issuance. Each
non-employee joining the Board of Directors after June 22, 1999 automatically receives options to purchase
25,000 shares of common stock. In addition, each non-employee director automatically receives options to
purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at each annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders beginning after
January 1, 2000. Each option will have an exercise price equal to the fair value of the common stock on the grant
date. As of September 30, 2001, there have been 140,000 options granted under the Directors Plan and

1,860,000 shares are available for future issuance.

Emplovee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”) on
April 20, 1999 under which 16,000,000 shares were reserved for issuance. The number of shares reserved under
the Purchase Plan automatically increases on January 1 of each year by the lesser of 3,000,000 shares or 2% of
the total amount of common stock shares outstanding on that date. Under the Purchase Plan, eligible employees
may purchase common stock in an amount not to exceed 15% of the employees’ cash compensation. The
purchase price per share will be 85% of the common stock’s fair value at the lower of certain plan defined dates.
As of September 30, 2001 there have been 3,156,424 shares issued under the Purchase Plan and

18,843,576 shares are available for future issuance.

The Company has, in connection with the acquisitions of TradingDynamics, Tradex and SupplierMarket,
assumed the stock option plans of each acquired company.

TradingDynamics Stock Plans

On January 20, 2000, the Company assumed the TradingDynamics 1998 Stock Plan and 1999 Stock Plan
(“TradingDynamics Plans™). The TradingDynamics Plans provided for the grant of incentive stock options and
non-qualified stock options to employees and consultants at prices from 85% to 110% of the fair market value of
the common stock on the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Generally, options granted were
immediately exercisable and the resulting shares issued to optionees under the TradingDynamics Plans were
subject to certain repurchase rights, also assumed by the Company. As of September 30, 2001, there were
76,062 shares of the Company’s common stock issued pursuant to the TradingDynamics Plans that were subject
to repurchase by the Company. These repurchase rights generally lapse over a 48-month period, and options
generally vest at the rate of 25% of the grant after 12 months of service and Yas of the grant per month thereafter.
Options expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. A total of 2,086,119 shares of the Company’s
common stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options assumed in connection with the
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acquisition of TradingDynamics and upon exercise of options granted subsequent to the acquisition of
TradingDynamics by the Company under the TradingDynamics Plans.

Tradex Stock Plans

On March 8, 2000, the Company assumed the Tradex 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan and 1999
Employee Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (“Tradex Plans”). The Tradex Plans provided for the grant of
incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options, as well as grants of shares of common stock, to
employees and consultants at prices from 85% to 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date
of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Generally, options granted were immediately exercisable and
the resulting shares issued to optionees under the Tradex Plans were subject to certain repurchase rights, also
assumed by the Company. As of September 30, 2001, there were 7,400 shares of the Company’s common stock
issued pursuant to the Tradex Plans that were subject to repurchase by the Company. These repurchase rights
generally lapse over a 48-month period, and options generally vest at the rate of 25% of the grant after 12 months
of service and Vas of the grant per month thereafter. Options expire no later than ten years from the date of grant.
A total of 2,249,658 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of
stock options assumed in connection with the acquisition of Tradex and upon the exercise of options granted
subsequent to the acquisition of Tradex by the Company under the Tradex Plans.

SupplierMarket Stock Plan

On August 28, 2000, the Company assumed the SupplierMarket.com 1999 Stock Option Plan
(“SupplierMarket Plan™). The SupplierMarket Plan provided for the grant of incentive stock options and
non-qualified stock options to employees and consultants at prices from 85% to 110% of the fair market value of
the common stock on the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Under the SupplierMarket Plan,
options generally vest over a 48-month period at the rate of 12.5% of the grant after six months of service and
Vag of the grant per month thereafter. Options expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. A total of
2,472,690 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options
assumed in connection with the acquisition of SupplierMarket and upon the exercise of options granted
subsequent to the acquisition of SupplierMarket by the Company under the SupplierMarket Plan.
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A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans as of September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 and
changes during the years ended on those dates is presented below:

Years Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Qutstanding at beginning of year .. 46,889,463  $28.91 41,351,180 $ 3.39 14,275,840 $ 0.19
Granted .................... 22,964,662 17.35 21,782,681 62.34 41,799,532 3.46
Exercised .................. (8,161,098) 2.60 (12,715,386) 1.51 (13,765,792} 047
Forfeited ................... (36,664,158) 41.38 (3,529,012) 37.85 (958,400) 1.39
Outstanding at end of year ....... 25,028,869 $ 8.23 46,889,463 $28.91 41,351,180 $ 3.39
Exercisable atendof year ........ 8,881,862 $13.14 30,823,408 $ 3.31 38,613,180 $ 1.32

Weighted-average fair value of
options granted during the year
at market . . ... A 22,737,662  $13.11 14,133,000 $88.80 5,650,000 $18.16
Weighted-average fair value of
options granted during the year
at less than market ...........
Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during the year
at greater than market ......... 32,000 $34.59 10,800  $60.39 — —

195,000 $ 2.06 7,638,881  $53.36 36,149,532 §$ 1.16

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2001:

Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractuoal Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices of Shares Life (years) Price of Shares Price
$ 0.002-8§ 042 3,113,963 7.02 $ 027 1,445,427 $ 027
$ 050-§ 081 4,584,068 7.38 $ 069 1,543,896 $ 0.69
$ 136-% 3.00 2,962,168 7.65 $ 215 933,314 $ 217
$ 3.32-% 4.50 1,477,983 8.01 $ 4.18 625,973 $ 421
$ 4381 9,069,803 9.51 $ 481 2,087,388 § 481
$ 5.13-8% 33.63 2,680,131 8.61 $ 22.06 1,418,630 $ 26.41
$ 34.06-$136.13 1,067,753 8.55 $ 69.97 792,671 $ 72.37
$139.75 3,000 8.87 $139.75 813 $139.75
$165.50 60,000 8.43 $165.50 31,250 $165.50
$166.44 10,000 8.93 $166.44 2,500 $166.44
$ 0.002-$166.44 25,028,869 8.36 $ 823 8881862 $ 13.14
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Had compensation cost been recognized based on the fair value at the date of grant for options granted and
Purchase Plan issuances during 2001, the pro forma amounts of the Company’s net loss and net loss per share
would have been as follows for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 (in thousands, except per

share amounts):

Year Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999
Netloss—asreported .......... ... . iuieneninnenennn. $(2,680,671) $(792,775) $(29,300)
Netloss—proforma ........... ..ot eiieanian.. $(2,620,999) $(999,529) $(30,425)
Basic and diluted net loss per share—as reported . .. .. ........ $ (1096) $ (4.100 $ (042
Basic and diluted net loss per share—pro forma ............. $ (1071) $ (5.17) $ (0.87)

The fair value for the options granted during the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following assumptions:

Year Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999
Risk-free interest rate .. ... ...ttt 297% 6.02% 5.09%
Expected lives (in YEars) . .........ouuvinieneeiie e 1.5 3 3
Dividend yield . ....... .. ... . . . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility ........ ... . .. . . 119% 100% 80%

To comply with the pro forma reporting requirements of SFAS No. 123 compensation cost is also estimated
for the fair value of future employee stock purchase plan issuances which is included in the pro forma totals
above. The fair value of purchase rights granted under the Purchase Plan is estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions for the year ended
September 30, 2001: no expected dividends; expected volatility of 119%; risk-free interest rate of 2.97%; and
expected life of approximately six months. The weighted-average fair value of the purchase rights granted under
the Purchase Plan during fiscal 2001 was $6.92.

Note 11-——Net Loss Per Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (in thousands,
except per share data):

Year Ended September 30,

2001 2000 1999

Netloss ..o $(2,680,671) $(792,775) $(29,3000)
Weighted average shares outstanding ... .................. 254,666 216,215 104,184
Weighted average common shares issued subject to repurchase

YA (1S 11157 ¢ L Ot (7,892) (20,350) 34,120y
Weighted average shares held in escrow related to

ACQUISILIONS .. ... e (2,160) (2,448) —
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted net loss per

share . ... 244,614 193,417 70,064
Basic and diluted loss per share . ........................ $ (1096) $ (4.10) $ (0.42)

At September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, 33,210,370, 64,303,857 and 70,609,132 potential common shares,
respectively, are excluded from the determination of diluted net loss per share, as the effect of such shares is anti-
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dilutive. Further, the potential common shares for the year ended September 30, 2001 and 2000 exclude
7,246,246 shares and 26,243,568 shares, respectively, which would be issuable under certain warrants contingent
upon completion of certain milestones.

The weighted-average exercise price of stock options outstanding was $8.23, $28.91 and $3.39 as of
September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The weighted average repurchase price of unvested stock was
$0.27, $0.36 and $0.19 as of September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The weighted average exercise
price of warrants outstanding was $67.17, $68.79 and $0.80 as of September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999,

respectively.

Note 12—Related Party Transactions

In the second and third quarters of fiscal 2001, the Company has sold approximately 43% of its consolidated
subsidiary, Nihon Ariba K.K. and approximately 42% of its consolidated subsidiary, Ariba Korea, Ltd.,
respectively, to a third party which also received the right to distribute Ariba products from the subsidiary in its
jurisdiction (“the Minority Shareholder”).

In April 2001, the Chief Executive Officer of the Minority Shareholder was appointed to the Company’s
Board of Directors. For the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company has recorded revenue of $6.9 million
related to transactions with the Minority Shareholder. There was no minority shareholder in fiscal 2000 and

1999.

Note 13—Supplementary Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Fiscal 2001 Fiscal 2000
For the Quarter Ended For the Quarter Ended

Sept. 30 June30 March31 Dec.31 Sept.30 June30 March31 Dec. 31
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Total revenues ..............co.uniun.. $ 62,634 § 85328 $ 90,653 $ 170,233 $ 134853 § 80,665 $ 40,042 $ 23,479
Grossprofit ........ ..o $ 50239 § 69,836 $ 63,862 $138902 $ 111,216 $§ 66,672 $ 33,595 $ 20,037
Impairment of goodwill, other intangible

assets and equity investments ... ......... $ 4280 $ — $1433292 % — 3% — 3 — 3 — % —
Restructuring and lease abandonment costs ... $ 63,541 § 70,041 $ — 3 — 3 — 5 — 3 — $ —
In-process research and development .. ... ... $ — % — 3 — 3 — $ 14,600 $ — §$ 12750 8 —
NEtIoSS « oot $(224,347) $(273,524) $(1,835,176) $(347,624) $(339,337) $(317,159) $(125,945) $(10,334)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted ....... $ 089)s (1108 (7.60)8 (148)38 (15008 (14553 (0708 (007
Weighted average shares used in computing

basic and diluted net loss per share ... .. .. 252,652 249,103 241,417 235285 225491 218478 179,241 155,980

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors” in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2001
(the “2002 Proxy Statement”), which is incorporated herein by reference, and the information set forth in the
section entitled “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I, Item 4A of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Executive Compensation and Related Information” in
the 2002 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the 2002 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

See the information set forth in the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the
2002 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) 1.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

2.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following financial statement schedule of Ariba for each of the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000
and 1999 should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements, and related notes thereto, of

Ariba.

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts .. .......... ... ...,

Page Number
S-1

Schedules other than those listed above have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable,
or the information has otherwise been included.

3.

EXHIBITS

The exhibits listed on the accompanying index to exhibits immediately following the financial statement
schedule are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Form 10-K.

Exhibit
No.

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3
10.4

10.5

10.6

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant including all amendments to date
(which are incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s 10-K dated December 29,
2000).
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (which are incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated April 17, 1998 (which is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Specimen Certificate of the Registrant’s common stock (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated June 7, 1999 (which is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Registrant and its directors and
executive officers (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
1996 Stock Plan, as amended (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
1999 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).

Industrial Complex Lease, dated August 11, 1997, by and between MP Caribbean, Inc. and the
Registrant (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form S-1

Registration No. 333-76953).
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Exhibit
No.

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12*

10.13

10.14*

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18
10.19%**
10.20%*

10.21%%*

21.1
23.1

Description
Lease Agreement, dated June 12, 1996, by and between Charleston Place Associates and
U.S. Robotics Access Corp., as amended (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Sublease, dated February 1999, by and between 3Com Corporation, successor in interest to
U.S. Robotics Access Corp., and the Registrant (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-76953).
Sublease, dated October 1999, by and between the Registrant and ChainLink Technologies, Inc.
(which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s 10-K dated
December 23, 1999).
Lease agreement, dated March 15, 2000, by and between Moffett Park Drive LLC and the Registrant
(which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s 10-Q dated May 15, 2000).
Amended and Restated Sublease, dated August 6, 2001, between Registrant and Interwoven, Inc.
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 19, 2000, by and among Nihon Ariba K.K., Softbank Corp.
and Softbank E-Commerce Corp. (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to
Registrant’s 10-Q dated February 14, 2001).
Offer Letter, dated November 22, 2000, by and between the Registrant and Robert M. Calderoni (which
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Registrant’s 10-Q dated February 14, 2001).
Letter Agreement, dated November 29, 2000, by and between the Registrant and Edward P. Kinsey
(which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Registrant’s 10-Q dated February 14,
2001).

Warrant Termination Agreement, dated December 21, 2000, by and among Electronic Data Systems
Corporation, EDS CoNext, Inc. and the Registrant (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.19 to Registrant’s 10-Q dated February 14, 2001).

Offer Letter, dated January 22, 2001, by and between the Registrant and James W. Steele (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Registrant’s 10-Q dated May 15, 2001).

Offer Letter, dated February 21, 2001, by and between the Registrant and Michael Schmitt (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Registrant’s 10-Q dated May 15, 2001).

Amendment to Offer Letter, dated July 18, 2001, by and between Registrant and Robert M. Calderoni.
Severance Agreement, dated July 18, 2001, by and between Registrant and Robert M. Calderoni.
Loan Agreement, dated February 1, 2001, by and between Robert M. Calderoni and Golden Bear Real
Estate, L.L.C..

Promissory Note, dated February 1, 2001, by and between Robert M. Calderoni and Golden Bear Real
Estate, L.L.C.

Subsidiaries.

Consent of Independent Auditors.

* Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions
have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

*#%  Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions
have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly cauvsed this Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, who is duly
authorized, in the City of Sunnyvale, State of California on this 31st day of December, 2001.

ARIBA, INC.

By:

/s/ ROBERT M. CALDERONI

Robert M. Calderoni
President and Chief Executive Officer
and a Director
{Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  JAMES W. FRANKOLA

James W. Frankola
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Robert M. Calderoni and James W. Frankola, and each of them, his true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with Exhibits thereto and other documents
in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all
that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue

hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature

/s/ ROBERT M. CALDERONI

Robert M. Calderoni

/s/  JAMES W. FRANKOLA

James W. Frankola

/s/  KEITH KRACH

Keith Krach

Title

President and Chief Executive
Officer and a Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Date

December 31, 2001

December 31, 2001

December 31, 2001




Signature

/s/ ROBERT C. KAGLE

Robert C. Kagle

/s/ MASAYOSHI SON

Masayoshi Son

/S/ ROBERT KNOWLING

Robert Knowling

/s/ PAUL HEGARTY

Paul Hegarty
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Title

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

December 31, 2001

December 31, 2001

December 31, 2001

December 31, 2001



ARIBA, INC.
Schedule It
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999

Balance at Costs Balance at
Beginning of and Deductions/ the End of
M Period Expenses = Write-offs Period
Year ended September 30, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts ... ..................... $13,791  $27,953 $27,290 $14,454
Year ended September 30, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ....................... $ 20 $14200 $ 429 $13,791
Year ended September 30, 1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts ........................ $ — $ 20 $ — $§ 20

S-1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors
Ariba, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-61064, 333-73458,
333-81773, 333-89119, 333-95665, 333-33544, and 333-46820) on Form S-8 of Ariba, Inc. of our report dated
October 19, 2001, relating to the consolidated balance sheets of Ariba, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30,
2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2001, and the related
financial statement schedule which report appears in the September 30, 2001 annual report on Form 10-K of

Ariba, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
December 31, 2001




AR

ARIBA®

ARIBA, INC,
807 11t Avenue
Sunnyvale, California 94089

Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Ariba, Inc., which will be held at
the San Mateo Marriott located at 1770 S. Amphlett Boulevard, San Mateo, California, on Monday, March 18,

2002, at 8:00 a.m.

Details of the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting are given in the attached Proxy Statement and
Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the Annual Meeting. WHETHER OR NOT
YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE, SIGN, DATE AND
PROMPTLY RETURN THE ACCOMPANYING PROXY IN THE ENCLOSED POSTAGE-PAID
ENVELOPE. Returning the proxy does NOT deprive you of your right to attend the Annual Meeting. If you
decide to attend the Annual Meeting and wish to change your proxy vote, you may do so automatically by voting

in person at the Annual Meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express our appreciation for your continued interest in
the affairs of Ariba. We look forward to seeing you at the Annual Meeting.

Sincerely,

ROBERT M. CALDERONI
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

Sunnyvale, California
February 4, 2002




ARIBA, INC.
807 11th Avenue
Sunnyvale, California 94089

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Be Held March 18, 2002

To the Stockholders:

The annual meeting of stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Ariba, Inc. (the “Company”) will be held at
the San Mateo Marriott located at 1770 S. Amphlett Boulevard, San Mateo, California, on Monday, March 18,

2002, at 8:00 a.m. for the following purposes:
1. To elect two (2) members of the Board of Directors to serve until the 2005 annual meeting of
stockholders of the Company or until their successors have been duly elected and qualified;
2. To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent public accountants for the
fiscal year ending September 30, 2002; and
3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournments or
postponements thereof.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the attached Proxy Statement. Only
stockholders of record at the close of business on January 17, 2002, the record date, are entitled to notice of, and
to vote at, the Annual Meeting and at any adjournments or postponements thereof. A list of such stockholders
will be available for inspection at the Company’s headquarters located at 807 11" Avenue, Sunnyvale,
California, during ordinary business hours for the ten-day period prior to the Annual Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Sl

Craig M. Schmitz
Secretary

Sunnyvale, California
February 4, 2002

IMPORTANT

WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE,
SIGN, DATE AND PROMPTLY RETURN THE ACCOMPANYING PROXY IN THE ENCLOSED
POSTAGE-PAID ENVELOPE. YOU MAY REVOKE YOUR PROXY AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO
THE ANNUAL MEETING. IF YOU DECIDE TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING AND WISH
TO CHANGE YOUR PROXY VOTE, YOU MAY DO SO AUTOMATICALLY BY VOTING IN

PERSON AT THE ANNUAL MEETING.




ARIBA, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT
FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Be Held March 18, 2002

These proxy materials are furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors
of Ariba, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual
Meeting”) to be held at the San Mateo Marriott located at 1770 S. Amphlett Boulevard, San Mateo, California,
on Monday, March 18, 2002, at 8:00 a.m., and at any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting.
These proxy materials were first mailed to stockholders on or about February 4, 2002.

PURPOSE OF MEETING

The specific proposals to be considered and acted upon at the Annual Meeting are summarized in the
accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Each proposal is described in more detail in this Proxy

Statement (“Proxy Statement”).

VOTING RIGHTS AND SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

The Company’s Common Stock (the “Common Stock™) is the only type of security entitled to vote at the
Annual Meeting. On January 17, 2002, the record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the
Annual Meeting, there were 262,619,080 shares of Common Stock outstanding. Each stockholder of record on
January 17, 2002 is entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held by such stockholder on January 17,
2002. Shares of Common Stock may not be voted cumulatively. All votes will be tabulated by the inspector of
election appointed for the Annual Meeting, who will separately tabulate affirmative and negative votes,

abstentions and broker non-votes.

Quorum Required

The Company’s bylaws provide that the holders of a majority of the Common Stock issued and outstanding
and entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, present in person or represented by proxy, shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will
be counted as present for the purpose of determining the presence of a quorum.

Votes Required

Propoesal No. 1. Directors are elected by a plurality of the affirmative votes cast by those shares present in
person, or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. The two (2) nominees for director
receiving the highest number of affirmative votes will be elected. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be
counted toward a nominee’s total. Stockholders may not cumulate votes in the election of directors.

Proposal No. 2. Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent public
accountants for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2002 requires the affirmative vote of a majority of those
shares present in person, or represented by proxy, and cast either affirmatively or negatively at the Annual
Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as having been voted on the proposal.




Proxies

Whether or not you are able to attend the Annual Meeting, you are urged to complete and return the
enclosed proxy, which is solicited by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors™) and which
will be voted as you direct on your proxy when properly completed. In the event no directions are specified, such
proxies will be voted FOR the nominees for election to the Board of Directors (as set forth in Proposal No. 1),
FOR Proposal No. 2 and in the discretion of the proxy holders as to other matters that may properly come before
the Annual Meeting. You may also revoke or change your proxy at any time before the Annual Meeting. To do
this, send a written notice of revocation or another signed proxy with a later date to the Secretary of the Company
at the Company’s principal executive offices before the beginning of the Annual Meeting. You may also
automatically revoke your proxy by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person. All shares represented
by a valid proxy received prior to the Annual Meeting will be voted.

Solicitation of Proxies

The Company will bear the entire cost of solicitation, including the preparation, assembly, printing, and
mailing of this Proxy Statement, the proxy, and any additional soliciting material furnished to stockholders.
Copies of solicitation material will be furnished to brokerage houses, fiduciaries, and custodians holding shares
in their names that are beneficially owned by others so that they may forward this solicitation material to such
beneficial owners. In addition, the Company may reimburse such persons for their costs of forwarding the
solicitation material to such beneficial owners. The original solicitation of proxies by mail may be supplemented
by solicitation by telephone, telegram, or other means by directors, officers, employees or agents of the
Company. No -additional compensation will be paid to these individuals for any such services. Except as
described above, the Company does not presently intend to solicit proxies other than by mail.

PROPOSAL NO. 1
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Certificate of Incorporation of the Company provides for a classified board of directors, with the terms
of office of each class of directors ending in successive years. The Company currently has authorized
seven directors, with one class of directors consisting of three directors and two classes of directors each
consisting of two directors. Each class of directors serves a three year term. At the Annual Meeting, two directors
are to be elected to serve until the 2005 annual meeting of stockholders of the Company or until their successors
are elected and qualified. The directors who are being nominated for election to the Board of Directors (the
“Nominees”), their ages as of December 31, 2001, their positions and offices held with the Company and certain
biographical information are set forth below. The proxy holders intend to vote all proxies received by them in the
accompanying form FOR the Nominees listed below unless otherwise instructed. In the event any Nominee is
unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the Annual Meeting, the proxies will be voted for any
nominee who may be designated by the current Board of Directors to fill the vacancy. As of the date of this
Proxy Statement, the Board of Directors is not aware of any Nominee who is unable or will decline to serve as a
director. The two (2) Nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes of the shares entitled to vote at
the Annual Meeting will be elected directors of the Company. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be
counted toward a Nominee’s total. Proxies cannot be voted for more than two (2) individuals.

Year Term
Nominees ég Expires Positions and Offices Held with the Company
Robert M. Calderoni(1) ........... 42 2002 Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
Robert E. Knowling, Jr.(2)(3) ...... 46 2002 Director

(1) Member of Stock Option Committee.
(2) Member of Audit Committee.
(3) Member of Compensation Committee.




Robert M. Calderoni, age 42, has served as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and a
director since October 2001. From October 2001 to December 2001, Mr. Calderoni also served as the Company’s
Interim Chief Financial Officer. From January 2001 to October 2001, Mr. Calderoni served as the Company’s
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Calderoni was also an employee of the Company from
November 2000 to January 2001. From November 1997 to November 2000, he served as Chief Financial Officer
at Avery Dennison Corporation, a manufacturer of pressure-sensitive materials and office products. From June
1996 to November 1997, Mr. Calderoni served as Senior Vice President of Finance at Apple Computer. Prior to
that time, Mr. Calderoni held various positions with IBM, most recently as Vice President of Finance of IBM
Storage Systems Division. Mr. Calderoni holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Fordham University.

Robert E. Knowling, Jr., age 46, has served as a director of the Company since July 2000. Since February
2001, Mr. Knowling has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Internet Access Technologies, a
software development company. Mr. Knowling served as Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Covad Communications Group from July 1998 to October 2000. Prior to joining
Covad, he served as Executive Vice President of Operations and Technologies from October 1997 to July 1998
and as Vice President of Network Operations from March 1996 to September 1997 at US West Communications.
Prior to joining US West, Mr. Knowling served as Vice President of Network Operations for Ameritech
Corporation from November 1994 to March 1996. In addition to serving as a director of the Company, he is also
a member of the boards of directors of Hewlett-Packard Company, Broadmedia, Heidrick and Struggles
International, the YMCA of Metropolitan Chicago, and the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation International.
Mr. Knowling holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Wabash College, and a Master of Business Administration
from Northwestern University’s Kellogg Graduate School of Business.

Set forth below is information regarding each of the continuing directors of the Company, including his age
as of December 31, 2001, the period during which he has served as a director, and information furnished by him
as to principal occupations and directorships held by him in corporations whose shares are publicly registered.

Continuing Directors—Term Ending in 2003

Keith J. Krach, age 44, a co-founder of the Company, has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors
since the Company’s inception in September 1996. Mr. Krach also served as Interim Chief Executive Officer
from July 2001 to October 2001 and Chief Executive Officer from September 1996 to April 2001. From March
1996 to September 1996, Mr. Krach served as an Entrepreneur in Residence at Benchmark Capital. From
October 1988 to August 1995, Mr. Krach served as Chief Operating Officer of Rasna Corporation, a mechanical
computer—aided design automation software company. Prior to joining Rasna, Mr. Krach held various positions
with General Motors, including General Manager and Vice President of GMF Robotics. Mr. Krach holds a
Bachelor of Science degree from Purdue University and a Master of Business Administration from Harvard

Business School.

Robert C. Kagle, age 46, has served as a director of the Company since the Company’s inception in
September 1996. Mr. Kagle has been a Managing Member of the general partner of Benchmark Capital Partners
since May 1995. Mr. Kagle also has been a General Partner of Technology Venture Investors since January 1984.
Mr. Kagle currently serves as a director of eBay and E-Loan and is currently a Trustee of Kettering University,
formerly known as the General Motors Institute. Mr. Kagle holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Kettering
University and a Master of Business Administration from the Stanford Graduate School of Business.

Continuing Directors—Term Ending in 2004

Paul Hegarty, age 37, a co-founder of the Company, has served as a director of the Company since October
1998. Mr. Hegarty also served as Vice President of Engineering from the Company’s inception in September




1996 to August 1997, and as Chief Technical Officer from the Company’s inception to October 1998. From June
1996 to September 1996, Mr. Hegarty served as an Entrepreneur in Residence at Benchmark Capital. From
February 1988 to May 1996, Mr. Hegarty served in various engineering capacities at NeXT Software, including
Vice President of Engineering. Mr. Hegarty holds Bachelor of Science and Master of Science degrees from

Stanford University.

Board of Directors Meetings and Committees

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, the Board of Directors held 15 meetings and acted by
written consent in lieu of a meeting on two occasions. For the fiscal year, each of the current directors during the
term of their tenure attended or participated in at least 75% of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of
the Board of Directors and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board of Directors on
which each such director served. The Board of Directors has three standing committees: the Audit Committee;
the Compensation Committee; and the Stock Option Committee.

Audit Commirtee. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors (the “Audit Committee™) held five meetings and did not act by written consent in lieu of a meeting. The
Audit Committee reviews, acts on and reports to the Board of Directors with respect to various auditing and
accounting matters, including the selection of the Company’s accountants, the scope of the annual audits, fees to
be paid to the Company’s accountants, the performance of the Company’s accountants and the accounting
practices of the Company. The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Hegarty, Kagle and Knowling.

Compensation Committee. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee™) held one meeting and acted by written
consent in lieu of a meeting on six occasions. The Compensation Commiittee reviews the performance of the
executive officers of the Company, establishes compensation programs for the officers, and reviews the
compensation programs for other key employees, including salary and cash bonus levels and option grants under
the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. The members of the Compensation Committee are Messrs. Kagle and Knowling.

Stock Option Committee. The Stock Option Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Stock Option
Committee™) has the authority to administer the Company’s 1999 Equity Incentive Plan with respect to persons
other than directors and officers of the Company, and with respect to options to purchase not more than
150,000 shares. Options to purchase more than 150,000 shares must be approved by the Compensation
Committee. The Stock Option Committee acted by written consent in lieu of a meeting on 23 occasions to
authorize grants of stock options in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001. The sole member of the Stock

Option Committee is Mr. Calderoni.

Director Compensation

Except for grants of stock options, directors of the Company do not receive compensation for services
provided as a director. The Company also does not pay compensation for committee participation or special

assignments.

Non-employee directors are eligible for option grants pursuant to the provisions of the 1999 Directors’
Stock Option Plan. Under the 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended, each individual who first becomes
a non-employee director after the date of the Company’s initial public offering will be granted an option to
purchase 25,000 shares on the date such individual joins the Board of Directors, provided such individual has not
been in the prior employ of the Company. In addition, at each annual meeting, each individual who will continue
serving as a director thereafter will receive an additional option grant to purchase 10,000 shares of Common
Stock, whether or not such individual has been in the prior employ of the Company. The option price for each
option grant under the 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan will be equal to the fair market value per share of
Common Stock on the automatic grant date. Each initial grant will become exercisable for 50% of the shares at
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the automatic grant date and. the remaining 50% of the shares after 12 months of service on the Company’s Board
of Directors. The initial grants become exercisable for all shares if the Company is subject to a change in control.
Each annual option grant is fully exercisable on the grant date. Pursuant to the 1999 Directors’ Stock Option
Plan, each of Messrs. Hegarty, Kagle and Knowling were granted options to purchase 10,000 shares of Common
Stock on February 26, 2001 and will be granted options to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock on the date
of the Annual Meeting.

Directors are eligible to-receive options and be issued shares of Common Stock directly under the
Company’s 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. Directors who are also employees of the Company are eligible to
participate in the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (unless such employee owns 5% or more of the
Company’s outstanding shares), and directors who are also executive officers of the Company are eligible to
participate in the 2001 Executive Bonus Program. On October 4, 2001, Mr. Knowling was granted a fully vested
option to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan at an exercise price of

$2.00 per share.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE NOMINEES LISTED HEREIN.

: PROPOSAL NO. 2
RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

The Company is asking the stockholders to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company’s
independent public accountants for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2002. The affirmative vote of the
holders of a majority of shares present in person, or represented by proxy, and voting at the Annual Meeting will
be required.to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as

having been voted on the proposal.

In the event the stockholders fail to ratify the appointment, the Board of Directors will reconsider its
selection. Even if the appointment is ratified, the Board of Directors, in its discretion, may direct the appointment
of a different independent accounting firm at any time during the fiscal year if the Board of Directors feels that
such a change would be in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders.

KPMG LLP has audited the Company’s financial statements since 1997. Its representatives are expected to
be present at the Annual Meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and will

be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Audit Fees

In the past fiscal year, $350,000 in aggregate fees were billed by KPMG LLP for professional services
rendered for the audit of the registrant’s annual financial statements for the most recent fiscal year and the
reviews of the financial statements included in the registrant’s Forms 10-Q.

Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees
In the past fiscal year, there were no fees billed by KPMG LLP for professional services related to financial
information systems design and implementation.

All Other Fees

In the past fiscal year, $2,139,000 in fees were billed by KPMG for professional services unrelated to those
services captioned above under “Audit Fees” and “Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation
Fees.” The services rendered consisted primarily of tax services, Webtrust certification services, and various
accounting assistance services on matters including filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and

mergers and acquisitions.




The Audit Committee received confirmations from management with respect to internal audit and other
non-audit services provided by the auditors, and considered whether the provision of such non-audit services by
the independent auditors to the Company is compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF THE
SELECTION OF KPMG LLP TO SERVE AS THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT PUBLIC
ACCOUNTANTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2002.

STOCK OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2001, certain information with respect to shares
beneficially owned by (i) each person who is known by the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than
five percent (5%) of the Company’s outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) each of the Company’s directors
and the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table below and (iii) all current directors and

executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Under this rule, certain shares may be deemed to be beneficially
owned by more than one person (if, for example, persons share the power to vote or the power to dispose of the
shares). In addition, shares are deemed to be beneficially owned by a person if the person has the right to acquire
shares (for example, upon exercise of an option or warrant) within sixty (60) days of the date as of which the
information is provided. In computing the percentage ownership of any person, the number of shares is deemed
to include the number of shares beneficially owned by such person (and only such person) by reason of such
acquisition rights. As a result, the percentage of outstanding shares of any person as shown in the following table
does not necessarily reflect the person’s actual voting power at any particular date.

To our knowledge, except as indicated in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to applicable community
property laws, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of

Common Stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

Shares Beneficially Owned
as of December 31, 2001(1)

Number of  Percentage

Beneficial Owner**(2) Shares of Class
Keith J. Krach(3) ..ot e e e e e et e e 17,078,664 6.5%
Paul He@arty(4) ... ..ottt 2,230,757 *
Robert C.Kagle(5) . ..ot e 1,098,572 *
Robert E. Knowling, Jr.(6) . ... ..ot 85,000 *
Robert M. Calderoni(7) . ..ottt et e e e e 2,063,170 *
Eileen J. McPartland(8) .. .. .ottt e 917,223 *
Michael SchImitt() . ..ot e e e 485,416 *
James Steele(10) . ..o ot e e 503,646 *
All current directors and executive officers as a group (9 persons)(11) .............. 24,462,448 9.2%

*  Less than 1% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.
*#%  These beneficial owners can be reached at Ariba, Inc., 807 11% Avenue, Sunnyvale, California 94089.
(1) The number of shares of Common Stock deemed outstanding includes shares issuable pursuant to stock
options that may be exercised within 60 days after December 31, 2001.

(2) As of October 26, 2001, after transactions relating to his severance agreement, Lawrence A. Mueller
beneficially owned 2,000,615 shares of Common Stock. The Company is unable to determine the number
of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Mr. Mueller as of December 31, 2001.
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(3) Includes 307,500 shares held by The Krach Family Foundation.

(4) Includes options exercisable for 81,667 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31, 2001.
(5) Includes options exercisable for 20,000 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31, 2001.
(6) Includes options exercisable for 85,000 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31, 2001.

(7) Includes options exercisable for 2,062,500 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31,
2001.

(8) Includes options exercisable for 533,890 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31, 2001.
Also includes an aggregate of 383,333 shares subject to a repurchase right in favor of the Company, as of
December 31, 2001, upon cessation of Ms. McPartland’s service to the Company.

(9) Includes options exercisable for 385,416 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31, 2001.
Also includes an aggregate of 100,000 shares subject to a repurchase right in favor of the Company, as of
December 31, 2001, upon cessation of Mr. Schmitt’s service to the Company.

(10) Includes options exercisable for 403,646 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of December 31, 2001.
Also includes an aggregate of 100,000 shares subject to a repurchase right in favor of the Company, as of
December 31, 2001, upon cessation of Mr. Steele’s service to the Company.

(11) Includes options exercisable for an aggregate of 3,572,119 shares of Common Stock within 60 days of
December 31, 2001. Also includes an aggregate of 583,333 shares subject to a repurchase right in favor of
the Company, as of December 31, 2001.




COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

The members of the Board of Directors, the executive officers of the Company and persons who hold more
than 10% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock are subject to the reporting requirements of
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act (“Section 16(a)”), which require them to file reports with respect to their
ownership of Common Stock and their transactions in Common Stock. Based upon (i) the copies of Section 16(a)
reports that the Company received from such persons for their fiscal year 2001 transactions in the Common
Stock and their Common Stock holdings and (ii) the written representations received from one or more of such
persons that no annual Form 5 reports were required to be filed by them for the fiscal year 2001, the Company
believes that all reporting requirements under Section 16(a) for such fiscal year were met in a timely manner by
its executive officers, members of the its Board of Directors and greater than ten-percent stockholders.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth the compensation earned by each individual who
served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer during fiscal year 2001 and the four other most highly
compensated executive officers who were serving as such as of September 30, 2001 (collectively, the “Named
Officers”), each of whose aggregate compensation for fiscal year 2001 exceeded $100,000 for services rendered
in all capacities to the Company and its subsidiaries for that fiscal year.

Summary Compensation Table

Long-Term Compensation

Awards
Fiscal __AAnnual Compensation Rt I?Ifsg:l‘;llisg All Other
Name and Principal Position Year Salary(1) Bonus Awards($)}(2) Options(#  Compensation
Keith J.Krach@3) .............. 2001 $200,000 $ 80,716(4) $ 0 0 $ 0
Chairman of the Board and 2000 200,000 52,808 0 0 0
Former President and Chief 1999 119,583 47,400 0 1,600,000 0
Executive Officer
Lawrence A. Mueller(5) ......... 2001 240,625 79,707 7,760,000 5,000,000 28,313(6)
Former Director, Chief 2000 229,167 155,971 0 1,400,000 0
Executive Officer, President 1999 0 0 0 2,000,000 0
and Chief Operating Officer
Robert M. Calderoni(7) ......... 2001 270,455 2,266,250 0 2,500,000 0
Director, President and Chief 2000 0 0 0 0 0
Executive Officer, Former 1999 0 0 0 0 0
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Eileen J. McPartland ........... 2001 243,750 147,388 2,995,750 600,000 0
Executive Vice President 2000 164,131 36,696 0 211,386 0
1999 0 0 0 0 0
Michael Schmitt(8) ............. 2001 165,972 93,089 481,250 875,000 0
Executive Vice President 2000 0 0 0 0 0
1999 0 0 0 0 0
James W. Steele(9) ............. 2001 210,227 2,108,750 481,250 875,000 0
Executive Vice President 2000 0 0 0 0 0
1999 0 0 0 0 0

(1) Salary includes amounts deferred under the Company’s 401(k) Plan.
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On September 30, 2001, Mr. Mueller held 1,000,000 restricted shares of Common Stock with a value of
$1,860,000, Ms. McPartland held 500,000 shares with a value of $930,000, Mr. Schmitt held 100,000 shares
with a value of $186,000, and Mr. Steele also held 100,000 shares with a value of $186,000. (The value of
restricted stock holdings is based on the closing price of Common Stock on the Nasdag Stock Market on
September 28, 2001, which was $1.86 per share.) No part of Mr. Mueller’s restricted stock grant vested
before it expired in October 2001. Ms. McPartland received a grant of 200,000 shares that vests in three
equal installments in May 2001, July 2002 and July 2003. She also received a separate grant of
300,000 shares. After the end of the fiscal year, Ms. McPartland’s 300,000 share grant and each of the
100,000 share grants of Messrs. Schmitt and Steele were exchanged for new shares of restricted stock on a
share-for-share basis. As a result, Ms. McPartland’s 300,000 share grant vests with respect to 50,000 shares
in December 2001, 50,000 shares in June 2002, 100,000 shares in June 2002 and 100,000 shares in June
2004, and the grants of Messrs. Schmitt and Steele vest with respect to 16,667 shares in February 2002,
16,667 shares in June 2002, 33,333 shares in June 2003 and 33,333 shares in June 2004. In addition, this
exchange had the effect of removing vesting requirements based on performance and/or minimum price,
with the result that the restricted shares vest solely on the basis of time of service. The holders of all shares
of restricted stock have the same dividend rights as the holders of other shares of Common Stock.

Mr. Krach resigned as Chief Executive Officer in April 2001 and served as Interim Chief Executive Officer
from July 2001 to October 2001.

Includes $7,200 paid to Mr. Krach for President’s Club achievement.

Mr. Mueller ceased serving as Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Operating Officer in July 2001.

Includes payments to Mr. Mueller in the amount of $28,313 for Flexible Time Off payout.
Mr. Calderoni was elected President and Chief Executive Officer in October 2001.
Mr. Schmitt was elected as Executive Vice President in June 2001.

Mr. Steele was elected as Executive Vice President in June 2001.

The following table contains information concerning the stock option grants made to each of the Named

Officers for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001. No stock appreciation rights were granted during such year.

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Individual Grants(1) . .

Number of ~ % of Total Assmed Anmual Rates of Stock

Underlying Granted to Exercise Price Appr%?i::?;) for Option

Options Employees  Price Per  Expiration
Name Granted in 2001(2) Share Date 5% 10%

KeithJ. Krach ................. 0 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Lawrence A. Mueller ........... 5,000,000 21.7% $ 4.8125 4/3/11 $15,132,777 $38,349,428
Robert M. Calderoni(4) ......... 2,500,000 10.9 48125  4/3/11 7,566,389 19,174,714
Eileen J. McPartland(5) ......... 100,000 0.4 29.0000  2/6/11 1,823,794 4,621,853
500,000 2.2 4.8125 4/3/11 1,513,278 3,834,943
Michael Schmitt(5) ............. 875,000 3.8 48125 4/3/11 2,648,236 6,711,150
James Steele(5) ................ 875,000 3.8 48125  4/3/11 2,648,236 6,711,150

(1) The exercise price for each option may be paid in cash, in shares of Common Stock valued at fair market

value on the exercise date or through a procedure involving a same-day sale of the purchased shares. The
Company may also finance the option exercise by loaning the optionee sufficient funds to pay the exercise
price for the purchased shares, together with any federal and state income tax liability incurred by the
optionee in connection with such exercise. The plan administrator has the discretionary authority to reprice
the options through the cancellation of those options and the grant of replacement options with an exercise
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price based on the fair market value of the option shares on the regrant date. The options have a maximum
term of 10 years measured from the option grant date, subject to earlier termination in the event of the
optionee’s cessation of service with the Company. The options listed in the table are exercisable as the
options vest, which is (i) 25% after one year of service from the grant date and 1/48% of the option per
month thereafter with respect to options granted to Messrs. Calderoni, Schmitt and Steele, (ii) 25% on the
grant date and 1/36% of the option per month thereafter with respect to the option granted to Mr. Mueller
and the 500,000 share option granted to Ms. McPartland and (iii) 1/48% of the option per month from the
vesting commencement date with respect to the 100,000 share option granted to Ms. McPartland. Under
each of the options, the option shares will vest upon an acquisition of the Company by merger or asset sale,
unless the acquiring company assumes the options. In addition, if a change in control occurs within
12 months after the optionee’s vesting start date, then the option will vest as to an additional number of
shares as if the optionee had been in service 12 additional months. If a change in control occurs more than
12 months after the optionee’s vesting start date, then the option will vest as to the lesser of: (i) 50% of the
then remaining unvested portion of the option; or (ii) the excess of 75% of the total number of shares
originally subject to the option over the number of shares that had already vested. Each option shall fully
vest if, within 12 months after a change in control, the optionee’s employment or service is terminated
without cause or the optionee resigns after he or she is subject to the following without his or her consent:
a material reduction in responsibility, a reduction in level of compensation or a relocation of place of

employment by more than 50 miles.
(2) Based on an aggregate of 23,034,662 options granted in the fiscal year.

(3) The 5% and 10% assumed annual rates of compounded stock price appreciation are mandated by rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission. There can be no assurance provided to any executive officer or any
other holder of the Company’s securities that the actual stock price appreciation over the 10-year option
term will be at the assumed 5% and 10% levels or at any other defined level. Unless the market price of the
Common Stock appreciates over the option term, no value will be realized from the option grants made to

the executive officers.

(4) On October 16, 2001, the Company granted Mr. Calderoni an option for 7,000,000 shares of Common Stock
at an exercise price of $3.00 per share.

(5) On October 4, 2001, the Company granted the individual an option for 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock
at an exercise price of $2.00 per share. o

The following table sets forth information concerning option exercises in fiscal year 2001 and option
holdings as of September 30, 2001 with respect to each of the Named Officers. No stock appreciation rights were

outstanding at the end of that year.

Aggregate Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

Npmher of . )
Shares  aue Realized Unexencised Options Inthe Money Options
Acquired on  at Exercise Less at September 30, 2001 at September 30, 2001(1)

Name Exercise Exercise Price)  Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
KeithJ.Krach ............ 0 n/a 0 0 n/a /a
Lawrence A. Mueller ....... 75,000 $7,370,625 0 0 n/a n/a
Robert M. Calderoni ....... 0 n/a 0 2,500,000 n/a $0
FEileen J. McPartland ....... 0 n/a 323,409 487,977 $0 0
Michael Schmitt ........... 0 n/a 0 875,000 n/a 0
James Steele .. ............ 0 n/a 0 875,000 n/a 0

(1) Based on the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock at September 28, 2001 ($1.86 per share)
less the exercise price payable for such shares.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The Certificate of Incorporation of the Company limits the liability of the Company’s directors for monetary
damages arising from a breach of their fiduciary duty as directors, except to the extent otherwise required by the
Delaware General Corporation Law. Such limitation of liability does not affect the availability of equitable
remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission.

The Company’s bylaws provide that the Company shall indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest
extent permitted by Delaware law, including in circumstances in which indemnification is otherwise
discretionary under Delaware law. The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its officers
and directors containing provisions that may require the Company, among other things, to indemnify such
officers and directors against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or
officers and to advance their expenses incurred as a result of any proceeding against them as to which they could
be indemnified.

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS, TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND
CHANGE IN CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS

The Compensation Committee, as administrator of the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, can provide for
accelerated vesting of the shares of Common Stock subject to outstanding options held by any executive officer
or director of the Company in connection with certain changes in control of the Company. The accelerated
vesting may be conditioned on the termination of the individual’s employment following the change in control
event. Except for Mr. Calderoni, none of the Company’s executive officers have employment agreements with
the Company, and they may resign and their employment may be terminated at any time.

The Company has entered into an agreement with Robert M. Calderoni, its President and Chief Executive
Officer, under which he is entitled to receive annual cash bonuses from the Company during the years 2001
through 2004. The amount of each bonus will be calculated to make Mr. Calderoni whole for the income taxes
that he will incur as the result of the forgiveness of certain indebtedness to a third party. The aggregate amount of
such indebtedness is $4,000,000, and it is expected that the amount forgiven each year will be $1,000,000 plus
accrued interest conditioned upon his continued employment with the Company. The entire amount of the
indebtedness will be forgiven if the Company is subject to a change in control, if Mr. Calderoni’s employment is
terminated by the Company without cause, if his employment terminates because of his death or disability or if
he resigns after the Company, without his consent, has materially reduced his responsibility, has reduced his base
salary or target bonus or has relocated his place of employment by more than 25 miles. If the forgiveness of
indebtedness is accelerated, the payment of the Company’s bonuses will be accelerated as well. The Company
has also entered into a severance agreement with Mr. Calderoni that provides for a continuation of his cash
compensation (base salary plus most recent bonus) for 12 months if the Company terminates his employment for
a reason other than cause or disability or if, within 12 months after the Company is subject to a change in control,
he resigns because the Company, without his consent, has materially reduced his responsibility, has reduced his
compensation or has relocated his place of employment by more than 50 miles. In addition, the severance
agreement provides that Mr. Calderoni receives an additional 12 months of service credit for purposes of
determining the vested portion of his options and restricted shares if the Company terminates his employment for
a reason other than cause or disability. Any benefits under the severance agreement are contingent on
Mr. Calderoni’s executing a general release of all claims and complying with certain restrictive covenants.

The Company has entered into an agreement with Lawrence A. Mueller, its former President, Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer, in October 2001 relating to the termination of his employment
with the Company. The agreement provides that Mr. Mueller will (i) receive severance benefits consisting of a
lump sum cash payment of $2,005,575, payment of COBRA premiums for a period ending not later than
February 1, 2003 and 2,000,000 fully vested shares of Common Stock, (ii) receive reimbursement of past
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business expenses and other payments of at least $163,380, (iii) cancel outstanding options to purchase
8,400,000 shares of Common Stock at various exercise prices and (iv) acknowledge that a prior restricted stock
grant for 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock will never vest. The agreement also contains certain restrictive
covenants, mutual releases and other customary terms and conditions.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) has the authority to establish the level of base salary
payable to the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) and the other executive officers of the Company and to
administer the Company’s 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan. In addition, the
Committee has the responsibility for approving the individual bonus programs to be in effect for the CEO and the
other executive officers. The Committee is comprised of non-employee directors and acts periodically to evaluate
the effectiveness of the compensation program in linking Company performance and executive pay. Additionally,
the Committee or the Board of Directors is routinely consulted to approve the compensation package of a newly
hired executive or of an executive whose scope of responsibility has changed significantly.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, the process utilized by the Committee in determining
executive officer compensation levels was based on the subjective judgment of the Committee members. Among
the factors considered by the Committee were the recommendations of the CEO with respect to the compensation
of the Company’s key executive officers. However, the Commlttee made the final compensation decisions

concerning such officers.

General Compensation Policy. The objective of the Company’s executive compensation program is to align
executive compensation with the Company’s long-term and short-term business objectives and performance,
Additionally, executive compensation is designed to enable the Company to attract, retain, and motivate qualified
executives who are able to contribute to the long-term success of the Company. The following specific strategies
are utilized to guide the Company’s executive compensation decisions:

* Risk and Reward. A significant portion of an executive’s compensation should be tied to his or her
performance and contributions to the success of the Company.

« Pay for Performance. If an executive performs above expectations, then the executive should be
rewarded with a higher level of compensation. Similarly, if performance is below expectations, then there
should be a lower level of compensation or there may be no variable compensation.

* Compensate Competitively. The Company’s compensation programs should be comparable to those of
other companies in similar industries and should be designed to attract and retain highly qualified and

experienced executive leadership.

During fiscal year 2001, the Company’s executive compensation program included these key elements:

» Base Salary. The Company establishes the base salaries of its executives based on competitive market
practices. Additionally, each executive’s base pay is considered relative to the total compensatlon
package, including cash incentives and equity-based incentives.

» Cash-Based Incentives. During fiscal year 2001, six executives of the Company participated in a cash
incentive program under which payment was based upon the achievement of goals pertaining to individual
performance, Company financial performance and customer satisfaction. Specifically, target incentives
were established for each executive at the beginning of each quarter based on Company financial
performance, individual non-financial business objectives, and customer satisfaction. The weight given to
each metric varied by quarter and by executive. During fiscal year 2001, the Company met certain of its
goals related to financial performance and/or customer satisfaction, and the executives generally met their
quarterly goals based on non-financial business objectives. As a result, the bonuses paid
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to the CEO and other executives were 55.7% of the aggregate target. Each year, the annual incentive plan
is reevaluated and new performance metrics are established, reflecting the Company’s business plan and

financial goals.

* Equity-Based Incentives. Stock options and restricted stock awards are designed to align the interests of
each executive with those of the stockholders. Each year, the Committee considers the grant of stock
option awards to executives. The Committee believes that stock options provide added incentive for
executives to influence the strategic direction of the Company and to create and grow value for
customers, stockholders and employees. Options typically are granted at fair market value and have
vesting periods of three years or more, contingent upon the executive’s continued employment with the
Company. The number of stock option shares that are granted to individual executives is based on
demonstrated performance, existing equity levels and other factors. In fiscal year 2001, the Committee
also considered and granted restricted stock awards to executive officers. These awards were designed to
provide equity incentives to retain executive officers in light of significant changes to the Company’s

business in fiscal year 2001.

CEO Compensation. The annual base salary for Mr. Krach, the Company’s CEQ at the beginning of fiscal
year 2001 and acting CEO at the end of fiscal year 2001, was $200,000. The annual base salary for Mr. Mueller,
the Company’s former CEO, was increased during fiscal year 2001 from $300,000 to $500,000 in connection
with his promotion to CEO. Mr. Mueller was also granted 1,000,000 restricted shares of Common Stock in April
2001 as part of restricted stock awards to executive officers of the Company. The remaining components of
Mr. Krach’s and Mr. Mueller’s fiscal year 2001 compensation were dependent upon the Company’s performance
as well as individual performance objectives and provided no dollar guarantees. The bonuses paid to Mr. Krach
and Mr. Mueller for the fiscal year were based on the same incentive plan as the other executives.

Limitation on Tax Deductions. Under the federal tax laws, a publicly held company may not claim a federal
income tax deduction for compensation paid to certain executive officers to the extent that the compensation
exceeds $1 million per officer in any year. To qualify for an exemption from the $1 million deduction limitation,
the stockholders were asked to approve a limitation under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan on the maximum
number of shares for which a participant may be granted stock options in any calendar year.

Because this limitation was adopted, any compensation deemed paid to an executive officer when he or she
exercises an option under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of
the option shares on the grant date should qualify as performance-based compensation that will not be subject to
the $1 million limitation. Since it is not expected that the cash compensation to be paid to the Company’s
executive officers for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2002, will exceed the $1 million limit per officer, the
Committee will defer any decision on whether to limit the dollar amount of all other compensation payable to

executive officers to $1 million.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors:

Robert C. Kagle
Robert E. Knowling, Jr.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The Compensation Committee was formed in April 1999, and the members of the Compensation Committee
are Messrs. Kagle and Knowling. Neither of these individuals was at any time during fiscal year 2001, or at any
other time, an officer or employee of the Company. No executive officer of the Company serves as a member of
the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving as
a member of the Company’s Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

In accordance with its written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee assists the
Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility for oversight of the quality and integrity of the accounting,
auditing and financial reporting practices of the Company. A copy of the charter is attached as Exhibit B to the
Company’s proxy statement for its 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Audit Committee recommends to
the Board of Directors, subject to stockholder approval, the selection of the Company’s independent accountants.

Management is responsible for the Company’s internal controls. The Company’s independent auditors are
responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and to issue a report thereon. The Audit Committee has
general oversight responsibility with respect to the Company’s financial reporting, and reviews the results and
scope of the audit and other services provided by the Company’s independent auditors.

In this context, the Audit Committee has met and held discussions with management and the Company’s
independent auditors. Management represented to the Audit Committee that the Company’s consolidated
financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and the
Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements with management and the
Company’s independent auditors. The Audit Committee discussed with the independent accountants matters
required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees).

The Company’s independent auditors provided to the Audit Committee the written disclosures and the letter
required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees),
and the Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditors’ their independence.

The members of the Audit Committee are not professionally engaged in the practice of auditing or
accounting and are not experts in the fields of accounting or auditing, including in respect of auditor
independence. Members of the Audit Committee rely without independent verification on the information
provided to them and on the representations made by management and the independent accountants.
Accordingly, the Audit Committee’s oversight does not provide an independent basis to determine that
management has maintained appropriate accounting and financial reporting principles or appropriate internal
control and procedures designed to assure compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and
regulations. Furthermore, the Audit Committee’s considerations and discussions referred to above do not assure
that the audit of the Company’s financial statements has been carried out in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards, that the financial statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles or that the Company’s auditors are in fact “independent”.

Based on the Audit Committee’s discussion with management and the independent auditors and the Audit
Committee’s review of the representations of management and the report of the independent auditors to the Audit
Committee, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors of the Company, and the Board has
approved, that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors also have recommended, subject to stockholder approval, the selection of

KPMG LLP, as the Company’s independent auditors.

Each of the members of the Audit Committee is independent as defined under the listing standards of the
Nasdaq Stock Market.

Submitted by the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors:

Paul Hegarty
Robert C. Kagle
Robert E. Knowling, Ir.

14




STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s Common
Stock between June 23, 1999 (the date the Common Stock commenced public trading) and September 30, 2001,
with the cumulative total return of (i) the Morgan Stanley High Tech Index (the “MSH Index”) and (ii) the
Standard and Poor’s 500 Index (the “S&P Index”), over the same period. This graph assumes the investment of

$100.00 on June 23, 1999 in the Common Stock, the MSH Index and the S&P Index, and assumes the
reinvestment of dividends, if any.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. The stock price performance
shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the potential future
performance of the Common Stock. Information used in the graph was obtained from Bloomberg, a source
believed to be reliable, but the Company is not responsible for any errors or omissions in such information.
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Note: S&P performance does not include reinvested dividends.

The Company effected its initial public offering of Common Stock on June 23, 1999 at a price of $5.75 per
share (as adjusted to reflect the stock splits in 1999 and 2000). The graph above, however, commences with the
closing price of $22.50 per share (as adjusted to reflect these stock splits) on June 23, 1999—the date the
Company’s Common Stock commenced public trading.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of the Company’s previous or future filings under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that might incorporate this Proxy Statement or
future filings made by the Company under those statutes, the Compensation Committee Report and Stock
Performance Graph shall not be deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and shall not be

deemed incorporated by reference into any of those prior filings or into any future filings made by the Company
under those statutes.
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FORM 10-K

THE COMPANY WILL MAIL WITHOUT CHARGE, UPON WRITTEN REQUEST, A COPY OF
THE COMPANY’S FORM 10-K REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2001,
INCLUDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. REQUESTS SHOULD BE SENT TO ARIBA, INC.,
807 11t AVENUE, SUNNYVALE, CALIFORNIA 94089, ATTN: INVESTOR RELATIONS,

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2003 ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholders who intend to have a proposal considered for inclusion in the Company’s proxy materials for
presentation at the Company’s 2003 annual meeting of stockholders pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange
Act must submit the proposal to the Company at its offices at 807 11% Avenue, Sunnyvale, California 94089,
Attn: Craig M. Schmitz, not later than October 7, 2002. Stockholders who intend to present a proposal at such
meeting without inclusion of such proposal in the Company’s proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the
Exchange Act are required to provide advance notice of such proposal to the Company at the aforementioned
address not earlier than November 21, 2002 and not later than December 21,.2002. The Company reserves the
right to reject, rule out of order, or take other appropriate action with respect to any proposal that does not
comply with these and other applicable requirements, including conditions established by the Securities and

Exchange Commission.

OTHER MATTERS

The Board of Directors knows of no other matters to be presented for stockholder action at the Annual
Meeting. However, if other matters do properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or
postponements thereof, the Board of Directors intends that the persons named in the proxies will vote upon such

matters in accordance with their best judgment.

By Order Of The Board Of Directors

ok

Craig M. Schmitz
Secretary

Sunnyvale, California
February 4, 2002

WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE,
SIGN, DATE AND PROMPTLY RETURN THE ACCOMPANYING PROXY IN THE ENCLOSED
POSTAGE-PAID ENVELOPE. YOU MAY REVOKE YOUR PROXY AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO
THE ANNUAL MEETING. IF YOU DECIDE TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING AND WISH
TO CHANGE YOUR PROXY VOTE, YOU MAY DO SO AUTOMATICALLY BY VOTING IN

PERSON AT THE ANNUAL MEETING.

THANK YOU FOR YOUR ATTENTION TO THIS MATTER. YOUR PROMPT RESPONSE WILL
GREATLY FACILITATE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING.
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DETACH HERE ZARBZ

PROXY ARIBA, INC. PROXY.

807 11th Avenue, Sunnyvaie, CA 94089

This Proxy is Solicited on Behalf of the Board of Directors of Ariba, Inc.
for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held March 18, 2002

The undersigned holder of Common Stock, par value $.002, of Ariba, Inc. (the "Company") hereby appoints Robert M. Calderoni and Craig M. Schmitz, or
either of them, proxies for the undersigned, each with full power of substitution, to represent and to vote as specified in this Proxy all Common Stock of the
Company that the undersigned stockholder would be entitled to vote if personally present at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") to be
held on Monday, March 18, 2002 at 8.00 a.m. local time, at the San Mateo Marriolt, 1770 S. Amphlett Boulevard, San Mateo, California, and at any
adjournments or postponements of the Annual Meeting. The undersigned stockholder hereby revokes any proxy or proxies heretofore executed for such

matters.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner as directed herein by the undersigned stockholder. IF NO DIRECTION IS
MADE, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF THE DIRECTORS LISTED IN PROPOSAL NO. 1, FOR PROPOSAL 2, AND IN THE
DISCRETION OF THE PROXIES AS TO ANY OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING. The undersigned
stockholder may revoke this proxy at any time before it is voted by delivering to the Corporate Secretary of the Company either a written
revocation of the proxy or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date, or by appearing at the Annual Meeting and voting in person.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR"” THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS AND "FOR" PROPOSAL NO. 2.

PLEASE MARK, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THIS CARD PROMPTLY USING THE ENCLOSED RETURN ENVELOPE. If you receive more than
one proxy card, please sign and return ALL cards in the enclosed envelope.

(Do you have any questions for Ariba to address at the Annual Meeting?)

(if you have written in the above space, please mark the corresponding box on the reverse side of this card.)

SEE ';FS’éERSE (CONTINUED. AND TO BE SIGNED ON REVERSE SIDE) SEE gFS’EERSE




i ARIBA, INC.

C/O EQUISERVE
P.O. BOX 9398
BOSTON, MA 02205-9398

Vote by Telephone Vote by Internet
It's fast, convenient, and immediate! It's fast, convenient, and your vote is immediately
Call Toll-Free on a Touch-Tone Phone confirmed and posted.
1-877-PRX-VOTE (1-877-779-8683).
Follow these four easy steps: Follow these four easy steps:
1. Read the accompanying Proxy Statement and 1. Read the accompanying Proxy Statement and
Proxy Card. Proxy Card.
2. Call the toll-free number 2. Go to the Website
1-877-PRX-VOTE {1-877-779-8683). http://www.eproxyvote.com/arba
"_ 3. Enter your 14-digit Voter Control Number 3. Enter your 14-digit Voter Control Number
! located on your Proxy Card above your name. located on your Proxy Card above your name.
| 4. Follow the recorded instructions. 4. Follow the instructions provided.
Your vote is important! Your vote is important!
Call 1-877-PRX-VOTE anytime! Go to http://www.eproxyvote.com/arba anytime!

Do not return your Proxy Card if you are voting by Telephone or Internet

DETACH HERE ZARB21

P
1
H

Please mark
&Kl votes as in
! this example.

}
FOR  AGAINST ABSTAN

. 1. To elect the following directors to serve for a term ending upon the 2005 2. To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as the

. Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are elected and Company's independent accountants for the
i qualified: fiscal year ending September 30, 2002.
; Nominees: (1) Robert M. Calderoni and {2) Robert E. Knowling, Jr.
! FOR WITHHELD In their discretion, the proxies are authorized to vote upon such other
; WARKHERE  business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

IF YOU PLAN

TO ATTEND

THE MEETING

roR AbhRESs  MARK HERE IF YOU DO NOT WANT TO RECEIVE FURTHER

Sg:élgi ::x COMPANY REPORTS.

For all nominees except as noted above

; MARK HERE IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS FOR ARIBA TO
. ADDRESS AT THE ANNUAL MEETING (AND WRITE ON REVERSE).

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the accompanying Notice of Annual
Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement.

Please date and sign exactly as your name(s) is (are) shown on the share
certificate(s) to which the Proxy applies. When shares are held as joint-tenants,
both should sign. When signing as an executor, administrator, trustee, guardian,
attorney-in-fact or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. When signing as a
corporation, please sign in full corporate name by President or other authorized
officer. When signing as a partnership, please sign in partnership name by an
authorized person.

nature: Date: Signature: Date:




